GENOTOXICITY STUDIES IN SELECTED FINFISH AND SHELLFISH ALONG THE GOAN COAST

A thesis submitted to Goa University for the award of the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY In ZOOLOGY



Dedicated to my Parents

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the thesis entitled "GENOTOXICITY STUDIES IN SELECTED FINFISH AND SHELLFISH ALONG THE GOAN COAST" submitted by Mr. Avelyno Hubert D'Costa, for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Zoology, Goa University, is based on the original studies carried out by him under my supervision. This thesis or any part thereof has not been previously submitted for any other degree/diploma in any other universities or institutions in India or abroad.

Place:

.

Date:

Dr. S. K. Shyama (Research Guide)

DECLARATION

I, Avelyno Hubert D'Costa, hereby declare that the present thesis entitled "GENOTOXICITY STUDIES IN SELECTED FINFISH AND SHELLFISH ALONG THE GOAN COAST" is my original contribution and the same work has not submitted to any other universities or tertiary institutions in India and abroad for any degree/diploma. The literature related to the problem investigated has been cited. The work was undertaken at the Department of Zoology, Faculty of Life Sciences and Environment, Goa University.

Place: GU Campus Date: 26/11/18

Avelyno Hubert D'Costa (Research Scholar)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I can never thank enough, but this acknowledgement is my best and heartfelt effort to do so.

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my guide Prof. Shyama S.K. who has patiently supported me during my Ph.D. tenure. His valuable advice, suggestions and knowledge in the field of genotoxicology has helped me tremendously to raise important questions and seek out the best answers.

I take this opportunity to sincerely thank the Head, Department of Zoology for permitting me to use the necessary facilities in the department.

I would also like to thank the Dean, Faculty of Life Science and Environment for his valuable suggestions and permitting the continuation of my doctoral work.

I express my gratitude to my VC's nominee, Prof. I. K. Pai, Department of Zoology for his suggestions, encouragement and support. I also extend my gratitude to and Prof. R. Roy, Prof. A.B. Shanbhag and Dr. (Mrs.) Shanti Desai, Department of Zoology for their motivation and encouragment.

I wish to acknowledge the Ministry of Earth Sciences (MoES), Government of India for the grants provided for the project under which I worked. I also wish to gratefully acknowledge UGC Maulana Azad National Fellowship for minority students (MANF) for providing me the fellowship for pursuing my Ph.D.

I want to specially thank Dr. Dattesh Desai, Senior Scientist, National Institute of Oceanography (NIO) for providing the equipment necessary for collection of samples in the field and also for his valuable suggestions.

I express my gratitude to Dr. S. Garg, Department of Microbiology for his assistance in analysing the metal content in the samples using Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy.

I also express my sincere thanks to the Head, Department of Microbiology for permitting me to use the facilities in the Department of Microbiology.

I wish to express my gratitude to Prof. M. K. Janarthanam who has always given constructive suggestions and encouragement throughout the duration of my Ph.D.

I wish to give special thanks to Dr. S.R. Ganihar who has always been a source of support and encouragement to me. His valuable suggestions and guidance have helped me tremendously especially while writing the articles for this thesis.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to Dr. Praveen Kumar M.K., who has not only been my colleague, but also a mentor to me. This thesis would have not been completed without his constant help and guidance.

I would like to thank Dr. (Mrs.) Shamila Monteiro, ex-Director of Fisheries, Government of Goa for granting the necessary permits for field sampling using automated trawlers.

I express my sincere thanks to Mr. Florence Marques, proprietor of Jesus King Fisheries for allowing me to hire his trawler for field sampling as and when I required it.

I would like to thank all my lab colleagues of the Department of Zoology, Dr. Samit Kadam, Dr. Shivraj Bhoite, Mr. Bipin Phal Desai, Dr. Shantal Kamat, Dr. Shamshad Shaikh, Miss Roshini Naik, Dr. Swaraj Kunal, Dr. Jacky Bhagat, Mr. Kiran Gaude, Mr. Babu Shashikant Mourya, Mr. Dipak, Mr. Mouvin, Miss Rajeshwari, Miss Megal and colleagues from other departments, Miss Samantha, Miss Preethi, Mr. Perantho, Mr. Kashif, Miss Jaya for their constant support and motivation throughout the duration of my Ph.D. tenure.

I would like to thank Mrs. Helen Chari, Mr. Divakar and Miss Priyanka for processing my files in a timely manner. I would like to thank Mr. Dashrath, Mr. Rama, Mr. Tanu, Mr. Satish, Mrs. Gulabi, Mr. Yogesh and all the other non-teaching staff of the Department of Zoology for their constant help and support that allowed me to smoothly conduct my research work.

I would also like to thank all of the students of M.Sc. Zoology for their support throughout the duration of my Ph.D. tenure.

I deeply thank my best friend Miss Swizzle Furtado, who has constantly supported and motivated me throughout my Ph.D. tenure.

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my parents, Mr. Aniceto Jose Costa and Mrs. Eretina Fatima Costa for supporting me in my decisions, for being a source of constant strength and support as well as their faith in me throughout the duration of my Ph.D. I also wish to express my gratitude to my brother Mr. Nevada D'Costa and my sister Miss Moreska Costa for their constant support and help in checking, compiling and printing this thesis.

Avelyno Hubert D'costa

March, 2018

Abbreviations

%	Percentage
AChE	Acetylcholinesterase
CAT	Catalase
CI	Condition Index
Cd	Cadmium
Cu	Copper
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DW	Distilled water
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
Fe	Iron
gm	gram
h	Hours
>	Greater than
<	Less than
L	Litre
ml	Millilitre
μL	Microlitre
μg	Microgram
М	Monsoons
mA	Milliampere
MDA	Malondialdehyde
MN	Micronucleus
Mn	Manganese
Pb	Lead
SD	Standard deviation
ТРН	Total petroleum hydrocarbon
V	Volts

List of figures

- Fig. 1.1. Temperature of (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.2. pH of (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.3. Salinity of (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.4. Dissolved oxygen (DO) in (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.5. Phosphates in (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.6. Nitrates in (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.7. Concentration of TPH in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± S.D.) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.8. Concentration of Fe in in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.9. Concentration of Mn in in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.10. Concentration of Cu in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.11. Concentration of Cd in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± S.D.) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 1.12. Concentration of Pb in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.1. Mechanism of formation of micronuclei
- Fig. 2.2. Overview of the comet assay

- **Fig. 2.3.** Micronuclei (%) in cells of finfish (Mean ± SD) collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- **Fig. 2.4.** Micronuclei (%) in cells of shellfish (Mean ± SD) collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- **Fig. 2.5.** Tail DNA (%) in cells of finfishes (Mean ± SD) collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- **Fig. 2.6.** Tail DNA (%) in cells of shellfish (Mean ± SD) collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.7. Correlation analysis between MN (%) and Tail DNA (%) of pooled data from finfish and shellfish
- Fig. 2.8. TPH (Mean \pm SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.9. TPH (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.10. TPH (Mean ± SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.11. TPH (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.12. Fe (Mean ± SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- **Fig. 2.13.** Fe (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.14. Fe (Mean \pm SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- **Fig. 2.15.** Mn (Mean ± SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.16. Mn (Mean \pm SD) in gill tissue of finfishes from various sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.17. Mn (Mean \pm SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.18. Cu (Mean \pm SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- **Fig. 2.19.** Cu (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

- Fig. 2.20. Cu (Mean \pm SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- **Fig. 2.21.** Cd (Mean ± SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- **Fig. 2.22.** Cd (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.23. Cd (Mean \pm SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.24. Pb (Mean \pm SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- **Fig. 2.25.** Pb (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.26. Pb (Mean \pm SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.27. Fe (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.28. Mn (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.29. Cu (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.30. Cd (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.31. Pb (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014
- Fig. 2.32. Principle Component Analysis (PCA) to reduce the number of variables that maybe inter-correlated
- Fig. 2.33. Principle Component Analysis (PCA) depicting the components that are intercorrelated
- Fig. 3.1. MN in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons.
- Fig. 3.2. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons.
- Fig. 3.3. MN (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of iron oxide

- Fig. 3.4. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons
- Fig. 3.5. MN (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of manganese dioxide
- Fig. 3.6. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of manganese dioxide
- Fig. 3.7. MN (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of copper chloride
- Fig. 3.8. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of copper chloride
- Fig. 3.9. MN (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of cadmium chloride
- Fig. 3.10. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of cadmium chloride
- Fig. 3.11. MN (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of lead acetate
- Fig. 3.12. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of lead acetate
- Fig. 3.13. MN (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of pollutant mixture
- Fig. 3.14. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of *M. casta* (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of pollutant mixture
- Fig. 4.1. Catalase (CAT) activity in the soft tissues of *M. casta* (Mean ± SD) exposed to various concentrations of (A) TPH and (B) iron oxide
- Fig. 4.1. Catalase (CAT) activity in the soft tissues of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of (C) manganese dioxide and (D) copper chloride
- Fig. 4.1. Catalase (CAT) activity in the soft tissues of *M. casta* (Mean ± SD) exposed to various concentrations of (E) cadmium chloride (F) lead acetate and (G) pollutant mixture
- **Fig. 4.2.** Malondialdehyde (MDA) in the soft tissues of *M. casta* (Mean ± SD) exposed to various concentration of (A) TPH and (B) iron oxide
- Fig. 4.2. Malondialdehyde (MDA) in the soft tissues of *M. casta* exposed to various concentration of (C) manganese dioxide and (D) copper chloride

- Fig. 4.2. Malondialdehyde (MDA) in the soft tissues of *M. casta* (Mean ± SD) exposed to various concentration of (E) cadmium chloride (F) lead acetate and (G) pollutant mixture
- Fig. 4.3. Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in the soft tissues of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of (A) TPH and (B) iron oxide
- Fig. 4.3. Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in the soft tissues of *M. casta* (Mean ± SD) exposed to various concentrations of (C) manganese dioxide and (D) copper chloride
- Fig. 4.3. Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in the soft tissues of *M. casta* (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of (E) cadmium chloride (F) lead acetate and (G) pollutant mixture
- Fig. 4.4. Condition index (CI) of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of (A) TPH and (B) iron oxide
- Fig. 4.4. Condition index (CI) of *M. casta* (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of (C) manganese dioxide and (D) copper chloride
- Fig. 4.4. Condition index (CI) of *M. casta* (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of (E) cadmium chloride (F) lead acetate and (G) pollutant mixture

List of tables

- Table 2.1. Correlation coefficients (Pearson's) between DNA damage and levels of heavy metals in the tissues of finfish and shellfish
- Table 2.2. Multiple regression model for predicting the DNA damage using factor scores obtained from principal components analysis.
- Table 2.3. Correlation matrix between the association of DNA damage and physicochemical parameters
- Table 2.4. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to assess the influence of sites and seasons on MN and % tail DNA
- Table 3.1. Concentration of pollutants in the mixture exposed to M. casta
- **Table 4.1.** Correlation matrix between the associations of the biomarker responses in M.casta exposed to (A) TPHs and (B) iron oxide
- Table 4.1. Correlation matrix between the associations of the biomarker responses in M.casta exposed to (C) manganese dioxide and (D) copper chloride
- Table 4.1. Correlation matrix between the associations of the biomarker responses in M.casta exposed to (E) cadmium chloride and (F) lead acetate
- **Table 4.1.** Correlation matrix between the associations of the biomarker responses in M.casta exposed to (G) the pollutant mixture

List of Plates

- Plate 1.1. Sites selected for the present study along with their coordinates
- Plate 1.2. Trawler operation and fish collection
- Plate 1.3. A. Water collection by Niskin sampler and B. sediment collection by van Veen grab
- Plate 2.1. Finfish and shellfish selected for the present study
- Plate 2.2. Micronuclei in the blood cells of A. Johnius dussumieri and B. Arius arius
- Plate 2.3. Micronuclei in the hemocytes of A. Meretrix casta and B. Meretrix ovum
- Plate 2.4. Comet assay A. Undamaged cells and B. Cells with DNA damage C. Analysis of comets using CASP software
- Plate 3.1. *Meretrix casta* actively feeding in estuarine water under laboratory conditions
- Plate 3.2. MN in the gill cell of Meretrix casta

Table of Contents

	Page No.
Background / General Introduction	01

Chapter 1: Heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons as pollutants in the envir	onment
1.1. Introduction	06
1.1.1. Metal and petroleum hydrocarbon pollution in Goan coastal waters	08
1.2. Review of literature	09
1.3. Materials and Methods	 12
1.3.1. Study sites	12
1.3.2. Sampling seasons	13
1.3.3. Water and sediment collection	13
1.3.4. Quality assurance and quality control	14
1.3.5. Physico-chemical parameters	14
1.3.6. Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon analysis	15
1.3.7. Trace Metal analysis	15
1.3.8. Statistical analysis	16
1.4. Results	17
1.4.1. Physico-chemical parameters	17
1.4.2. Total petroleum hydrocarbons and trace metals	17
1.5. Discussion	31
1.6. Conclusion	34

Chapter 2: Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

2.1. Introduction	35
2.1.1. Fishes as bioindicators	36
2.1.2. Bivalves as bioindicators	37
2.1.3. Accumulation of metal and petroleum hydrocarbon	37
2.1.4. Genotoxicity tests	38
2.1.5. Animals selected for the present study	41
2.2. Review of literature	42
2.3. Materials and Methods	46
2.3.1. Study sites	46

2.3.2. Sampling seasons	46
2.3.3. Sample collection	46
2.3.4. Quality assurance and quality control	47
2.3.5. Micronucleus Test	47
2.3.6. Single Cell Gel Electrophoresis (Comet Assay)	48
2.3.7. Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon (TPH) analysis	49
2.3.8. Trace metal analysis	49
2.3.9. Statistical analyses	49
2.4. Results	50
2.4.1. Micronucleus test	50
2.4.2. Comet assay	51
2.4.3. Total petroleum hydrocarbons	52
2.4.4. Trace metals	52
2.4.5. Principal components analysis	53
2.4.6. Multiple regression analysis	54
2.5. Discussion	89
2.5.1. Micronucleus test	89
2.5.2. Comet assay	91
2.5.3. Trace metals and TPHs	93
2.6. Conclusion	96

Chapter 3: Laboratory confirmation of genotoxic potential of the pollutants

3.1. Introduction	97
3.2. Review of literature	99
3.3. Materials and Methods	102
3.3.1. Quality assurance and quality control	102
3.3.2. Maintenance of Meretrix casta	102
3.3.3. Treatment schedule	103
3.3.4. Cell viability	104
3.3.5. Micronucleus Test	104
3.3.6. Single Cell Gel Electrophoresis (Comet Assay)	105
3.4. Results	106
3.5. Discussion	123
3.6. Conclusion	126

4.1. Introduction	127
4.2. Review of literature	130
4.3. Materials and Methods	133
4.3.1. Quality assurance and quality control	133
4.3.2. Maintenance of Meretrix casta	133
4.3.3. Treatment schedule	133
4.3.4. Catalase assay	133
4.3.5. Acetylcholinesterase assay	134
4.3.6. Malondialdehyde assay	134
4.3.7. Condition index	134
4.3.8. Statistical analyses	135
4.4. Results	135
4.4.1. Catalase assay	135
4.4.2. Malondialdehyde assay	136
4.4.3. Acetylcholinesterase assay	136
4.4.4. Condition index	137
4.4.5. Correlation analyses	137
4.5. Discussion	155
4.6. Conclusion	157
Summary	158
Bibliography	161

Chapter 4: Biochemical and physiological tests as biomarkers of genotoxicity

Publications

Background /

General Introduction

Genetic toxicology is a branch of toxicology that deals with the studies on the genotoxic effects of substances, including the induction of mutation by chemical means. It examines the interaction of chemical and physical agents with genetic material, in relation to subsequent adverse effects, such as alterations in somatic cells (cancer) or alterations in germ cells (genetic disease in future generations). In other words, genetic toxicology is a branch of toxicology that identifies and analyses the action of agents with toxicity directed towards the hereditary components of living systems. It can be widely implemented for identifying the genotoxic agents found in the environment, whose presence may alter the integrity of the gene pool of wide range of organisms including human beings. It can also be used for the detection and mechanistic understanding of the action of carcinogenic agents.

The aquatic environment plays a vital role in the functioning of our ecosystem and is intimately related with human health. With increasing demands for industrial development, the problem of disposal of anthropogenic chemicals, wastes and by-products in the aquatic environment has become a major cause for concern. A majority of these chemical contaminants contain potential genotoxic and / or carcinogenic substances. These substances, called genotoxins, can produce alterations in nucleic acids at sub-toxic exposure levels, resulting in the modified DNA sequences such as point mutations or DNA inactivation. The DNA damage induced as a result of this exposure can cause a variety of effects such as mutagenesis, clastogenesis, malignancies, altered protein expression, reduced fertility, reduced growth, abnormal development and reduced survival of organisms. Further, genotoxicity not only reduces the 'fitness' (i.e. growth, fertility and fecundity) in wild aquatic populations, but may also pose a risk to human health via the food chain.

To understand the biological state or condition of the organism, a measurable indicator should be used which is referred to as a biomarker. Biomarkers used in aquatic environments are relatively simple tests that are thus employed to identify and evaluate contaminants, their toxicity and bioavailability to organisms. These biomarkers serve as early warnings for the presence of toxic xenobiotics, which then make it possible to implement corrective measures before organisms, their communities or even the ecosystem suffers irreversible damage.

Marine and estuarine pollution includes a range of threats including from land-based sources, oil spills, untreated sewage, heavy siltation, eutrophication (nutrient enrichment), invasive species, persistent organic pollutants (POP's), heavy metals from mine tailings and other sources, acidification, radioactive substances, marine litter and the destruction of coastal and marine habitats by overfishing. Many of these pollutants accumulate at the depths, where they are consumed by marine organisms and introduced into the global food chain.

Goa, located on the west coast of India, faces the Arabian sea and is situated between the states of Maharashtra in the north and Karnataka in the south. Being the smallest state in India in terms of size, it has a coastline length of 105 km and lies in an area known as Konkan belt of India. Besides the open access to the coast on the western side, Goa is also bound by the prominent hills of the Western Ghats on the east called the Sahyadris. This being the catchment area of the monsoons which occur during the months from June to September in Goa is covered with dense forests. This plant cover helps in the percolation of rainwater and increase the water table in Goa by preventing the runoff of rainwater. Runoff of rainwater is not only responsible for the decreased water table, but also results in the decreasing fertility of the land by taking fertile black soil of the land surface with it. Further, forests conserve the rain water and are prime sources of the major Goan rivers, the lifeline of

the land. The coastal region can be divided into two interrelated ecozones - the coastal region proper and the flood plains / alluvial flats. These latter ones are formed by the rivers by the deposit of eroded material from the Sahyadris along their banks. These are areas of rich cultivation with rural settlements of agricultural and fishing populations. All coastal fisheries on the west coast depend on the nutrient discharge into the coastal seas and the subsequent marine productivity. A majority of the iron and ferromanganese ores that are mined in Goa are transported through the riverine systems in barges. In addition these rivers provide a cheap mode of transportation to the people, apart from being the only source of fish during monsoon when fishing activities in the open sea are suspended due to their breeding season and also due to rough weather. The Mandovi and Zuari estuaries are the main waterways of Goa and are of utmost importance for the economy of the territory as they flow through mining areas opening into the Arabian Sea. The two river mouths are separated by a promontory between them at Cabo. Developmental activities are more along these two river basins as compared to the rest of the territory. A number of anthropogenic activities take place along the coasts, rivers and backwaters in Goa including infrastructure and building construction, land reclamation, barge building yards, beach shacks, water sports, river cruises, casinos, sewage disposal, farming and pisciculture and ore transport by barges.

The state has the most extensive mining ratio in the country. Ongoing operation of more than 800 mines, many of which are located just few meters away from the river banks, are causing severe pollution by their mining rejects. Every year the heavy monsoon run off carries the overflow and washes off from the huge quantum of mining rejects into the rivers. These mining rejects along with slime and pumped out turbid water from deep mining pits are then transported further downstream by the rivers. As a result, the Mandovi and Zuari are also

3

heavily polluted with mining rejects. While Zuari has 10 operating mines in its catchment, the Mandovi has 27 mines depositing 70,000 cubic tonnes of iron particulates every year in the Mandovi River. As the iron ore is transported by barges through the rivers to the Mormugao harbor at Vasco, oil and grease along with mineral ore, pollute adversely these rivers. Ammonium Nitrate used as the explosive for mining, adds nitrates to the river water causing eutrophication. Washing and cleaning of mining trucks done in the rivers and streams also intensifies water pollution. All these factors introduce suspended as well as dissolved particles, petroleum hydrocarbons, industrial effluents and domestic sewage into the estuaries, creating additional stress to the ecosystem.

Goa's coastline also lies off the oil tanker route from the Gulf ports to the Far east and Japan. Every year, millions of tonnes of oil and its products are transported along this route. Ships sailing along this route discharge their oily ballasts and bilge washings. After evaporations of oil and photooxidation, the heavier fractions gradually form into tar balls. Driven by winds and currents, these tar balls are deposited on the beaches. Periodic tar balls and raw oil pollution is observed on all the major beaches in Goa, mainly during the onset of the monsoon season (tar balls) and sometimes throughout the year (raw oil cakes). The consequence of such pollution in the rivers eventually results in the deterioration of health and ultimately loss of riverine and estuarine fauna. Further, the potential of estuarine and marine fauna to accumulate such pollutants may enhance the adverse effects of these compounds on their genome and induce drastic changes in their physiological and biochemical characters. Seafood is a major source of income for the coastal state of Goa and is the staple diet of the locals. Hence, effects in the aquatic fauna could directly or indirectly affect humans as well.

4

The present study therefore aims to evaluate the genotoxicity in finfish and shellfish inhabiting areas of anthropogenic stress along the coast of Goa. Although a number of reports are available on the genotoxicity studies in various finfish and shellfish, studies along the Goan coast are limited. Additionally, very limited literature is available on the genotoxicity of heavy metals and total petroleum hydrocarbons from Goa. To fill in this lacuna of information, the following objectives were formulated.

Objectives of the study

- To know the extent of genetic damage present (prevailing) in the marine organisms such as finfish and shellfish along the Goan coast and to identify the probable mutagenic pollutants from the tissues.
- > To identify the mutagenic pollutants present along the Goan coasts.
- > To confirm their genotoxicity using laboratory tests on experimental animals.
- To develop a protocol to use biomarkers to provide early warnings of deleterious / genotoxic effects of pollution on the marine ecosystem.

Based on these objectives, the research work in this thesis is presented in four chapters, as follows:

Chapter 1: Heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons as pollutants in the environment

Chapter 2: Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

Chapter 3: Laboratory confirmation of genotoxic potential of the pollutants

Chapter 4: Biochemical and physiological tests as biomarkers of genotoxicity

Chapter 1:

Heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons as pollutants in the environment

1.1. Introduction

Marine pollution includes a wide range of threats of diverse origin including land-based sources, oil spills, untreated sewage, heavy siltation, eutrophication (nutrient enrichment), invasive species, persistent organic pollutants (POP's), heavy metals from mine tailings and other sources, acidification, radioactive substances, marine litter, overfishing and destruction of coastal and marine habitats. Many of these pollutants accumulate in the bottom waters and sediment, where they are consumed by marine organisms and introduced into the global food chain.

Heavy metals occur naturally in the aquatic environment mostly at very low concentrations. The increased concentrations of these pollutants is attributed to various anthropogenic activities such as mining, offshore oil exploration, discharge of industrial effluents such as pesticides, fertilizers, medical waste as well as agricultural runoffs. The toxicity of a metal depends on its nature and concentration in the environment. Some of the metals are essential for the survival of aquatic organisms at specific concentrations. Essential metals may also be toxic at very high concentrations whereas non-essential metals may not be toxic at low concentrations. The solubility of these metals in water depends on various factors such as pH, salinity, temperature and nature of other associated ions. Metals may also interact with suspended particles in the water and this may be one of the mechanisms of their concentration and distribution patterns. These metals ultimately get incorporated in the aquatic sediments, the concentrations of which usually exceed those in the water column by several folds of magnitude. These high concentrations can pose several implications to organisms inhabiting the bottom niche and benthic feeders.

Discharge of heavy metals into river or any marine environment can induce drastic changes in marine species diversity as well as the marine ecosystem, due to their toxicity and accumulative behavior (Bakan and Böke Özkoç, 2007; Bat *et al.*, 2009). Marine organisms such as fish can accumulate heavy metals to concentrations many times higher than present in water or sediment (Bat *et al.*, 2009; Boran and Altinok, 2010)

Petroleum refers to any hydrocarbon mixture that may be present as gases, liquids and condensates. The liquid phase is commonly referred to as crude oil. This portion is converted into commercial form by distillation which removes impurities and enables production of various fractions such as gasoline, kerosene and oil. Petroleum is the major source of energy powering the world economy. Most of this petroleum is used to generate energy primarily for transportation. However, it is also very important in the manufacture of petrochemicals used in the synthesis of other products such as synthetic rubber, plastics and detergents. There are several sources of petroleum hydrocarbon pollution. However, human activities such as oil transportation and spills, shipping, industrial, storm-water and domestic discharges are believed to have important influence on the presence of these compounds in the marine environment. Petroleum hydrocarbons, especially the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), are a widespread group of pollutants which may enter the environment by various processes such as incomplete combustion of organic matter of pyrolytic origin at higher temperatures, slow maturation of organic matter of petrogenic origin under geochemical gradient conditions and degradation of petroleum products and precursors. Most inputs of petroleum hydrocarbons are due to anthropogenic activity and are considered to be the major source of these compounds in the environment such as wastes from urbanized and

industrialized areas, offshore petroleum hydrocarbon production or petroleum transportation. Further, PAHs are highly toxic to marine organisms even at very low concentrations.

1.1.1. Metal and petroleum hydrocarbon pollution in Goan coastal waters

Contamination of water and sediment by organic and inorganic pollutants along the Goan coast is of a major concern. According to the Indian Bureau of Mines of the Ministry of Mines (Government of India), Goa accounts for 18% of the iron ore and 3% of the manganese ore in India (IBM, 2014 a; b). Metal effluents enter into the Goan estuaries during ferro-manganese mining activities and may pose a threat to the fauna and flora inhabiting these waters (Attri and Kerkar, 2011). These metals are then carried downstream by the effect of water currents in the estuarine regions (Alagarsamy, 2006) and may either circulate in the water column or may get deposited on the surface sediment and interact with the associated benthic fauna. Additionally, various by-products of the mining processes, which may be potential carcinogens, also find their way into the water due to the lack of proper disposal systems and contaminate the surrounding waters (Koski, 2012). According to Dessai and Nayak (2008), the surface sediments in the Zuari estuary are contaminated mainly by manganese, followed by cobalt and least with chromium, zince, copper and iron. They further reported that the major source of these metals is mining and its associated activities such as ore transportation to offshore platforms, ore loading and barge building. The Zuari estuary receives considerable amount of petroleum hydrocarbons due to the discharge of waste materials from the Mormugao harbour and an agrochemical industry (Sarkar et al., 2014). The occurrence of tar balls, which is a common phenomenon along the Goa coast during the monsoon season, may affect water quality and may also induce carcinogenicity in the marine fauna (Suneel et al., 2013).

8

A majority of these pollutants are toxic to marine organisms and also to other organisms in the food chain. Exposure to these can lead to abnormal physiological responses and can adversely affect the growth, development, reproduction and behaviour of aquatic organisms (Bistodeau *et al.*, 2006; Ginebreda *et al.*, 2014) and can induce teratogenesis, clastogenesis and oncogenesis in them as well (Gangar *et al.*, 2010; Yang *et al.*, 2010). The risk of human cancer is greatly increased due to their exposure to genotoxic contaminants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and heavy metals through the food chain.

1.2. Review of Literature

A number of reports are available on the presence of heavy metals in the estuarine habitat as a result of human activities. The sediment of the Pearl river estuary in China is reported to be contaminated with heavy metals such as Cd, Zn and Ni due to various developmental activities occurring near this area (Li *et al.*, 2007). Ruzhong *et al.* (2010) observed significant Cu and Cd in the surface sediment of another estuary of the Tangxi River in China. In the Tamaki estuary in New Zealand, the sediment was found to be significantly contaminated with heavy metals such as Cu, Pb, Zn and Cd as a result of urbanization compared to baseline values obtained from a pristine location (Abrahim and Parker, 2008). According to a report by Kehrig *et al* (2003), the Guanabara Bay in Brazil receives inputs of untreated industrial wastes which comprise of oil, heavy metals and organic matter from the industrial activities in Rio de Janeiro. They also observed significant concentrations of Cd, Pb and Cu in the surface sediments which could potentially affect the mangrove vegetation and the associated fauna of this region. Heavy metals present in the water and sediments often get bioaccumulated in the tissues of organisms inhabiting these areas. Vicente-Martorell *et al.* (2009) reported high concentrations of Cu, Zn, Pb, Cd and As in the water and sediment of a polluted estuary in Spain. The concentrations of these metals were also found to be elevated in the tissues of two fish species *Sparus aurata* and *Solea senegalensis* inhabiting this estuary indicating the presence of these metals in the estuarine environment. A number of reports are available on the quantum of heavy metals prevailing along the Indian coast. Kumar and Patterson (2009) reported that the sediment of the Manakudy estuary near the southern tip of India in Tamil Nadu is moderately contaminated with metals such as Cr, Ni, Cu, Co, Pb, Zn and Cd and were found to be associated with Fe and Mn ions. Heavy metals such as Cd, Pb, Co and Cu were found to be enriched in the sediment of the Sudarbans mangrove region as well as the Hooghly estuary in north-east India (Banerjee *et al.*, 2012). The reason for this enrichment was attributed to anthropogenic sources such as wastewater effluents from industries and shipping activities rather than from natural sources. Sundaray *et al.* (2011) observed considerable metal contamination in the sediment of Mahanadi basin and reported that that the bioavailability of heavy metals such as Cd, Ni, Co and Pb in the estuarine sediments may pose a threat to the biota inhabiting these waters.

The marine and estuarine environments are also reported to be polluted with diverse petroleum hydrocarbons from various anthropogenic sources. Readman *et al.* (2002) reported that the surface sediments of the Black Sea are contaminated with high concentrations of petroleum hydrocarbons primarily due to discharge from rivers, navigation routes and ports. Significantly high concentrations of petroleum hydrocarbons were also reported in the coastal zones of France which were attributed to discharge of petroleum products and fuel combustion emissions from docked ships (Soclo *et al.*, 2000). The presence of petroleum hydrocarbons in the aquatic environment may also be due to terrestrial sources such as dust. In a study conducted by Boonyatumanond *et al.* (2006), the petroleum hydrocarbons in the

coastal and riverine water of Thailand were analyzed and found to have the same chemical signature as the petroleum hydrocarbons in street dust. Surface sediments from the Yangtze river estuary in China were found to be contaminated with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons due to the discharge of wastewater effluents from major cities such as Shanghai (Yamei et al., 2009). In India, Chouksey et al. (2004) reported significant petroleum hydrocarbon residues in the bottom water as well as in the surface sediment of Bassien-Mumbai compared to less polluted areas of Ratnagiri and Dabhol. The high concentration of petroleum hydrocarbons is attributed to the release of effluents from industries such as refineries and petrochemical complexes, transport of crude oil and its products at the Mumbai harbour. More recently, Rao et al. (2016) also observed significant concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs) in the water of the Amba estuary which opens into the Mumbai harbor. In Chennai, the surface sediments of Kuvam and Adyar estuaries were reported to be contaminated primarily with petroleum hydrocarbons from the Chennai port (Venkatachalapathy et al., 2010). In the Mandovi estuary in Goa, Veerasingham et al. (2015) reported a broad range of petroleum hydrocarbons in the surface sediment and was found to be due to discharge of land based petroleum products and effluents, emission of fly ash from vehicles and industries, and combustion of petrol from barges and ships.

A few reports are available on the pollution of coastal water by heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons. Muniz *et al.* (2004) reported heavy metal and petroleum hydrocarbon contamination of the sediments of Montevideo harbor in Uruguay. The presence of heavy metals was due to the release of untreated wastewaters from tanneries whereas that of petroleum hydrocarbons was due to discharges from a thermoelectric centre and a major petroleum refinery. Heavy metal and PAH pollution was also observed in the surface

sediment of the Naples harbor in Italy which is an area of commercial significance (Sprovieri *et al.*, 2007). These pollutants are due to diverse kinds of anthropogenic activities such as industrial and port activities such as shipbuilding, commercial effluent and urban wastewater discharges. Yang *et al.* (2015) estimated the concentrations of heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons in the sediments of the Shuangtaizi estuary in China and further reported that Cd, Hg and petroleum hydrocarbons posed an ecological risk to this estuarine environment. Reddy *et al.* (2005) reported seasonal variations in the concentrations of heavy metals and total petroleum hydrocarbons in the Gulf of Cambay in Gujarat, India. This region suffers considerable pollution due to the presence of Alang-Sosiya scrapping yard, which is one of the largest ship-breaking yards in the world.

1.3. Materials and Methods

1.3.1. Study sites

Vasco, Miramar and Dona Paula were selected as the probable polluted sites and Palolem was selected as an unpolluted reference site (Plate 1.1), based on the reports of Sarkar *et al.* (2008, 2010) and Sarker and Sarkar (2015). Palolem is a pristine beach with no known industrial activity at this site. Vasco, an industrial hub, is dependent on the Mormugao harbour for most of its economic activities. This harbour serves as a port for carrier barges, ore barges, oil liners and cruise liners. Miramar is a popular beach located at the mouth of the Mandovi river which is one of the main channels for the transport of iron and manganese ore from upstream sites. Dona Paula is located at the confluence of the Mandovi and Zuari river the latter being used to transport ores. Additionally, effluents released from some factories which are situated on the banks of the river may be carried downstream. Thus, the water, sediment and even the fauna in these areas may suffer considerable anthropogenic stress.

1.3.2. Sampling seasons

Sampling was carried out seasonally for a duration of two years. Based on the occurrence of the monsoons, there are three seasons in Goa: pre-monsoon season from February to May, Monsoon season from June to September and Post-monsoon season from October to January. In the present study, sampling commenced from the monsoon season of 2012 and ended by the end of the pre-monsoon season of 2014. Samplings were done twice per season for a better interpretation of statistical analysis.

1.3.3. Water and sediment collection

Surface and bottom water (2 L each) were collected with the help of a Niskin Sampler and used for various analyses. The temperature (in degrees Celsius: °C), pH and salinity (in ppt) of the water samples were immediately recorded with the help of an automated water and sediment analysis kit (Labtronics, LT-59) consisting of probes for measuring the required parameter. Water samples for dissolved oxygen (DO) were taken carefully without introducing bubbles in amber-coloured bottles (300 mL) and fixed with 1 ml of Winkler's A solution and 1 ml of Winklers B solution. The bottles were stoppered and inverted a few times to allow the formation of a precipitate. The samples for the analysis of phosphates, nitrates, trace metals and TPHs were stored in clean and labeled polypropylene bottles. Sediment samples (~ 500 g) were collected with the help of a Van-Veen Grab and stored in clean and labelled polythene bags. These samples were stored at 4°C and carried to the laboratory for further analysis. Samples were collected from three sampling stations in triplicates at each site during the pre-monsoon, monsoon and post-monsoon periods from March 2012 to February 2014.

1.3.4. Quality assurance and quality control

The appropriate quality assurance methods of sample preparation, handling and preservation were carried out in accordance with US EPA procedures. Bombay High crude oil was the certified reference material for TPH estimation and was also used to prepare the calibration curve. "TraceCERT certified reference metals for AAS (Sigma)" were used for trace metal estimation.

1.3.5. Physico-chemical parameters

The physico-chemical parameters such as temperature, pH, salinity and dissolved oxygen were analysed and recorded as mentioned earlier. Dissolved oxygen content of water samples fixed with Winkler's solutions were estimated by dissolving the precipitate with 1 ml of concentrated sulphuric acid, stoppered and mixed by inverting. 100 ml of this solution was then taken in a conical flask and titrated against sodium thiosulphate till a straw colour developed. Then 1 ml of starch solution was added to obtain a blue colour in the solution. This was then further titrated till the solution became colourless. The concentration of the DO in the sample is equivalent to the ml of titrant used and the values were expressed as mg/L.

Nitrates were analyzed spectrophotometrically using the Brucine method (EPA, 1972). Briefly, 10 ml of 10 N sulfuric acid was added to the water sample (10ml) and allowed to cool. 0.5 ml of brucine in sulfanilic acid solution was added to the sample and mixed. The samples were then heated at 100°C in a water bath for 25 minutes. This mixture was then placed in a volumetric flask and diluted upto 25 ml with deionized water. The concentration of nitrates in the sample was then estimated by the absorption of the solution at 410 nm using a spectrophotometer.

For the estimation of phosphates, 25 ml of water sample was added to a volumetric flask, 1 ml of ammonium molybdate was added to it and mixed well. Two drops of stannous chloride was then added to the sample and mixed. The intensity of the blue coloured complex was read spectrophotometrically at 690 nm (Bureau of Indian Standards, 1988).

1.3.6. Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon analysis

Water samples: 2 ml of hexane was added to 20 ml of water and mixed well for 20 min in capped tubes in an orbital shaker. This mixture was allowed to stand for the separation of the two phases. The upper layer containing hexane was collected and dried under a stream of nitrogen gas. The dried sample was then reconstituted with 1.5 ml of HPLC-grade ethanol and 1.5 ml of de-ionized water and stored at 4°C in dim light (Ramachandran *et al.*, 2006). The TPH concentrations were analyzed spectrofluorometrically (Shimadzu RF-5301PC) with excitation at 310 nm and emission at 360 nm. The values were expressed as µg/L.

Sediment samples: Sediment samples were dried in an oven overnight at 70°C. 10 gm of this dried sediment was mixed with tetrohydrofuran, shaken vigorously and placed in an ultrasonicator bath for 1-2 hours. The samples were then centrifuged at 2,000 rpm for 30 minutes and the supernatant was evaporated using a stream of nitrogen gas. The residue was then re-dissolved in 20 ml of hexane and was analyzed spectrofluorometrically with excitation at 310 nm and emission at 30 nm. The values were expressed as $\mu g/g$ of dry sediment (Telli-Karakoç *et al.*, 2002).

1.3.7. Trace Metal analysis

Water samples: One litre of water was acidified with 1 ml of concentrated HNO₃. One mL of 1% ammonium pyrolidine dithiocarbamate (APDC) and 1 mL of methyl isobutyl ketone

(MIBK) were added to the acidified water in a separating funnel and shaken for 5 minutes. This mixture was allowed to stand for about 15-20 minutes to allow phase separation. The organic layer obtained was transferred to another separating funnel and back-extracted with 20 ml of 4N HNO₃ in another separating funnel. The lower aqueous phase was collected in a centrifuge tube and analyzed for the presence of trace metals such as iron, manganese, copper. cadmium and lead using a flame atomic absorption spectrophotometer (Shimadzu AA-6300) (Satyanarayanan *et al.*, 2007). The concentration of metals was expressed as $\mu g/L$ of sample.

Sediment samples: 1-2 gm of oven-dried sediment were digested with 10 ml of aqua regia (1:3 concentrated HNO₃ and HCl) and heated on a hot plate at 85°C for 2 hours. The digestate was then diluted to a final volume of 100 ml with distilled water and filtered using a Whatman's filter paper (No. 1) (USEPA, 1996) and analyzed for the presence of trace metals such as iron, manganese, copper, cadmium and lead using a flame atomic absorption spectrophotometer. The concentration of metals was expressed as $\mu g/g$ of dried sediment.

1.3.8. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM[©] SPSS 23 statistical software package. The data were tested to meet the assumptions of normality using Shapiro-Wilk's test and homogeneity using Levene's test and were subsequently arcsine transformed to improve linearity. These values were then used for various parametric tests. The significance of the data from the polluted sites was evaluated using student's t-test. The results were regarded as statistically significant at p < 0.001, 0.01 and 0.05.

16


Plate 1.1. Sites selected for the present study along with their coordinates

Co-ordinates			
Sr. 10.	Study Site	Latitude	Longitude
1	Miramar	15°29'21" N	73°48'18" E
2	Dona Paula	15°46'08" N	73°80'95" E
3	Vasco	15°40'83" N	73°79'16" E
4	Palolem	15°00'17" N	74°02'79" E











Plate 1.3. A. Water collection by Niskin sampler and B. sediment collection by van Veen grab



1.4. Results

1.4.1. Physico-chemical parameters

The data of the various physico-chemical parameters are represented in figures 1.1 - 1.6. Surface and bottom water temperature ranged between 28 and 30.5 °C in the study period extending in all the seasons (fig. 1.1 A and B). Fig. 1.2 A and B depict the pH of the water which ranged between 7 and 8.04 throughout the study period. Salinity was high in both the surface and bottom water of Palolem and decreased during both the monsoon seasons (fig. 1.3 A and B). Dissolved oxygen (DO) level was highest in the waters at Palolem and comparatively low in the waters at Vasco and Dona Paula (fig. 1.4 A and B). The water at Miramar showed intermediate level of DO. Phosphate levels given in figure 1.5.A and B were almost similar at all the sites and did not fluctuate to a large extent with a range between 1.1 to 2.4 μ g/L. On the other hand, nitrate levels were found to be high in the surface and bottom waters at Vasco (fig. 1.6 A and B).

1.4.2. Total petroleum hydrocarbons and trace metals

The concentration of TPH in the surface water, bottom water and sediment from all the sites are represented in fig. 1.7. TPH values were significantly high in both surface and bottom waters of Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar (p < 0.001, p < 0.01, p < 0.05) in all the seasons compared to that of Palolem. Sediment samples from these sites also contained high concentrations of TPHs compared to that of Palolem. The concentrations of trace metals (Fe, Mn, Cu, Cd and Pb) in the surface and bottom waters as well as the sediment from all the sites are represented in figs. 1.8-1.12. A significant concentration of dissolved Fe was observed in the surface and bottom waters at Vasco and Dona Paula compared to that of Palolem during the monsoon season of 2012 (p < 0.05) and was generally non-significant

during the other seasons (fig. 1.8). However, the sediment at Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar showed significantly high concentrations of Fe in all the seasons (p < 0.05). The concentrations of Mn were significant in the water at Vasco during both the monsoon seasons and post-monsoon season of 2013 (fig. 1.9). Mn was also found to be significant in the water at Miramar during the monsoon, post-monsoon and pre-monsoon season during 2012-2014 whereas the concentration of Mn at Dona Paula was found to be non-significant in all the seasons. Cu concentrations (fig. 1.10) were observed to be significant only in the sediment at all the study sites (p < 0.001, p < 0.01, p < 0.05) while its concentrations in water were all non-significant. The surface and bottom water of Vasco and Dona Paula exhibited significantly high concentrations of Cd compared to that of Palolem (p < 0.05) whereas that of Miramar was found to be non-significant in all the seasons (fig. 1.11). The concentration of Cd was also found to be elevated in the sediment at Vasco and Dona Paula in all the seasons and even that of Miramar in the post-monsoon of 2012-2013 and the pre-monsoon of 2013-2014. Pb levels were highest in Dona Paula (fig. 1.12). Pb concentrations were found to be consistently high in the sediment of both Vasco and Dona Paula in all the seasons compared to that of Palolem. The sediment at Miramar also exhibited elevated concentrations of Pb in all the seasons except in the monsoon season of 2012. On the other hand, none of the water samples contained significant concentrations of Pb in any season.

Chapter 1

Fig. 1.1. Temperature of (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014





Chapter 1

Fig. 1.2. pH of (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014





Chapter 1







Chapter 1

Fig. 1.4. Dissolved oxygen (DO) in (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014





Chapter 1

Fig. 1.5. Phosphates in (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014





Chapter 1

Fig. 1.6. Nitrates in (A) surface water (SW) and (B) bottom water (BW) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014







Note: # = p < 0.001; \$ = p < 0.01; * = p < 0.05

25

Heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons as pollutants in the environment

Chapter 1

Fig. 1.7. Concentration of TPH in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014



Fig. 1.8. Concentration of Fe in in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: \$ = p < 0.01; * = p < 0.05

Fig. 1.9. Concentration of Mn in in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014



Note: * = p < 0.05

70 Ħ 🖪 BW µg/L ⊡ Sediment µg/g 🖹 SW µg/L 60 # Ś 50 \$ \$ Ś \$ \$ \$ Cu concentration \$ 40 Ś 30 20 10 0 - 64 Pre-M 2014 M 2012 M 2013 M 2013 M 2013 M 2012 M 2013 Pre-M 2013 Post-M 2013-2014 M 2012 M 2012 Pre-M 2013 Post-M 2013-2014 Post-M 2012-2013 Pre-M 2014 Post-M 2012-2013 Pre-M 2013 Post-M 2013-2014 Pre-M 2014 Post-M 2012-2013 Pre-M 2013 Post-M 2013-2014 Pre-M 2014 Post-M 2012-2013 Palolem Vasco Dona Paula Miramar Study sites

Fig. 1.10. Concentration of Cu in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: # = p < 0.001; \$ = p < 0.01; * = p < 0.05



from June 2012 to May 2014 \Box Sediment $\mu g/g$ ESW μg/L 🖪 BW μg/L 30 \$ \$ \$ Ś Ś 25 Ś \$ Ś 20 15 10 5 ** E डन्ने: FR (**16** er. ER **26 265** 0



Note: \$ = p < 0.01; * = p < 0.05

Chapter 1

Heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons as pollutants in the environment

Fig. 1.11. Concentration of Cd in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons



Fig. 1.12. Concentration of Pb in surface water (SW), bottom water (BW) and sediment (Mean ± SD) at various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: \$ = p < 0.01; * = p < 0.05

30

Heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons as pollutants in the environment

Chapter 1

1.5. Discussion

In the present study, the concentrations of both, the heavy metals and the total petroleum hydrocarbons in the water and sediment were found to be significant in Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar compared to that of Palolem in all the seasons. These pollutants enter the water from diverse sources including mining and associated activities such as ore transportation and loading via the Zuari and Mandovi rivers. The activities from the Mormugao harbor such as ship building and repair may also contribute to the presence of metals and petroleum hydrocarbons at Vasco (Sarkar *et al.*, 2014). The presence of these pollutants is expected to induce a negative impact on the life of flora and fauna of the ecosystems at these sites. Most of the contaminants such as TPHs and heavy metals have a tendency to settle on the surface sediments and thus, the benthic feeders might be affected the most. A wide variety of effects ranging from DNA damage to morphological abnormalities might be implicated as a result of the intake / ingestion of these pollutants by aquatic organisms. Marcon *et al.* (2010) reported that a high content of certain metals in the water and sediment could be one of the factors that might cause genetic damages in fish.

The significant concentrations of TPHs and Fe, Mn, Cu, Cd and Pb in the sediment at Vasco and Dona Paula observed in the present study could lead to DNA damage in aquatic organisms as reported in several studies. Amado *et al.* (2006a) reported significant DNA damage in the Brazilian flounder (*Paralichthys orbignyanus*) from a polluted site in the Patos Lagoon estuary in Southern Brazil compared to an unpolluted reference site, may be because of the contamination with petroleum hydrocarbons and metals such as Cu due to the release of effluents from nearby industries. In another study, Tsangaris *et al.* (2011) also observed DNA damage in the blood and gill cells of the grey mullet (*Mugil cephalus*) from an area

polluted with Cu, Mn, Pb, Cd and PAHs in the Saronikos Gulf in Greece. The presence of heavy metals such as Cu, Cd and Pb primarily due to agricultural activities and discharge of anthropogenic wastes in the water and sediment of the Goksu delta in Turkey were reported to be the cause of DNA damage in catfish (Clarias gariepinus), bleak (Alburnus orontis) and mullet (M. cephalus) (Ergene et al., 2007). These metals were also found to be accumulated in the tissues of these fish. Ahmad et al. (2008) and Oliveira et al. (2009) observed DNA damage in the form of DNA strand breaks in the gill cells of the European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) and the golden grey mullet (Liza aurata) captured from Ria de Aveiro which is a polluted coastal lagoon in Portugal. Genotoxicity (nuclear abnormalities) was observed in the peripheral erythrocytes of two fish species (Limanda limanda and Melanogrammus aeglefinus) from the North Sea and near the coast of Iceland which are highly influenced by ship traffic and oil / gas drilling zones (Baršiene et al., 2013). Genotoxicity was also reported in laboratory hatched Senegalese soles that were placed in situ on sediment contaminated with PAHs and heavy metals in the Sado estuary in Portugal (Costa et al., 2011). In another study from Brazil, Katsumiti et al. (2009) reported significant DNA damage in the native species of catfish (Cathrops spixii) in a bay south of Brazil after an accidental explosion of an oil tanker which released large amounts of bunker oil.

Besides in fishes, a number of effects of these pollutants have also been reported in bivalves. Pisanelli *et al.* (2009) reported seasonal variability of DNA damage in the hemocytes of *Mytilus galloprovincialis* which was found to be correlated with the seasonal fluctuations of trace metals in the Adriatic Sea. In a study conducted by Magni et al. (2006), mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) were from a commercial port in Italy and were reported to have significant DNA damage in them compared to the bivalves collected from a reference site.

This DNA damage was found to be attributed to the elevated concentrations of heavy metals such as Pb and Cd in the sediment at the port compared to the reference site. The comet assay was also used to detect DNA damage in the gill cells and hemocytes of Mytilus edulis sampled from coastal waters which are suspected to be polluted with metals and petroleum hydrocarbons from the Køge Bay in Denmark (Rank et al., 2005). This DNA damage was further found to be correlated with the concentrations of heavy metals such as Ni, Cd, Cr and Hg in the sediment from the polluted sites. In another study, Manila clams (Tapes semidecussatus) were chronically exposed to sediments contaminated with PAHs and metals such as Cu, Pb, Cd and Zn and were found to exhibit significant DNA damage compared to clams that were exposed to sediment from a pristine location (Coughlan et al., 2002). DNA damage was also reported in zebra mussels (Dreissena polymorpha) sampled along a contaminant gradient in the St. Lawrence River in Canada (de Lafontaine et al., 2000). The river received considerable pollutants such as effluents from paper mills and metals, PAHs and PCBs from ship related activities which could have induced genotoxicity in these zebra mussels. Sediments collected from a polluted area in the Seine estuary, France were organically extracted and the toxicity of these extracts and were exposed to the embryos of Crassostrea gigas. The extracts which were found to contain high levels of PAHs and PCBs were able to induce significant abnormalities in these embryos than the extracts from a pristine location (Cachot et al., 2006). Fu et al. (2013) observed an increase in the expression of genes related to DNA damage responses in fish collected from the Yangtze River in China which was attributed to the high concentrations of heavy metals in the water and sediment.

1.6. Conclusion

Petroleum hydrocarbons and heavy metals such as Fe, Mn, Cu, Cd and Pb are present at significant concentrations in the water and sediment at Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar compared to that of Palolem in all the seasons. The presence of these pollutants could pose a threat to the finfish and shellfish inhabiting these waters as reported by numerous researchers earlier. Further analyses of the water column and sediment could supplement our findings and provide a broader perspective of the overall "health" of the aquatic ecosystems at these sites.

Chapter 2:

Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

2.1. Introduction

The rivers Mandovi and Zuari are the most important navigable rivers of Goa. They originate in the Western Ghats and flow through the state of Goa to join the Arabian Sea. These rivers inevitably receive and carry diverse kinds of contaminants from upstream mining sites, and deposit them in the coastal waters of Goa. Besides this input, the coastal water also receives large quantities of waste water in the form of sewage from various sources (i.e. industrial, agricultural, domestic, etc.) which induce considerable marine pollution. A majority of the pollutants are reported to be toxic to the marine organisms and other associated organisms including fish and shellfish, which form a major group of the economically important seafood of Goa.

Sea food is a major route of exposure of human populations to toxic chemicals. Finfish and shellfish have been recognized as major mediators for contaminant transfer to humans and a cause of innumerable sufferings in man (Al-Sabti and Metcalfe, 1995). Genotoxic / mutagenic compounds, including carcinogens, can manifest as components of complex mixtures in the environment that can have adverse health effects on indigenous biota as well as humans (Dearfield *et al.*, 2002).

Genotoxic effects in fishes may induce deleterious cellular changes leading to various diseases including cancer, reduced reproductive competence, teratogenicity and even may be fatal, resulting in low fish catch. Further this will also affect the normal food chain and result in a deleterious shift in the biotic community of this coastal ecosystem. These will result in a significant reduction in the quality / palatability of the sea food. The uptake of xenobiotic contaminants, such as PCBs and PAHs, is highly detrimental to the metabolic activity as well

as the biological integrity of marine organisms. Many of these pollutants are chemical carcinogens and / or mutagens with the capacity to induce various types of DNA damage.

Biomonitors / bioindicators are organisms which, by their presence or absence indicate the presence of a particular critical factor such as environmental stressors (Martin and Coughtry, 1982). All organisms can be considered as bioindicators depending upon their sensitivity to this critical factor within a particular location (Phillips and Rainbow 1994). Although mostly the genotoxic effects induced by exposure to these stressors may be compensated by DNA repair mechanisms as a natural phenomenon, signs of toxicity will most likely be evident at the upper limits of tolerance. Bioindicators are key for assessing the level of environmental pollution and are therefore employed at sites of anthropogenic stress (Phillips and Rainbow 1994).

2.1.1. Fishes as bioindicators

Fishes play a very important role as consumers in an aquatic ecosystem. Further, they exhibit the intake and accumulation of many of the pollutants of the aquatic environment and thereby contribute to their bioaccumulation / biomagnification through the food chain. In aquatic ecosystems, pollutants may accumulate in sediment as well as the organisms at different trophic levels in this food chain, including the benthic and pelagic animals. Fishes are the most predominant pelagic animals in an aquatic environment representing the primary / secondary / tertiary consumers, whereas, bivalves are mostly sedentary in nature and are filter feeders. Fishes being at the higher tropic level of aquatic food chain can readily accumulate a variety of contaminants by ingestion of smaller species, as well as, through water intake. They also respond to mutagens at fairly low concentrations and are more sensitive to the induction of genetic damage. Man, being at the apex of this food chain

consumes varieties of fishes and bivalves as sea food and becomes the final recipient of these pollutants. Fishes are therefore the most popular animals used as bioinidicators of genotoxic agents in the aquatic environment as they are economically important food sources, higher order predators, form a major part of aquatic communities and are sensitive to the effects of pollution and capable of concentrating xenobiotics (Kligerman, 1982). They can therefore act as "sentinel" organisms for indicating the potential for exposure of human populations to genotoxic chemicals in drinking water.

2.1.2. Bivalves as bioindicators

Bivalves are widely used as bioinidicators for coastal pollution monitoring programs (Krishnakumar *et al.*, 2006). Many field studies have shown that some of these biomarkers of environmental contaminants in mussels can be used to discriminate between polluted and unpolluted sites (Krishnakumar *et al.*, 1994; 1995). The use of molluscs, particularly bivalves as sentinels is a popular approach for detecting various kinds of contamination in the environment (Zuykov *et al.*, 2013). Bivalves are widely used in biomonitoring programs due to their association with the estuarine sediment, filter-feeding habit and ability to bioaccumulate various contaminants. A number of bivalve species such as *Ruditapes phillipinarium* and *Mytilus galloprovincialis* which are routinely used for these programs are usually natural populations or cultured and transplanted at areas suspected of pollution (Bolognesi *et al.*, 2004; Vlahogianni *et al.*, 2007; Moschino *et al.*, 2012; Ji *et al.*, 2015).

2.1.3. Accumulation of metals and petroleum hydrocarbons

Fishes and bivalves are known to accumulate pollutants such as heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons in their tissues to concentrations several times higher than that of the ambient water (National Research Council, 1991; Schwacke *et al.*, 2002). In non-polluted

circumstances, concentrations of these chemicals in the tissues of aquatic organisms are often in equilibrium with the natural concentrations in the water. Thus, the tissues of aquatic organisms contain natural background concentrations of many naturally-occurring chemicals such as most metals and aromatic hydrocarbons. These background body concentrations of chemicals are probably not toxic to the aquatic organisms. However, increased inputs to the environment of some of these chemicals from anthropogenic activities can result in increase of their concentration in the water and also enhanced bioaccumulation in the tissues of organisms, possibly to concentrations that are toxic to the organisms themselves or their consumers, including man. The estuarine and coastal waters of Goa receive pollutants at much higher than normal background levels from sources such as mining sites, industries, ships and harbor related activities. The fauna inhabiting these water bodies inevitably take up these pollutants from the water and are often unable to efficiently excrete them out of their bodies leading to the bioaccumulation of these chemicals in their tissues.

2.1.4. Genotoxicity tests

Micronucleus test

Micronuclei (MNi) result either from acentric chromosomal fragments or whole chromosomes lagging behind during metaphase/anaphase transition induced by clastogens or by spindle dysfunctions, respectively and are not integrated into the daughter nuclei. These MNi harbouring chromosomal fragments result from direct DNA breakage, replication on a damaged DNA template and inhibition of DNA synthesis. MNi consisting of whole chromosomes are primarily formed from the failure of the mitotic spindle polymerization, kinetochore or by damage to chromosomal structures, alterations in cellular physiology and mechanical disruption (fig. 2.1.). Thus, an increase in the frequency of micronucleated cells

Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

Chapter 2

is a biomarker of genotoxic effects that can reflect exposure to agents with clastogenic or aneugenic (aneuploidogenic) modes of action.



Fig. 2.1. Mechanism of formation of micronuclei.

Source: Terradas et al. (2010). Genetic activities in micronuclei: Is the DNA entrapped in micronuclei lost for the cell? Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research. 705: 60-67

Alkaline Single-cell gel electrophoresis (Comet assay)

The alkaline single cell gel electrophoresis or comet assay is a simple, rapid, visual and sensitive technique for analyzing and quantifying DNA damage (induced by genotoxic agents even at low concentrations) in any eukaryotic cell, reflected as single strand breaks under alkaline conditions. A damaged cell in the comet assay has the appearance of a "comet" with a fluorescent intensity that is directly proportional to the number of DNA strand breaks present. DNA that is undamaged will appear as intact comet heads without tails after electrophoresis. In the comet assay, the cells are embedded in a thin layer of agarose gel

Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

Chapter 2

on a microscope glass slide. The cells are then subject to lysis to remove all cellular proteins and the DNA is allowed to unwind under alkaline conditions. Following unwinding, the DNA is then electrophoresed and stained with a fluorescent dye such as ethidium bromide. During electrophoresis, broken fragments of DNA (damaged DNA) migrate away from the nucleus. The amount of DNA migrated from the head of the comet is directly proportional to the quantum of DNA damage.

% Head DNA = $\frac{Head Optical Intensity}{Head Optical Density+Tail Optical Density} \times 100$





Fig. 2.2. Overview of the comet assay.

Source: https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/life-science/cell-biology/cancer-research/learning-center/cancer-research-protocols/comet-assay.html

Both, the MN test and comet assay are routinely used as biomarkers for monitoring aquatic pollution by genotoxic contaminants and can be combined with other physiological and biochemical biomarkers to fully assess the pollution status of various water bodies (Bolognesi and Cirillo, 2014; Praveen Kumar *et al.*, 2015).

2.1.5. Animals selected for the present study

Johnius dussumieri (Cuvier) or Sin croaker (due to the croaking sound it makes when the abdominal muscles beat against the swim bladder) is a Sciaenid fish that is found in Indian coastal waters and often enters estuaries (Talwar and Jhingran, 1991). This species along with other species of croakers are collectively called "dodyaro" in Konkani and are used in a variety of dishes in coastal cuisine (Plate 2.1 A). Although *J. dussumieri* is consumed by Goans throughout the year, not many reports are available on their toxicity studies. Singbal *et al.* (1982) reported heavy metals in the tissues of *J. dussumieri* collected from the Aguada Bay in Goa, India but was found to be below toxic limits.

Arius arius (Hamilton), the Threadfin sea catfish, is a demersal fish which is commonly found in estuaries and tidal rivers along both the east and west coast of India (Jayaram, 1984). It is easily caught in trawl nets, bagnets, dipnets and even with hook and line. This catfish is locally called "sangott" and is consumed either fried or in Goan fish curries (Plate 2.1 B).

Meretrix casta (Chemnitz), which is commonly called the backwater or estuarine clam is usually found in the backwaters or estuaries of both the east and west coast of India (Seshappa, 1971). It is a commercially important bivalve species that is consumed as a local delicacy in many parts along the coast of Goa and is available throughout the year (Plate 2.2

A). A few toxicity studies are available on *M. casta* despite its consumption by a majority of the coastal states of India. Sophia and Balasubramanian (1992) observed changes in the condition indices of *M. casta* exposed to water soluble fractions of diesel, engine oil and Kuwait crude oil for a period of 30 days. *M. casta* exposed to various doses of γ -radiation exhibited single-strand breaks in DNA of their hemocytes as measured by the single cell gel electrophoresis (comet) assay (Praveen Kumar *et al.*, 2014).

Meretrix ovum (Hanley) also known as the estuarine backwater clam occurs in abundance in the backwaters of the west coast of India and is also consumed by the local people of Goa (Nayar and Mahadevan, 1974) (Plate 2.2 B). As with *M. casta*, very few studies have been undertaken on this clam. Revankar and Shyama (2009) reported the genotoxic effects of various doses of an organophosphate pesticide, monocrotophos on *M. ovum* using the micronucleus test.

2.2. Review of Literature

A number of fish species have been used as potential bioindicators of pollution in their respective aquatic habitats. Amado *et al.* (2006b) used the croaker, *Micropogonias furnieri* as a bioindicator species for analyzing the pollution in an estuary in Brazil. They observed significant DNA damage in these fish using the micronucleus test and comet assay which was also found to be dependent on seasonal variation in the estuary. The micronucleus test has also been used effectively to monitor the genotoxic potential of pollutants such as Cu, Cd, Ni and Pb in three species of fish (*Clarius gariepinus, Alburnus orontis* and *Mugil cephalus*) from the Goksu delta in Turkey (Ergene *et al.*, 2007). A number of studies are also available on the genotoxicity in fish from the North Atlantic Ocean and Baltic Sea in Europe. Baršiene *et al.* (2004) reported significant DNA damage as % MN in the peripheral blood of

flounder (Platychthys flesus) from an area of the Baltic Sea which received contaminants from municipal sewage discharges and an oil refinery plant. This DNA damage was also found to be correlated with PAH metabolites in the liver of the fish indicating the genotoxic potential of PAHs. Significant MN was also found to be induced in the erythrocytes of flounder (P. flesus), dab (Limanda limanda) and cod (Gadus morhua) which are native fish species from the Baltic sea and North sea (Rybakovas et al., 2009). This induction of DNA damage was found to be attributed to the presence of PAHs, heavy metals and other pollutants such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and heavy metals were found to be bioaccumulated in the tissues of the European eel (Anguilla anguilla) collected from a coastal region in Western Europe (Oliveira-Ribeiro et al., 2005). This accumulation led to the formation of lesions and tumours particularly in the spleen and the liver which could have resulted as a consequence of DNA damage. Dévier et al. (2013) reported DNA damage as DNA strand breaks in the blood cells of dab (L. limanda) from the Seine estuary in France. They further reported a significant correlation between this DNA damage and PAH concentration from the biliary metabolites of the fish. DNA damage was also found to be correlated with the concentrations of heavy metals such as Fe and Cu in the livers of grey mullets from a polluted bay in Egypt (Aboul-Ela et al., 2011). Baršiene et al. (2015) reported DNA damage in the form of micronuclei in the peripheral blood of three fish (flounder Platichthys flesus, herring Clupea harengus, and eelpout Zoarces viviparous) collected from an area polluted with PAHs and heavy metals in the Baltic Sea. DNA damage was also reported in two fish species (Mugil cephalus and Dicentrarchus labrax) collected from the Bizerte Lagoon from the Mediterranean Sea (Ameur et al., 2015). This lagoon is reportedly polluted by industrial wastes, and chemical pesticides and fertilizers through runoffs and is the considered to be the reason for the DNA damage in these fish. Recently, Gusso-Choueri *et al.* (2016) also reported significant genotoxicity in the form of % tail DNA and % MN in the peripheral blood of a marine catfish (*Cathorops spixii*) collected from a mining-affected area in Brazil. They also reported that this genotoxicity was associated with heavy metals and PAH metabolites in the livers of the fish.

The significance of using clams as sentinel species has been demonstrated by Fernández-Tajes et al. (2011) wherein they used three species of bivalves (Venerupis pullastra, Cerastoderma edule and Mytilus galloprovincialis) for the biomonitoring of an estuary in the North-West of Spain. DNA damage using the comet assay was found to be correlated with the pollution loads and they further reported that clams and cockles were more sensitive to the effects of pollution. DNA damage was also reported as % MN and DNA adducts in the gill cells of Mytilus galloprovincialis collected from a polluted location in the Venice Lagoon, Italy and were found to be correlated with tissue concentrations of metals such as As, Cd, Ni and Pb as well as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (Venier and Zampieron, 2005). Dallas et al. (2013) observed genotoxic and cytotoxic effects in two species of bivalves (Cerastoderma edule and Mytilus edulis) sampled from polluted areas along Tamar estuary in England. Further, a positive correlation was also found between the metal concentration in the soft tissues of the bivalves and that of the sediment. In another study, Jebali et al. (2007) reported an increased DNA damage in the clam, Ruditapes decussatus collected from polluted sites along the coast of Tunisia. DNA damage was also found to be significantly high in the mussel, Unio pictorium which were transplanted in a metal polluted river in Italy (Guidi et al., 2010). Bellas et al. (2007) also deployed caged mussels (Mytilus edulis) for 30 days at an estuary in Sweden during dredging operations

which resulted in petroleum contamination. They observed a correlation between tissue concentrations of PAHs, metals and DNA damage as % tail DNA indicating the genotoxic potential of these bioaccumulated pollutants. Tissue concentrations of Cu and Zn were found to be significantly high in the soft tissues of oysters (Crassostrea angulata) and mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) sampled from the South Atlantic ocean (Funes et al., 2005). It was also observed that DNA damage occurring as DNA adducts in the tissues of these bivalves could have arisen as a consequence of accumulation of these metals. A multibiomarker approach using genotoxicity assays along with physiological and biochemical assays could be used to potentially assess the quality of water and sediment at polluted sites (Bolognesi and Cirillo, 2014). Gutiérrez et al. (2018) observed DNA damage as % tail DNA and % MN in the hemocytes of the brown mussels (Perna perna) collected from a coastal zone influenced by an offshore oil platform in southeastern Brazil. Further, the DNA damage was found to be significant in the mussels collected from this site compared to an unpolluted reference site. DNA damage in the form of % tail DNA was also reported in the mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis collected from polluted bays in the Aegean Sea (Kacar et al., 2016). Further analyses of the hemolymph and gills revealed the presence of PAHs and heavy metals which correlated with the DNA damage observed in the mussels. In another similar study, mussels (P. virdis) sampled from the Ennore Estuary in Chennai, India were observed to exhibit significant DNA damage (% tail DNA) in the gills and hepatopancreas (Vasanthi et al., 2017). Additionally, this damage was found to be positively correlated with the concentration of heavy metals in the soft tissues of the mussels.

A study by Sarkar et al. (2014) on the marine gastropod Morula granulata at different locations along the Goan coast revealed that the highest DNA integrity was observed at

Arambol (North Goa), identified as the reference site, whereas the lowest DNA integrity was observed at Hollant (South Goa) which is situated between the two most contaminated sites at Bogmalo and Velsao. Similarly the low integrities of DNA in *Cronia contracta* at Vasco, Dona Paula and Velsao sites can be attributed to exposure to genotoxic contaminants especially polycyclic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and toxic heavy metals (Pb, Cd, Cu, Fe and Mn) prevalent in the marine environment as evident by their accumulation in the tissues of the marine snails inhabiting different sites along the Goa coast (Sarkar *et al.*, 2008). The study of DNA integrity in marine snails (*Planaxis sulcatus*) of the Arabian Sea along the Goan coast provides an excellent tool for evaluation of the genotoxic effects of pollution in coastal regions (Sarkar *et al.*, 2006).

2.3. Materials and Methods

2.3.1. Study sites

Vasco, Miramar and Dona Paula were selected as the probable polluted sites and Palolem was selected as the unpolluted (reference) site (Fig. 1) as per the details stated in chapter 1.

2.3.2. Sampling seasons

Sampling was carried out seasonally for a duration of two years as mentioned in chapter 1 (see 1.3.1).

2.3.3. Sample collection

Fish collection: Arius arius (Hamilton 1822) (Thread-fin sea catfish) and *Johnius dussumieri* (Cuvier 1830) (Sin croaker) were selected for the present study due to various reasons: (i) their demersal habitat (ii) availability in Goan waters throughout the year and (iii) their consumption by a majority of people living along the coast. Fishes were collected with the

help of a trawl net (mesh size 40 mm), which was mechanically operated by a trawler at the sites as described for water and sediment collection. Blood was immediately drawn from the caudal vein, smeared on clean glass slides and stored in slide boxes. Excess blood was stored in microfuge tubes containing phosphate buffered saline (pH 7.4) at 4°C. The fishes were then stored in clean labelled polythene bags and transported in ice bags to the laboratory for further analyses of the metal and total petroleum hydrocarbon content in their tissues.

Bivalve collection: Meretrix casta (Chemnitz 1782) and Meretrix ovum (Hornell 1917) (Estuarine backwater clams) were selected for the present study because they are consumed by a majority of the coastal population and are also available in the Goan estuaries throughout the year. The bivalves (both sexes) were collected from the intertidal zone with the help of skilled local fishermen from Palolem and from an estuarine location in Vasco. They were stored in a bucket with water from the study site and transported alive to the laboratory.

2.3.4. Quality assurance and quality control

The appropriate quality assurance methods of sample preparation, handling and preservation were carried out in accordance with US EPA procedures. Bombay High crude oil, a certified reference material was used for TPH estimation and was also used to prepare the calibration curve. "TraceCERT certified reference metals AAS (Sigma)" were used for trace metal estimation.

2.3.5. Micronucleus Test

The micronucleus test was carried out as detailed by Baršiene *et al.* (2004; 2006a). Blood was collected from the caudal vein of fish by inserting the syringe just below the lateral line

near the tail and was directly smeared on glass slides and air-dried. In case of the clams, the valves were pried open slightly and the needle of a syringe was inserted into the posterior adductor muscle and withdrawn to collect the hemolymph. The smears of both blood and haemolymph were fixed in methanol for 10 min, stained with 5% Giemsa for 15 mins and allowed to dry. The frequency of micronuclei (MNi) was recorded by scoring 2,000 cells per fish / bivalve at 1000x magnification, using an Olympus BX53 microscope. MNi were identified according to the following criteria: (1) spherical or ovoid-shaped extra-nuclear bodies in the cytoplasm (2) a diameter of 1/3 - 1/20 of the main nucleus (3) non-refractory bodies (4) colour texture and optical features resembling those of the nucleus, and (5) the bodies completely separated from the main nucleus (plate 2.3 and 2.4).

2.3.6. Alkaline Single Cell Gel Electrophoresis (Comet Assay)

The comet assay was carried out using the procedure outlined by Lee and Steinert (2003). Twenty microlitres of blood / hemolymph, diluted appropriately with phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.4) was embedded in low melting agarose (LMA) on frosted microscopic slides and then placed in a cold lysing solution (2.5M NaCl, 100mM Na₂EDTA, 10Mm Tris, 10% DMSO and 1% Triton-X pH 10) at 4°C, overnight. All the steps were done in dim light to prevent photo-oxidation of DNA. The slides were then placed in electrophoresis buffer (pH 10) for 15-20 min to allow the DNA to unwind. Electrophoresis was then performed under alkaline conditions (pH 10) for 30 min at 300 mA, 25 V. The slides were placed in neutralization buffer (400mM Tris base, pH 7.5) for 5 min. The gel containing DNA was stained with ethidium bromide and examined using a fluorescence microscope (Olympus BX53) with a green filter at 200x magnification. Randomly selected non-overlapping cells were screened and analyzed with the help of the computer software, CASP (Konca *et al.*,
2003) and the % tail DNA was recorded (Fig 3A and B). The % tail DNA is the amount of DNA (in percent) present in the tail of the "comet" and is used as a measure of DNA damage (Kumaravel and Jha, 2006) (Plate 2.5).

2.3.7. Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon (TPH) analysis

One gram of tissue (muscle, gill and liver of fish and foot and gill of bivalves) was homogenized with 5 ml of hexane in a Potter-Elvehjem homogenizer. The samples were dried by passing through a column of anhydrous sodium sulphate and made to a final volume of 25 ml with hexane. The concentration of total petroleum hydrocarbons was analyzed spectrofluorometrically (Shimadzu RF-5301PC) with excitation at 310 nm and emission at 360 nm. The values were expressed as μ g/g of wet tissue (Ansari *et al.*, 2012).

2.3.8. Trace metal analysis

Briefly, tissue samples (0.1 gm) were digested with 10 ml of 14M nitric acid, 5 ml of 13M perchloric acid and 5 ml of deionized water in teflon tubes and heated at 150°C for 2 hours. The solution was then allowed to evaporate to 5 ml in a Teflon beaker using a hot plate and then cooled and diluted upto 50 ml using deionized water. Concentrations of iron (Fe), manganese (Mn), copper (Cu), cadmium (Cd) and lead (Pb) were determined using a Flame Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometry (Shimadzu AA-6300). Results were expressed as $\mu g/g$ of wet tissue (Begum *et al.*, 2013).

2.3.9. Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM[©] SPSS 23 statistical software package. The relationship between MN and DNA damage was analyzed employing Pearson's correlation analysis. The data were tested to meet the assumptions of normality using Shapiro-Wilk's

test and homogeneity using Levene's test and were subsequently arcsine transformed to improve linearity. These values were then used for various parametric tests. The statistical significance of the data of micronucleus test and comet assay were analyzed using Student's t-test to test the individual differences between control and pollution exposed groups. A multiple regression model was used to evaluate the factors that may affect DNA damage. To reduce the number of variables that may be inter-correlated, a principle components analysis (PCA) was performed using pollutant concentrations in the environment, pollutant concentrations in the different tissues of the organisms and physico-chemical parameters. The various seasons and sites were converted to dummy variables and also used in the PCA. In order to enhance the interpretation of factor loadings, Varimax rotation with Kaiser Normalization was used and the factor coefficients so obtained were then used to derive factor scores. Factors with eigenvalues greater than one were used as predictors for multiple regression analysis in order to eliminate multicollinearity. The correlation coefficients between DNA damage and tissue concentrations of trace metals across the sites and seasons were compared between tissues using a z-test. The results were regarded as statistically significant at p < 0.001, 0.01 and 0.05.

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Micronucleus test

The results of the micronucleus test in the blood cells of finfishes are represented in fig. 2.3. Fish collected from Vasco and Dona Paula showed a significantly high incidence of micronuclei (p < 0.05), whereas those collected from Miramar were insignificant compared to those of Palolem. The highest % MN (0.66 ± 0.09, p < 0.05) was recorded in the blood cells of *Arius arius* collected from Vasco in the monsoon season of 2012. In all the seasons

from June 2012 to May 2014, the % of MN were found to be significant in the blood cells of *Johnius dussumieri* collected from Vasco and Dona Paula. A similar observation was noted for *Arius arius* except during the pre-monsoon season from Dona Paula.

The % of MN induced in the hemocytes of bivalves are given in fig. 2.4. Significant % MN was observed in *Meretrix casta* (p < 0.05) collected in all the seasons from Vasco compared to those to those of Palolem. Similarly, the % of MN was also found to be significant in *Meretrix ovum* collected from Vasco during all the seasons (p < 0.05).

2.4.2. Comet assay

The DNA damage observed in the form of % tail DNA represented in fig. 2.5 was significantly high in the fish collected from Vasco and Dona Paula (p < 0.05, 0.01) compared to those of the controls collected from Palolem. Significant DNA damage (p < 0.05) was also observed in the fish collected from Miramar. The highest % tail DNA was induced in the blood cells of *Arius arius* from Vasco (19.42 ± 1.06, p < 0.01) in the post-monsoon season of 2012-2013. DNA damage was significant in *Johnius dussumieri* and *Arius arius* collected from all the sites and all the seasons except from Dona Paula during the pre-monsoon season and Miramar during the same season.

The % tail DNA observed in the hemocytes of the bivalves is represented in fig. 2.6. DNA damage as observed by the comet assay was found to be significant in both *Meretrix casta* and *Meretrix ovum* collected from Vasco in all the seasons (p < 0.05) compared to those collected from Palolem.

The pooled data of the MN test and comet assay from both finfish and shellfish were further analysed using Pearson's correlation analysis (fig. 2.7). The % MN and % tail DNA were found to be significantly positively correlated with one another ($R^2 = 0.80$, p < 0.01).

2.4.3. Total petroleum hydrocarbons

TPH concentrations observed in the tissues of finfishes are represented in fig. 2.8-2.10. In general, significant concentrations of TPHs were observed in all the tissues (muscle, gill and liver) of *J. dussumieri* and *A. arius* from Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar compared to those from Palolem. Further, in both fish at these sites, the TPH concentrations in liver were higher than those in the gill and muscle tissues. The highest concentration of TPHs was recorded in the liver of *A. arius* (7.74 \pm 0.1 µg/g, p < 0.01) from Vasco during the pre-monsoon season in 2013.

The concentration range of TPHs in the tissues (foot and gill) of shellfish represented in fig. 2.11, were much higher compared to those in finfishes. Significantly high concentrations of TPH were recorded for both *M. casta* and *M. ovum* collected from Vasco compared to those from Palolem in all the seasons. Highest concentrations were recorded in the gill tissues of both *M. casta* (29.36 \pm 0.11, p < 0.001) and *M. ovum* (28.72 \pm 0.09, p < 0.001) collected from Vasco during the pre-monsoon season in 2013.

2.4.4. Trace metals

Trace metal concentrations observed in the tissues of finfishes are represented in figs. 2.12 - 2.26. High concentrations of Fe, Mn, Cu, Cd and Pb were found in the muscle, gills and livers of both *J. dussumieri* and *A. arius*. Comparatively, Fe, Cd and Pb concentrations were found to be consistently high in the tissues of these fish collected from Vasco, Dona Paula

and Miramar in all the seasons compared to those of Palolem. The concentrations of Fe in the tissues of both the fish were found to be highly significant in Vasco and Dona Paula in all the seasons during the study period. The concentration of Cu was found to be the least in the tissues compared to the other metals.

The concentrations of trace metals in the tissues of *M. casta* and *M. ovum* are given in figs 2.27 -2.31. The concentration of Fe was found to be more prevalent in the gills than the foot in both the bivalves collected from Vasco. However, Mn was found to be significant in both the foot and gill tissues in both species collected from Vasco during all seasons. The concentration of Cd was found to be highly significant in the bivalves from Vasco compared to the range of values at Palolem. Cu and Pb were also found in significant quantities in the tissues of the bivalves from Vasco compared to Palolem.

Based on the pooled data from finfish and shellfish (Table 1), the DNA damage was found to be significantly correlated by the concentrations of TPH, Fe, Mn, Cu, Cd and Pb in the tissues of finfish whereas the induction of DNA damage in case of bivalves were dependent on the concentrations of TPHs, Fe, Cu, Cd and Pb.

2.4.5. Principal components analysis

Ten components were extracted from the principal component analysis after varimax rotation of the factor axes which accounted for 87.22% of the total variance of the original variables (figs. 2.32 and 2.33). The first component which had a variance of 52.24% was characterized by high positive loadings of tissue and environmental concentrations of pollutants. The second component which explained a variance of 8.24% was characterized by loadings of

physico-chemical parameters of surface and bottom water. The variables that were associated with the remaining components were the different seasons.

2.4.6. Multiple regression analysis

After factor scores were obtained from the ten components, the score values were used as independent variables and DNA damage (% tail DNA) was used as the dependent variable due to the high correlation between the comet assay and micronucleus test in the present study (table 2.2). The regressions of standardized DNA damage on component 1 was the most significant (p < 0.0001).



Note: M = monsoons, * p < 0.05

Chapter 2

Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

ទទ



Note: M = monsoons, * p < 0.05

Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast





Note: M = monsoons, $\xi p < 0.05$, * p < 0.05

Chapter 2



Fig. 2.6. Tail DNA (%) in cells of shellfish (Mean ± SD) collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * *p* < 0.05



Fig. 2.7. Correlation analysis between MN (%) and Tail DNA (%) of pooled data from finfish and shellfish



Fig. 2.8. TPH (Mean ± SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, \$ *p* < 0.01, * *p* < 0.05

Chapter 2

nieri	*			
🖸 Johnius dussun	* +	DIOCM-919		
		Post-M 2013-14	L	
	sn * + Hilling	W 5013	Dona Paula Mirama	
		Pre-M2013		
	* +	Post-M 2012-13		
	* - 55000000000000000000 * *	W 2012		
	~~+	Pre-M2014		
	* +	Post-M 2013-14		
	*	W 2013		Study Sites
	か - # 	Pre-M2013		
	シー にのこののののののののののの	Post-M 2012-13		
	* - * - 	W 2015		
	아 H <mark>annoocococococo</mark>	Pre-M2014	Vasco	
	\$\$ ⊢ € • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 	Post-M 2013-14		
	ふ ト ローローロー	W 2013		
	く 	Pre-M2013		
	∾ ⊢ <mark>ოლიიიიიიი</mark> * 	Post-M 2012-13		
	ふ H か H 日1000000000000000000000000000000000000	W 5075		
	⊢ 	Pre-M2014	em	
	⊢ ₩	Post-M 2013-14		
	⊢∎∎ ⊢∎∎	W 5073		
	H ESE H E E	Pre-M2013	Palo	
	+ 133 +-1330	Post-M 2012-13		
	H	W 5075		
νωυ 4 ω 0 Η Ο				
(8/8 ਮ) ਸ ਤ।				

Fig. 2.9. TPH (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014





Fig. 2.10. TPH (Mean ± SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, \$ *p* < 0.01



Fig. 2.11. TPH (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, # *p* < 0.001, \$ *p* < 0.01



Fig. 2.12. Fe (Mean ± SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, \$ p < 0.01, * p < 0.05

Chapter 2





Fig. 2.13. Fe (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, $\xi p < 0.01$, * p < 0.05



Note: M = monsoons, \$ *p* < 0.01, * *p* < 0.05

99

Chapter 2





Note: M = monsoons, * *p* < 0.05







Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast





Fig. 2.17. Mn (Mean ± SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * p < 0.05



Fig. 2.18. Cu (Mean ± SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * *p* < 0.05

70

Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

Chapter 2



Fig. 2.19. Cu (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * p < 0.05



Fig. 2.20. Cu (Mean ± SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * p < 0.05

Chapter 2



Fig. 2.21. Cd (Mean ± SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * *p* < 0.05







74

Fig. 2.22. Cd (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014



Fig. 2.23. Cd (Mean ± SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * *p* < 0.05



Fig. 2.24. Pb (Mean ± SD) in muscle tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * p < 0.05



Fig. 2.25. Pb (Mean ± SD) in gill tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * *p* < 0.05



Fig. 2.26. Pb (Mean ± SD) in liver tissue of finfishes collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014





Fig. 2.27. Fe (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * p < 0.05

Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast



Fig. 2.28. Mn (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * *p* < 0.05

Fig. 2.29. Cu (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014 5







Fig. 2.30. Cd (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, \$ *p* < 0.01, * *p* < 0.05



Fig. 2.31. Pb (Mean ± SD) in tissues of shellfish collected from various study sites in different seasons from June 2012 to May 2014

Note: M = monsoons, * p < 0.05

Chapter 2

Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

Fig. 2.32. Principle Component Analysis (PCA) to reduce the number of variables that maybe inter-correlated


Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

Fig. 2.33. Principle Component Analysis (PCA) depicting the components that are intercorrelated



Table 2.1. Correlation coefficients (Pearson's) between DNA damage and levels of heavy metals in the tissues of finfish and shellfish

		ТРН	Fe	Mn	Cu	Cd	Pb
Finfish	Muscle	0.88 *	0.84 *	-0.23	0.60 *	0.77 \$	0.80 #
	Gill	0.87 *	0.87 *	0.83 *	0.43	0.74 ^{\$}	0.76 ^{\$}
	Liver	0.89 #	0.86 #	0.75 \$	0.39	0.75 ^{\$}	0.81 *
Shellfish	Foot	0.85 *	0.82 *	0.05	0.26	0.83 *	0.70 ^{\$}
	Gill	0.90 #	0.86 *	0.19	0.68 *	0.88 #	0.63 *

Note: # *p* < 0.001, \$ *p* < 0.01, * *p* < 0.05

l from principal cor	nponents analysis		
Predictors	Coefficients	t-value	Significance (p)
Component 1	0.875 ± 0.015	16.91	<0.0001

-0.30

0.763

 -0.016 ± 0.015

Component 2

 Table 2.2. Multiple regression model for predicting the DNA damage using factor scores

 obtained from principal components analysis

Component 3	0.048 ± 0.015	0.92	0.359	
Component 4	0.089 ± 0.015	-1.72	0.089	
Component 5	-0.170 ± 0.015	-3.29	0.052	
Component 6	-0.060 ± 0.015	-1.16	0.248	
Component 7	-0.056 ± 0.015	-1.07	0.287	
Component 8	0.143 ± 0.015	0.76	0.058	
Component 9	0.032 ± 0.015	0.61	0.542	
Component 10	0.049 ± 0.015	0.94	0.347	

	MN	% tail DNA	Temp	рН	Salinity	DO	Phosphates	Nitrates
MN	-							
% tail DNA	0.85 *	-						
Temp	0.09	0.09	-					
рН	-0.08	-0.06	0.12	-		1		
Salinity	-0.45 *	-0.44 *	-0.09	0.04	-			
DO	-0.57 *	-0.59 *	-0.12	0.03	0.56 *	-		
Phosphates	-0.04	0.18	0.05	0.05	-0.12	0.11	-	
Nitrates	0.16	0.10	0.11	0.04	-0.06	0.07	-0.32	-

Table 2.3. Correlation matrix between the association of DNA damage and physico-chemical parameters

 Table 2.4. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to assess the influence of sites and seasons

 on MN and % tail DNA

	F value	F value					
	Site	Season	Site*Season	R square			
MN	92.15 *	0.35	1.28	0.45			
% tail DNA	113.22 *	0.32	1.12	0.55			

Note: M = # p < 0.001, * p < 0.05





Common name: Sin Croaker Local name: Dodyaro Classification Kingdom : Animalia Phylum Chordata : Class : Actinopterygii : Perciformes Order Family : Sciaenidae Genus : Johnius

Species



: J. dussumieri

Common name: Threadfin sea catfish Local name: Sangott

Classification								
Kingdom	:	Animalia						
Phylum	:	Chordata						
Class	:	Actinopterygii						
Order	:	Siluriformes						
Family	:	Ariidae						
Genus	:	Arius						
Species	:	A. arius						

Plate 2.2. Shellfishes selected for the present study



Common name: Backwater / Estuarine Clam

Local name: Tisreo

(Clas	sification
Kingdom	:	Animalia
Phylum	:	Mollusca
Class	:	Bivalvia
Order	:	Venerida
Family	:	Veneridae
Genus	:	Meretrix
Species	:	M. casta



 Common name:
 Backwater / Estuarine Clam
 Local name: Tisreo

 Classification
 Kingdom
 :
 Animalia

 Kingdom
 :
 Animalia

 Phylum
 :
 Mollusca

 Class
 :
 Bivalvia

 Order
 :
 Venerida

 Family
 :
 Veneridae

 Genus
 :
 Meretrix

Species

: M. ovum

Plate 2.3. Micronuclei in the blood cells of A. Johnius dussumieri and B. Arius arius (Magnification 1000X)





Plate 2.4. Micronuclei in the hemocytes of A. Meretrix casta and B. Meretrix ovum (Magnification 1000X)





Plate 2.5. Comet assay A. Undamaged cells and B. Cells with DNA damage (Magnification 200X) C. Analysis of comets using CASP software





2.5. Discussion

The present study revealed that the finfishes collected from Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar, as well as the shellfishes collected from Vasco contain high concentrations of TPHs and trace metals, which might have induced DNA damage, as evident by the MN test and comet assay. This can lead to the deterioration in the health of the fish and clam populations and consequently result in the decline in fish catches around this area. Further, this may also pose a threat to the health of fish consumers as well as the health and livelihood of the fishing communities at Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar.

2.5.1. Micronucleus test

Several scientists have employed the micronucleus test to assess the genotoxicity of compounds released by industries into aquatic environments (Baršiene *et al.*, 2004; Cavaş and Ergene-Gozukara, 2005; Da Silva Souza and Fontanetti, 2006). Damaged chromosomes result from inefficient or incorrect DNA repair and/or from the presence of metals around the mitotic apparatus. This damage is expressed during cell division in the form of micronuclei and may represent an index of accumulated genotoxic agents (Kligerman, 1982). In the present study, the increased incidence of micronuclei in the blood cells of *A. arius* may possibly be due to the high concentrations of trace metals and TPHs at Vasco. Further, even an increased / long-term exposure to low concentrations of metals and TPHs in these water bodies might have contributed towards the induction of MN in the present study, as per the reports of Alink *et al.* (2007) wherein genotoxicants in water lead to an increase in the genotoxic effects in the cells of fish and other aquatic organisms.

Both the species of bivalves, *M. casta* and *M. ovum*, collected from Vasco showed a significantly high frequency of MN in the gill cells in all the seasons. This is in agreement

Mutagenic pollutants and genetic damage in the fauna of the Goan coast

with several reports of genetic damage in the bivalves exposed to pollutants including trace metals, various hydrocarbons and biphenyls such as that of Schiedek *et al.* (2006), wherein they reported a significantly high frequency of micronuclei in blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) from a location polluted with metals, PAHs and organochlorines in the Baltic Sea. In the present study, a significant incidence of micronuclei was evident in the bivalves collected from petroleum polluted areas such as Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar. These observations are in agreement with the studies of Baršiene *et al.* (2006b) in which they sampled blue mussels (*Mytilus* spp.) from different zones in the Baltic Sea and also reported a high frequency of micronuclei in the gill cells of mussels from areas polluted with petroleum products. Our results also find similarity to another study in which mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) collected from the Baltic Sea after an accidental oil spill showed significant elevation in the frequency of micronuclei compared to those collected before the oil spill (Baršiene *et al.*, 2012).

In the present study, the concentration of metals and petroleum hydrocarbons in the waters contribute to DNA damage such as MN in the regression model. Thus, the presence of these MN has been largely attributed to the presence of various xenobiotics in the environment. MN, which arise due to lagging DNA fragments or a whole chromosome, do not get incorporated during cell division and persist as a small body (micronucleus) in close proximity with the main nucleus and thus this assay is useful for any proliferating cell population (Bolognesi and Hayashi, 2011). The lagging DNA fragments / chromosomes arise as a consequence of long term exposure associated with an accumulated effect of genotoxic or clastogenic agents as also observed in the present study which either directly affect the

DNA or interfere with mitotic processes (Fenech et al., 2003; Baršiene et al., 2008; Bolognesi and Cirillo, 2014).

2.5.2. Comet assay

DNA damage as measured by the comet assay has been linked to a wide spectrum of genotoxic and cytotoxic compounds, such as PAHs and trace metals (Lee and Steinert, 2003). The amount of the DNA in the tail region (tail DNA) of a comet is commonly used for quantifying DNA strand breakage and represents the most reliable parameter (Mitchelmore and Chipman, 1998; Kumaravel and Jha, 2006). In this study, the fish collected from Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar showed significant DNA damage in all seasons as compared to those collected from Palolem. These results are on par with a study by Sarkar *et al.* (2008) in which the DNA integrity in marine gastropods was found to be significantly damaged at Dona Paula and Vasco during the pre-monsoon, monsoon and post-monsoon periods. According to Theodorakis *et al.* (1994), chronic exposure to pollutants can lead to an accumulation of DNA strand breaks in aquatic organisms, such as fish, since their DNA-repair capacity is much lower compared to that of other species.

A significant increase in the % tail DNA was observed from the clams collected from Vasco (Fig. 3). This indicates the presence of a high level of DNA damaging agents, probably trace metals and various hydrocarbons which will lead to the loss of DNA integrity through DNA strand breaks at the individual cell level (Bolognesi and Cirillo, 2014). These observations are in agreement with the studies of Nigro *et al.* (2006) in which they observed a significant increase of DNA damage measured by the comet assay in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* from a polluted estuary in Italy. Our observation is also in agreement with Sarkar *et al.* (2008) who reported a decrease in DNA integrity in the gastropod, *Cronia contracta*, from Vasco and

were reported to be attributed to exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and metals such as Pb, Cu, Cd, Fe and Mn. Our results also find similarity with that of Sarkar *et al.* (2014) in which they reported a decrease in DNA integrity of another gastropod, *Morula granulata* from Hollant, which is located close to Vasco. The probable reason for the induction of DNA damage in aquatic organisms such as those in the present study is due to the formation of reactive oxygen species. Certain petroleum hydrocarbons constituents, such as benzo[a]pyrene (a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon), when absorbed by the organism can be converted to the reactive oxygen species (diol epoxide), and can form a stable adduct with DNA (Bihari and Fafandel, 2004). These ROS and DNA adducts can lead to changes in the conformation and functioning of the DNA further resulting in carcinogenesis (Monserrat *et al.*, 2007; Ziech *et al.*, 2010).

DNA damage by xenobiotics occurs in three basic steps, wherein the first is the formation of adducts with toxic molecules. The next stage, secondary modifications of DNA, includes single- and double-strand breakage, changes in DNA repair, base oxidation and cross-links. Xenobiotics may induce these secondary modifications by way of ROS production. In the third stage, cells show altered function, which can lead to cell proliferation and consequently, cancer (Monserrat *et al.*, 2007).

We also observed a significant positive correlation between the frequencies of MN and % tail DNA (R = 0.85, p < 0.001) which are represented in the form of scatter plots (Fig. 4). The MN test and the comet assay reflect different forms of environmental stress. The comet assay is able to detect repairable DNA damage such as DNA strand breakages, whereas the MN test detects more persistent DNA damage which are more difficult to repair (Hartmann *et al.*, 2001; Klobucar *et al.*, 2003). The positive correlation in our study may be due to the

conversion of the short term reversible damage to long term irreversible damage in the long run. The combination of bioaccumulated contaminants in the tissues of the bivalves could therefore lead to formation of complexes with metabolites, reactive oxygen species and subsequently DNA damage at a level higher than the effects of individual contaminants.

2.5.3. Trace metals and TPHs

Trace metals may settle on the surface sediments and can affect benthic feeders, such as catfish. Trace metals, especially Fe, Mn, Cd and Pb, which are found to contaminate the water and sediment at Vasco, could also be the cause of genotoxicity in *A. arius*. This is in agreement with the studies of Bellas *et al.* (2007) and Omar *et al.* (2012) which reported the genotoxic effects of trace metals, such as Cu, Zn, Fe, Mn and Pb, in marine and estuarine environments. The presence of high concentrations of these metals due to extensive mining activities and transportation of ores can be attributed to the stress caused in the fish. Our results also find similarity with that of Salem *et al.* (2014) in which roaches (*Rutilus rutilus*) collected from a landfill containing mining leachates such as Cd, Cu, Mn and Pb were found to exhibit significant DNA damage.

Metal-induced genotoxicity is predominantly due to inhibition of DNA repair process. Some metals such as chromium, nickel, arsenic, cadmium and cobalt have long been recognized as human and/or animal carcinogens (Hartwig and Schwerdtle, 2002). Trace metals which may be genotoxic when accumulated at a high concentration in the tissues of aquatic organisms can have a profound effect on the integrity of their DNA leading to single or double strand breaks (Bolognesi *et al.*, 2004). Trace metals can also stimulate the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Verlecar *et al.*, 2008) and can therefore indirectly cause damage to DNA, alter proteins and induce lipid peroxidation resulting in decreased nutritive value and

disease following consumption (Valko et al., 2006; Qian et al., 2008; Regoli and Giuliani, 2014). Another consequence of bioaccumulation of metals is the effect on the physiological well-being of the organism which in turn also affects its meat quality (Orban et al., 2002; Pampanin et al., 2005).

Our results on DNA damage in fish are also on par with those of de Andrade et al. (2004) in which they observed genotoxic damage measured as single-strand DNA breaks employing the comet assay in the tissues of mullet and sea catfish from polluted sites in Brazilian rivers. Further, they also reported the association between the concentrations of hydrocarbons, trace metals, pH and water temperature and the levels of DNA damage. The multiple regression analysis conducted in the present study revealed that high levels of DNA damage are due to the accumulation of the pollutants from the environment. Trace metal accumulation in different tissues at high concentrations could occur due to various reasons. Trace metal accumulation in the liver could occur during metal detoxification in fish; it may occur in the muscle tissues because of absorption of residues through the intestinal walls, and it occurs in the gills due to metal complex formation with mucus on the gill lamellae (Taylor et al., 1985; du Preez et al., 1993). Particulate trace metals (nano-sized) may interact with fish or other organisms in four ways: 1) adsorption to the surface i.e. cell, organ or whole body 2) cellular internalization 3) dissolution of ions from the NP and 4) mechanistic nano-effects, such as formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Baker et al., 2014). Trace metals like cadmium and copper may also affect embryonic or larval stages and may cause increased mortality, altered body size as well as morphological deformities (Witeska et al., 2014). Our findings can also be compared with the results of Costa et al. (2011), in which the exposure to

GOVERNMENT OF GOA, OFFICE OF THE EXECUTIVE ENGINEER, WORKS DIVISION I(Bldgs) , PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT, PANAJI - GOA.

CERTIFICATE "C"

Name of Work:- Assessment of concrete quality for A, B, C type Quarters at Altinho, Bhatulem, Panaji-Goa.

It is hereby certified that there is no violation of CRZ guidelines. No sand dunes are affected and no mangroves cutting is involved in the above mentioned work.

ASSISTAN ENGINEER SD-III, WD-I(Bldgs), PWD Altinho - GOA

EXECUTIVE ENGINEER W.D.I(Bldgs), PWD PATTO, PANAJI -GOA sediments contaminated by trace metals induced DNA fragmentation and clastogenesis in Senegalese soles.

The presence of TPHs in the tissues of the fish as well as the bivalves in the present study also indicate the presence of carcinogenic components in these hydrocarbons such as benzo[a]pyrene (B[α]P). B[α]P, a representative polycylic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) present in crude oil fractions, is reported to be converted at the cellular level to the ROS, diol-epoxide (BaPDE), which can form stable adduct with DNA, resulting in DNA strand breaks (Pisoni *et al.*, 2004; Bihari and Fafandel, 2004). Balk *et al.* (2011) reported the presence of PAH metabolites in the bile of fish collected from the North Sea which is known to be polluted with petroleum hydrocarbons. These metabolites, besides being genotoxic can exert other toxic effects in the rest of the body (Aas *et al.*, 2000) and may also affect the nutritive quality and palatability of fish / bivalve meat (Ansari *et al.*, 2012).

Seasonality plays an important role in the bioaccumulation of environmental contaminants and in turn may affect DNA damage (Catsiki and Florou, 2006, Hallanger *et al.*, 2011, Sacchi *et al.*, 2013). Conversely, based on the two-way ANOVA in our present study, seasonality does not seem to affect DNA damage (F=0.35; 0.32). Our results are in agreement with that of Singh and Hartl (2012) wherein they reported that changes in environmental conditions do not affect DNA damage. This could be due to species-specific mechanisms as both clams and mussels are well adapted to the intertidal environment (Singh and Hartl, 2012; Martins and Costa, 2015).

In the present study, the presence of pollutants especially TPH, Fe, Mn, Cd and Pb in the tissues could be associated with genotoxicity in these organisms. The possible reason for this association could be attributed to the intensity of mining and harbor activities occurring at

Vasco. In addition, although a significant association is seen between the pollutants and genotoxicity, it may also be noted that the presence of other contaminants in lesser concentrations may also influence the genotoxicity in these fish and can be determined by further studies using both field and laboratory based experiments.

2.6. Conclusion

Although the concentrations of contaminants in these fish are much below the permissible limits recommended by EC (2005), FAO (1983) and IAEA (2003), it may be noted that these fish are consumed throughout the year by the Goan population and may lead to subsequent bioaccumulation and genotoxicity in humans as well. The data for genotoxicity recorded in these fish can be used as reference values for future genotoxicity, biochemical or physiological studies at these sites. Laboratory based studies can be conducted to confirm the genotoxicity of these pollutants either singly or in association with each other and the exact pathways of genotoxic damage can be deduced as future work. As the industrial wastewaters in Goa are not properly processed and treated before release into the environment, a treatment method should be devised and enforced by the Government and Coast Guard. Pollution indicators and genotoxicity tests, combined with other physiological or biochemical parameters represent an essential tool for efficient monitoring of aquatic ecosystems in Goa.

Chapter 3:

Laboratory confirmation of genotoxic potential of the pollutants

3.1. Introduction

Molluscs are popular bioindicators due to their ubiquitous distribution in both terrestrial and aquatic environments around the world. They are associated with various ecological roles and are particularly important in the functioning of ecosystems such as litter decomposition and contribution to huge amounts of the biomass at the different trophic levels in ecosystems (from primary consumers to top predators). Many groups of higher animals including echinoderms, fish, birds and mammals feed on molluscs. Of the seven molluscan classes, gastropods and bivalves are the major classes of molluscs followed by polyplacophorans, cephalopods, scaphopods, aplacophorans and monoplacophorans. A majority of the gastropods and bivalves exhibit extremely limited mobility or are completely sessile as adults. Therefore, because of their sedentary habit, these molluscs can precisely represent the contamination of their habitat ideally.

Most gastropod and bivalve species used for biomonitoring and bioindication purposes are relatively large and therefore easy to handle. Consequently, they can be used both under laboratory and field conditions, for active and passive biomonitoring. Due to the lack of an exoskeleton, molluscs are in direct contact with the ambient medium (water or soil). Therefore, chemicals can be taken up not only from the diet (via the gastro-intestinal tract) but also additionally from ambient water or soil via the integument, including the respiratory organs in aquatic species, resulting in greater accumulation potency for contaminants.

Compared with other invertebrate groups like arthropods and vertebrates, molluses exhibit a limited ability to excrete pollutants via their kidneys or other excretory organs and tissues, to metabolize organic chemicals and physiologically to inactivate toxic heavy metals, e.g. by

the formation of and binding to metallothioneins (Lee, 1985; Berger *et al.*, 1995; Legierse *et al.*, 1998). As a consequence, molluscs attain higher bioaccumulation or bioconcentration factors for many toxicants than other systematic groups. Therefore, pollutants might exhibit negative impacts on molluscs even at lower environmental concentrations than on other invertebrates or vertebrates, facilitating their use as a kind of ecological early warning system. Consequently, biological effects of environmental stress in general and of contaminant exposure in particular are measurable at various levels of biological organisation (from molecules to communities). Most molluscs are model organisms for ecotoxicological research, especially as test animals and for environmental monitoring.

Generally, metal accumulation by such organisms is favoured by their limited ability to excrete these contaminants directly after their uptake and also by efficient physiological inactivation mechanisms, such as intracellular compartmentalization, or metal inactivation by binding to metallothioneins. Such biological accumulators have often been used as accumulation indicators of environmental metal pollution. Ideally, metal concentrations in the animal's body reflect environmental pollution levels quantitatively. According to the US EPA, shellfish can take up metals by several mechanisms: (1) ingestion of particulate substances from suspended material (2) ingestion of food material that have acquired these metals (3) uptake by exchange onto mucous sheets (4) incorporation of these metal ions into physiologically important systems and (5) formation of metal complexes with other organic molecules (EPA, 1971).

Since 1976, bivalves have been used to assess the levels of contamination in marine ecosystems, and certain systematic groups, notably mussels and oysters, have been extensively studied worldwide (Phillips and Rainbow, 1994). Their main advantage is that

98

the concentration of contaminants in the tissues of these organisms provide a time-integrated measure of pollutant bioavailability, responding essentially to that fraction of the total environmental load, which is of direct ecotoxicological relevance.

3.2. Review of Literature

The use of molluscs, particularly bivalves as "sentinels" is a popular approach for detecting various kinds of pollution of the environment (Zuykov *et al.*, 2013). Bivalves are widely used in biomonitoring programs due to their association with the estuarine sediment, filter-feeding habit and ability to bioaccumulate various pollutants.

A number of reports are available on the genotoxic effect of different heavy metals in various animal models including fishes and molluscs. In fish, acute and sub-chronic exposure to Cd leads to alterations of gill epithelium, liver and kidneys (Thophon *et al.*, 2003; Jebali *et al.*, 2006). Exposure to Cd induced reduction of growth rate and mortality of molluscs due to impairment of several metabolic functions (Ivanina *et al.*, 2010; Nicosia *et al.*, 2015). Several studies have also reported the genotoxicity of Cd in various animal models (Zharkov and Rosenquist, 2002, Cavaş *et al.*, 2005, Fourie *et al.*, 2007; Çelik *et al.*, 2009; Pavlaki *et al.*, 2016). The effect of Cd on DNA may be indirect, via the action of reactive oxygen species and thus leading to oxidative DNA damage (Liu *et al.*, 2009).

Lead (Pb), another heavy metal is also known to induce DNA damage in aquatic organisms (Ferraro *et al.*, 2004; Monteiro *et al.*, 2011; Ambreen and Javed, 2016; Di Donato *et al.*, 2016). In bivalves, Pb induces DNA damage (Black *et al.*, 1996; Sohail *et al.*, 2017), causes oxidative stress (Zhang *et al.*, 2010), affects gill structure (Domouhtsidou and Dimitriadis, 2000) and affects embryogenesis (Wang *et al.*, 2009).

The effects of copper on aquatic organisms include DNA damage (Gabbianelli *et al.*, 2003) and oxidative stress (Al-Subiai *et al.*, 2011). The accumulation of copper may also cause alterations in the gills and digestive gland structure of bivalves (Jing *et al.*, 2006; Sabatini *et al.*, 2011) and may also hinder immune activity (Nicholson, 2003; Parry and Pipe, 2004). Besides these effects, burrowing behaviour may also be induced in bivalves as a stress response to increasing concentrations of Cu (Bonnard *et al.*, 2009).

Iron dissolved in sea water was found to induce oxidative damage in the bivalve *Mya* arenaria which could further lead to DNA damage in the soft tissues (González et al., 2010). Taze et al. (2016) also reported oxidative damage in the hemocytes of mussels (*Mytilus* galloprovincialis) exposed to iron oxide nanoparticles for 1, 3 and 7 days. Increased production of reactive oxygen species, lipid peroxidation and DNA damage was observed as a consequence of this oxidative damage.

Oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) exposed to 1mM of manganese for three days were reported to exhibit neurotoxicity due to the impairment of the dopaminergic innervation in the cilia of the gills (Martin *et al.*, 2008; Nelson *et al.*, 2010). King *et al.* (2008) also observed a decrease in the levels of dopamine in the cerebral ganglia, visceral ganglia and gills of *Crassostrea virginica*. Free ions of manganese were also found to alter valve movement behaviour in the bivalve Velesunio angasi (Markich *et al.*, 2000)

Varotto *et al.* (2013) reported a significant increase of DNA damage in the form of micronuclei in the gills of *Mytilus galloprovincialis* exposed to nanomolar concentrations of Cd, Cu and Hg. Significant DNA damage in the form of % tail DNA was also observed in in the hemolymph, gill cells and digestive gland cells of Manila clams (*Tapes semidecussatus*)

exposed to estuarine sediments contaminated with toxic compounds such as heavy metals (Coughlan et al., 2002). Similarly, Al-Subiai et al. (2011) reported accumulation as well as significant DNA damage in the tissues of Mytilus edulis exposed to various concentrations of Cu. Exposure of Mytilus galloprovincialis to various concentrations of copper oxide nanoparticles for a period of 15 days induced genotoxic effect in their hemocytes (Gomes et al., 2013). Clams (Corbicula fluminea) exposed to various concentrations of aqueous cadmium (3, 6, 12 and 25 ppb) exhibited significant DNA strand breaks and impairment of DNA integrity (Barfield et al., 2001). Regoli et al. (2004) reported a significant decrease in DNA damage as measured by the comet assay in Mytilus galloprovincialis from Genova harbor in Italy which is highly contaminated with metals such as Cd, Fe, Mn, Pb and Cu. Hamoutene et al. (2002) exposed the mussel Mytilus edulis and the clam Mya arenaria to water soluble fractions of crude oil and observed single-strand DNA damage in the form of % tail DNA in the digestive gland cells. Pérez-Cadahía et al. (2004) exposed the mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis to oil from the Prestige oil spill and reported a significant increase in DNA damage. This DNA damage was also found to be highly correlated with the tissue concentrations of accumulated total petroleum hydrocarbons after exposure. In another study, Martins et al. (2013) reported single-strand DNA damage in the form of % tail DNA in Ruditapes decussatus exposed to sediments spiked with environmentally-relevant concentrations of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. They also reported that low doses of both carcinogenic as well as non-carcinogenic PAHs were able to induce genotoxicity in these clams. Exposure to environmentally relevant concentrations of Cd, benzo[a]pyrene and combination of both these pollutants were found to significantly increase single-strand DNA damage in the form of % tail DNA in the gill cells and hemocytes of the zebra mussel

(*Dreissena polymorpha*) (Vincent-Hubert *et al.* 2011). Baršiene *et al.* (2006c) reported the induction of MN in the gill cells of the duck mussel (*Anodonta anatina*) that were exposed to different concentrations of crude oil from an oil-well in Lithuania. DNA damage as % tail DNA and MN was also induced in the Asian clam *Corbicula fluminea* exposed to the water-soluble fraction of gasoline (Fedato *et al.*, 2010). In another study, mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) exposed to various concentrations of benzo[a]pyrene, one of the carcinogenic hydrocarbons in petroleum products, exhibited significant single-strand DNA damage as % tail DNA and % MN which increased over time (Banni *et al.*, 2010). DNA damage was also reported in the gonads of the scallop *Chlamys farreri* exposed continuously for 15 days to various concentrations of benzo[a]pyrene (Jing-jing *et al.*, 2009). They also observed alterations and degeneration of the oocytes of the ovaries indicating the toxic effects of B[a]P on germ cells.

3.3. Materials and Methods

3.3.1. Quality assurance and quality control

The appropriate quality assurance methods of sample preparation, handling and preservation were carried out in accordance with US EPA procedures. All chemicals used were of analytical grade from Himedia (Himedia, India) unless specified otherwise.

3.3.2. Maintenance of Meretrix casta

Meretrix casta (Estuarine backwater clam) was selected for the present study as it is consumed by a majority of the Goan coastal population and also due to its availability in the Goan estuaries throughout the year. The bivalves (both sexes) were collected during the monsoon season in 2014 from the intertidal zone with the help of skilled local fishermen from Palolem in Goa. This site is a clean, pristine beach with no known industrial activity or anthropogenic stress (Sarker and Sarkar 2015). They were stored in a bucket with water from the study site and transported alive to the laboratory. They were then allowed to acclimatize in ordinary seawater from Palolem for 30 days. The water conditions were maintained as follows: temperature 25°C, pH 7.5 and salinity 25 ppt. The water was changed once daily to reduce fecal contamination.

3.3.3. Treatment schedule

Bivalves were distributed in groups, each containing 10 individuals and were used for doseresponse studies. Concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons [crude oil], iron [Fe₂O₃], manganese [MnO₂], copper [CuCl₂], cadmium [CdCl₂] and lead [Pb(CH₃COO)₂] were selected based on the environmental levels reported by us in the field studies. For each pollutant, five different concentrations were chosen denoting a range of doses. The range of concentrations for total petroleum hydrocarbons was 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25 μ g/L. The range for iron was 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 μ g/L whereas that of manganese, copper, cadmium and lead was 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2 and 2.5 μ g/L. A group of bivalves were exposed to a combination of all these pollutants to simulate the nature of pollution which prevails in the Goan coast. The concentrations of these pollutants in the mixture representing low, medium and high doses are given in table 3.1. The bivalve groups were exposed to the pollutants for a period of 15 days. The entire water was discarded and renewed daily along with the dose of the respective pollutant. A group of bivalves were maintained in parallel without any pollutant exposure and served as the negative control.

103

Dose	Concentration of pollutants (µg/L)						
	ТРН	Fe	Mn	Cu	Cd	Pb	
Low	5	2	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	
Medium	15	6	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	
High	25	10	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	

Table 3.1. Concentration of pollutants in the mixture exposed to M. casta

3.3.4. Cell viability

Prior to the comet assay and micronucleus test, the cell count and cell viability of the hemolymph and gill cells were checked to ensure that there were enough living cells to perform the assay employing the trypan blue dye exclusion test. The samples showing more than 90% viability and a cell count of a minimum of 10^6 cells/ml were used for the tests.

3.3.5. Micronucleus Test

Hemolymph was withdrawn with the help of a syringe from the posterior adductor muscle and was smeared immediately on clean slides. Then the bivalves were opened and the gills were dissected out. The micronucleus (MN) test was performed following the protocol outlined by Baršiene et al. (2008). A portion of the dissected gill tissue was placed in a drop of acetic acid methanol mixture (1:3) on a clean glass slide and was then gently nipped with tweezers for a few minutes. The resulting cell suspension was then gently smeared and airdried. The smears were fixed in methanol for 10 min, stained with 5% Giemsa for 15 mins and allowed to dry. The frequency of micronuclei (MN) was recorded by scoring 2,000 intact cells per bivalve at 1000x magnification using an Olympus BX53 trinocular research microscope. Micronuclei (MNi) were identified according to the following criteria: (1) spherical or ovoid-shaped extra nuclear bodies in the cytoplasm (2) a diameter of 1/3 - 1/20 of the main nucleus (3) non-refractory bodies (4) colour texture and optical features resembling those of the nucleus, and (5) the bodies completely separated from the main nucleus.

3.3.6. Single Cell Gel Electrophoresis (Comet Assay)

The comet assay was carried out according to the protocol of Lee and Steinert (2003). All steps were carried out in dim light to prevent the photo-oxidation of DNA. Gill tissue (0.1g) was gently homogenized with phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.4) and the resulting cell suspension was filtered through a muslin cloth. This cell suspension was then embedded in low melting agarose (LMA) on frosted microscopic slides. The cells were then lysed by placing the slides in a cold lysing solution (2.5M NaCl, 100mM Na₂EDTA, 10mM Tris, 10% DMSO and 1% Triton-X pH 10) at 4°C, overnight. Following lysis the slides were placed in unwinding buffer (electrophoresis buffer, pH 10) for 15-20 min to allow the DNA to unwind. Electrophoresis was then performed for 30 min at 300 mA, 25 V (Biorad electrophoresis unit). The slides were placed in neutralization buffer (400mM Tris base, pH 7.5) for 5 min. The gel containing DNA was stained with ethidium bromide and examined using a fluorescence microscope (Olympus BX53) with a green filter at 200x magnification. Randomly selected non-overlapping cells were screened and their comets were analyzed with the help of computer software, CASP (Konca et al. 2003) and the % tail DNA was recorded.

The % tail DNA is the amount of DNA (in percent) present in the tail of the "comet" and is used as a measure of DNA damage (Kumaravel and Jha 2006).

3.4. Results

The dose response data of the MN test in bivalves exposed to various concentrations of TPHs are presented in figure 3.1. The incidence of MN was found to increase in a concentration-dependent manner in the hemocytes of bivalves exposed to various concentrations of TPH (fig. 3.1.A). However, significant increase (p < 0.05) was observed only at 15, 20 and 25 µg/L concentrations of TPH. In the gill cells, significant MN (p < 0.05) were observed at the 20 and 25 µg/L concentrations. The % tail DNA was also found to increase in the TPH-exposed bivalves in a concentration-dependent manner and is represented in fig. 3.2. Significant increase of the % tail DNA was observed in the hemocytes as well as the gill cells of the bivalves exposed to 10, 15, 20 and 25 µg/L of TPHs (p < 0.05, p < 0.01).

The data of the MN test in bivalves exposed to various concentrations of iron oxide are represented in fig 3.3. Bivalves exposed to various concentrations of iron oxide did not show significant induction of MN in the hemocytes (fig. 3.3.A). Similarly, significant MN was not induced in the gill cells except at the highest concentration (10 μ g/L, p < 0.05) of iron oxide (fig. 3.3.B). The % tail DNA in hemocytes as well as gill cells of the bivalves exposed to various concentrations of iron oxide are represented in fig. 3.4. Significant % tail DNA (p < 0.05) was observed only at the 10 μ g/L concentration of iron oxide in both the hemocytes and the gill cells.

The induction of MN in the cells of *M. casta* exposed to various concentrations of manganese dioxide is represented in fig. 3.5. The hemocytes of *M. casta* showed significant MN (p < 0.05) only at the highest concentration of manganese dioxide (2.5 µg/L) (fig. 3.5.A). In case of the gill cells, statistical significance (p < 0.05) was observed at 2 and 2.5 µg/L concentrations of manganese dioxide (fig. 3.5.B). The data of % tail DNA observed in the cells of *M. casta* exposed to manganese dioxide are represented in fig. 3.6. The % tail DNA was significant in the hemocytes as well as the gill cells of the bivalves exposed to 2 and 2.5 µg/L of manganese dioxide (p < 0.05).

The data of the MN test in the cells of *M. casta* exposed to various concentrations of copper are represented in figure 3.7. In this group, none of the concentrations of copper were able to induce significant MN in the hemocytes or gill cells of bivalves. The data of % tail DNA in hemocytes as well as in the gill cells of *M. casta* exposed to copper are represented in fig. 3.8. DNA damage was also found to be insignificant compared to the control in both the hemocytes and gill cells.

The DNA damage as MN in the bivalves exposed to various concentrations of cadmium chloride are given in fig. 3.9. Significant MN (p < 0.05) was observed in the hemocytes at the 2 and 2.5 µg/L concentration of cadmium chloride. In the gill cells, significant MN (p < 0.05) was observed at the concentrations of 1.5, 2 and 2.5 µg/L (fig. 3.9.b). DNA damage as % tail DNA in the hemocytes of the bivalves exposed to cadmium chloride are represented in fig. 3.10. The increase in the % tail DNA in the hemocytes was significant (p < 0.05) at 1.5 and 2 µg/L and highly significant at 2.5 µg/L concentrations of Cd (p < 0.01). The % tail DNA in the gill cells also showed a similar trend at these concentrations of cadmium chloride (fig. 3.10.B).

The presence of MN in the hemocytes and gill cells of *M. casta* exposed to various concentrations of lead is given in fig. 3.11.A and B respectively. Statistically significant MN (p < 0.05) in both hemocytes and gill cells were induced only at the highest concentration of Pb (2.5 µg/L). The % tail DNA observed in the cells of *M. casta* exposed to various concentrations of Pb are represented in fig. 3.12. Significant DNA damage (p < 0.05) was observed in the hemocytes at the 2 and 2.5 µg/L concentration of Pb (fig. 3.12.A). However, in the gill cells (fig. 3.12.B), significance was observed at 1.5, 2 and 2.5 µg/L concentrations (p < 0.05, p < 0.01).

The data of the experiments involving the exposure of the bivalves to different combinations of the pollutants are given in fig. 3.13. and 3.14. In the hemocytes, significant MN (p < 0.05) was induced at the medium and high concentrations of the pollutant mixture, whereas in the gill cells, all the concentrations of the mixture were able to induce significant MN (p < 0.05). Similarly, in case of the comet assay, MN was found to be significant in the hemocytes at the low and medium concentrations (p < 0.05) and highly significant at the high concentration of the pollutant mixture (p < 0.01). Further, significance was also observed in the gill cells at the low concentration (p < 0.05) as well as the medium and high concentrations (p < 0.01) of the pollutant mixture. Plate 3.1. Meretrix casta actively feeding in estuarine water under laboratory conditions



Plate 3.2. MN in the gill cell of Meretrix casta (Magnification 1000X)









Note: * *p* < 0.05





Note: * *p* < 0.05, \$ *p* < 0.01

Control

TPH (µg/L)














Fig. 3.5. MN (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of manganese dioxide





Note: * *p* < 0.05







Note: * *p* < 0.05







В

Laboratory confirmation of genotoxic potential of the pollutants

B

Fig. 3.8. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of copper chloride





Fig. 3.9. MN (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of cadmium chloride





Note: * *p* < 0.05

A

Fig. 3.10. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of cadmium chloride





Note: * *p* < 0.05, \$ *p* < 0.01







Note: * *p* < 0.05

A







Note: * *p* < 0.05, \$ *p* < 0.01







Note: * *p* < 0.05

Fig. 3.14. Tail DNA (%) in the (A) hemocytes and (B) gill cells of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of pollutant mixture



Low

Medium

Pollutant mixture

High



0

Control

3.5. Discussion

In the present study, total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs), Fe, Mn, Cd and Pb were found to induce significant DNA damage at the high doses studied in the hemocytes and gill cells of *M. casta*. However, Cu did not induce significant DNA damage at any of the concentrations studied.

The TPHs induced significant DNA damage as % tail DNA in the hemocytes as well as the gill cells of the bivalves at concentrations as low as 10 μ g/L. This is in agreement with the findings of Pérez-Cadahía *et al.* (2004) in which mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) exposed to crude oil for 12 days exhibited significant DNA damage as measured by the comet assay. Further, TPHs induced significant MN at 15 μ g/L in the hemocytes and 20 - 25 μ g/L in the gill cells of *M. casta*. These results also find similarity with the report of Baršienė and Andreikėnaitė (2007) wherein MN were induced in the gill cells of mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) exposed to various concentrations of crude oil for 3 weeks. The PAH component of TPHs may be majorly responsible for causing DNA lesions. These PAHs when metabolized, get converted to diol-epoxides and then bind covalently to DNA leading to the formation of bulky adducts which are very difficult to repair. As a result, there will be accumulation of mutations which may induce carcinogenesis (Muñoz and Albores, 2011). PAHs are also known to induce the production of ROS which get converted to hydroxyl radicals and in turn damage DNA (Muñoz and Albores, 2011).

Bivalves exposed to high concentrations (10 μ g/L) of Fe exhibited significant DNA damage as represented by the % of MN in the gill cells as well as the % tail DNA in both the gill cells and hemocytes. These findings are similar to those of Lemiere *et al.* (2005) in which Fe³⁺ (ferric ion) exposed to bivalves (*Unio tumidus*) induced significant DNA damage in their gill cells. Iron induces DNA damage by either directly attacking the bases at specific sites (Lloyd and Phillips, 1999) or indirectly by the production of the hydroxyl radical which then damages the DNA (Valko et al., 2004). Iron also induces DNA lesions by the formation of adducts such as 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodGuo) which further leads to transversion mutations (Cooke *et al.*, 2003; Valko *et al.*, 2004; Lemiere *et al.*, 2005).

Very limited reports are available on the genotoxicity of Mn in spite of its importance as an essential trace element. However in the present study, we observed significant DNA damage at the higher concentrations of Mn. Few reports infer that Mn acts on DNA indirectly by the formation of oxygen radicals which could in turn damage DNA to some extent (Van Remmen *et al.*, 2003; Stephenson *et al.*, 2013).

Significant concentration-dependent increase of DNA damage as represented in both MN and % tail DNA was observed in the bivalves exposed to Cd. These observations are on par with those of Sarkar et al. (2013) in which the marine gastropod *Nerita chamaeleon* exhibited significant DNA damage when exposed to cadmium. Our results are also in agreement with that of Vincent-Hubert et al. (2011) wherein DNA damage was significant in the gill cells of *Dreissena polymorpha* exposed to cadmium over a 11-day period. DNA damage by Cd is known to occur via indirect mechanisms such as by the formation of ROS (Waalkes, 2000; Waisberg *et al.*, 2003; Bertin and Averbeck, 2006). In addition to DNA damage, Cd also interferes with the action of various proteins involved in the DNA repair process which could enhance and prolong the genotoxic condition (Waisberg *et al.*, 2003).

In the present study, Pb induced a significant increase of DNA damage in *M. casta* at the high doses. Black *et al.* (1996) also observed significant DNA damage in mussels (Anodonta

grandis) exposed to Pb. Lead may also affect DNA damage predominantly by indirect mechanisms of ROS formation and thereby leading to oxidative stress (Valverde *et al.*, 2001). Additional mechanisms of Pb-mediated genotoxicity also include inhibition of DNA synthesis, inhibition of DNA repair processes and also interaction with DNA-binding proteins and tumour suppressor proteins (Tchounwou *et al.*, 2012).

In contrast, to our laboratory observations of TPH and heavy metal induced genotoxicity, bivalves exposed to various concentrations of Cu did not induce significant DNA damage. Further, this observation also contradicts a few reports available on the genotoxicity of Cu in bivalves (Gabbianelli *et al.*, 2003; Villela *et al.*, 2006; Al-Subiai *et al.*, 2011). This could be due to the low concentration of Cu used in the present study (Cu concentration in the range of 0.5 μ g/L to 2.5 μ g/L) which is unable to induce DNA damage compared to the relatively higher concentrations used in the previous aforementioned reports (Cu concentration in the range of 18 μ g/L to 1 mg/L). Thus, Cu may not have any direct effects in *M. casta* but may probably work synergistically with other metals in the aquatic environment.

The combination of all these pollutants was also able to induce DNA damage in the cells of *M. casta* to a significant extent. These experiments were done to know the extent of DNA damage in these organisms exposed to environmentally realistic concentrations of these pollutants. Our results are on par with that of Vincent-Hubert *et al.* (2011) in which they observed genotoxicity as MN and % tail DNA in the hemocytes and gill cells of the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) exposed to a combination of cadmium and benzo[a]pyrene. In another similar study, Andriėkenaitė *et al.* (2007) reported DNA damage as MN in the peripheral blood of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) exposed to a mixture of heavy metals which included Cu, Pb and Mn. DNA damage was also reported in the peripheral

blood of the Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) exposed to sediments contaminated with metals (such as Cu, Cd and Pb) and PAHs under laboratory conditions (Costa *et al.*, 2008). Co-exposure of organisms to both metals and petroleum hydrocarbons may lead to additive or non-additive (synergistic or antagonistic) toxic effects. Non-additive effects are usually implicated in ecotoxicological risk assessment because the toxicity of contaminant mixture is usually higher, in case of synergistic effects, than the summed toxicity of individual contaminants (Gauthier *et al.*, 2015). These toxic effects can arise from the interactions between the co-occurring toxicants, or through the effects of one toxicant on various processes involved in the transport, metabolism, and detoxification of the co-occurring toxicant.

3.6. Conclusions

Environmentally relevant concentrations of TPHs and heavy metals, particularly Fe, Mn, Cd and Pb are able to induce significant DNA damage in the form of MN and % tail DNA in the hemocytes as well as the gill cells of *M. casta*. Cu although unable to induce significant DNA damage at the test concentrations could be able to induce damage at higher concentrations. Further, DNA damage induced by a mixture of all these pollutants was found to be significant at almost all the concentrations. These pollutants could act antagonistically or synergistically in the environment or within the organism to induce additive or non-additive toxic effects.

Chapter 4:

Biochemical and physiological tests as biomarkers of genotoxicity

4.1. Introduction

The genotoxicity of pollutants in aquatic organisms may be due to their direct effects on the genome where the pollutant molecules directly interact with the nucleic acids or indirectly by interacting with other molecules such as water to give rise to highly reactive molecules. These molecules are called reactive oxygen species (ROS) and are implicated in the cellular oxidative stress within organisms. These ROS can be produced under natural conditions by the normal basal metabolism or by the influence of environmental factors. Naturally produced ROS can easily be reduced by antioxidants that are produced by the body. However, ROS production mediated by environmental stressors build up to much higher levels and they can overcome the antioxidant defenses. Oxidative stress is therefore considered to be an imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants at the cellular level. Oxidative damage as a result of such an imbalance may cause oxidative modification of cellular macromolecules such as the induction of cell death by apoptosis or necrosis, as well as structural tissue damage. As a result, these ROS can affect various cellular processes and organelles. DNA is one of the key cellular components that are highly susceptible to the action of ROS. Aquatic organisms can provide model systems for investigation of how cells respond to damage by ROS, how repair mechanisms can bring about amelioration of this damage and how oxidative stress can subsequently cause other deleterious effects and disease (Livingstone et al., 1994).

ROS include the hydroxyl radical ('OH), superoxide anion radical (O_2^-) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) . These chemical species are highly reactive and react with DNA, lipids, proteins and carbohydrates, often leading to destructive effects (Storey, 1996). These ROS must therefore be eliminated or converted to less harmful substances by antioxidants. Among

the antioxidants, catalase is one of the major enzymes that decomposes H₂O₂ to less-reactive molecular oxygen and water and thereby protecting cells from oxidative damage. The heterogeneous structure of DNA molecules including the bases and the sugar-phosphate backbone is ideal for attack by 'OH (Buxton *et al.*, 1988). These hydroxyl radicals react with bases with a higher affinity than with the nucleic acid backbone (Cadet *et al.*, 1997). More than 100 different products of DNA damage are known to be formed as a result of attack by ROS (Dizdaroglu, 1993). One of the most important DNA lesion that is also used as a biomarker for cellular oxidative stress and genotoxicity in living organisms is 8-hydroxy-20 - deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) or its oxidation product 8-oxo-20 -deoxyguanosine (8-oxodG). Transition metals play an important role in these oxidative reactions (Nackerdien *et al.*, 1991). Hydroxyl radical attack on the sugar-phosphate backbone of DNA can cause different lesions such as apurinic sites where the base has been removed, fragmentation of deoxyribose causing single-strand breaks and oxidation of the sugar moiety (Dizdaroglu *et al.*, 1975; Breen and Murphy, 1995; Valavanidis *et al.*, 2006).

Lipids in cell membranes are continuously exposed to oxidants from endogenous and exogenous sources and may result in a threat to cells. This leads to lipid peroxidation which involves the formation and propagation of lipid radicals, rearrangement of the double bonds in unsaturated fatty acids which ultimately leads to the destruction of membrane lipids and the production of a variety of breakdown products such as ketones, aldehydes, alcohols, ethers and alkanes (Dianzani and Barrera, 2008; Repetto *et al.*, 2012). Malondialdehyde (MDA) is a product of lipid (polyunsaturated fatty acids) peroxidation in cells caused a result of ROS. MDA in turn reacts with the nucleotides in DNA leading to formation of DNA

adducts (Marnett, 1999). MDA is therefore potentially mutagenic and its presence often indicative of oxidative stress.

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE), the primary cholinesterase in organisms, catalyzes the breakdown of acetylcholine. It is found mainly at neuromuscular junctions and chemical synapses where it terminates synaptic transmission. The enzyme can be inactivated by various chemicals which subsequently leads to acetylcholine accumulation, hyperstimulation of muscarinic and nicotinic receptors and disrupted neurotransmission. This AChE inhibition can therefore result in overstimulation of the central and peripheral nervous systems, resulting in neurotoxic effects, behavioural changes and ultimately death (Xuereb *et al.*, 2009). A number of chemicals such as Cd are known to interfere with AChE activity which may be mediated via ROS (Wang and Wang, 2009). Meaurement of AChE activity can be considered to be a useful biomarker for evaluating the effects of exposure to neurotoxic substances in the aquatic environment (Cajaraville *et al.*, 2000; Matozzo *et al.*, 2005).

The condition index is a measurement of the overall health of an organism by comparing various physical characteristics to give a ratio (eg: shell weight, length, soft tissue weight, etc). Significant variations in meat content may occur in bivalves depending upon the physiological condition and variation in environmental parameters such as availability of metals and petroleum hydrocarbons. Effects in DNA may also cause altered protein production which may result in decreased health of the organism. The condition index is therefore a simple measurement that can be used to provide information about the "wellbeing" of the organism (Mouneyrac *et al.*, 2008).

4.2. Review of Literature

A number of antioxidant enzymes and physiological tests are used in bioindicator organisms to evaluate the effects of contaminants in water bodies. Kamel *et al.* (2014) used a number of biomarkers (catalase, malondialdehyde, acetylcholinesterase, benzo[a]pyrene hydroxylase, glutathione-S-transferase and metallothioneins) to understand the integrated biological response of the mussel, *Mytilus galloprovincialis* collected from Bizerte lagoon, which is a region highly polluted with heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons in Tunisia. In another study, Leiniö and Lehtonen (2005) analyzed the AChE, CAT, glutathione-S-transferase and metallothionein activities in two bivalve species, *Mytilus edulis* and *Macoma balthica* from inshore and offshore sites in the Baltic Sea. These multi-biomarker approaches therefore give a broader perspective of the variable effects of environmental contaminants in the fauna inhabiting these waters.

Boudjema *et al.* (2014) reported a significant increase in CAT activity in the tissues of brown mussels (*Perna perna*) that were exposed to environmentally relevant concentrations of cadmium, lead and copper. Additionally, increasing CAT activity was found to be correlated with increasing concentrations of these metals. An increase in the CAT activity was observed by Jebali *et al.* (2007) in the soft tissues of the clam *Ruditapes decussatus* collected from polluted sites along the coast of Tunisia. The CAT activity was also found to be significantly correlated with oxidative DNA damage in these clams. Significantly high CAT activity was also reported in bivalves, *Scrobicularia plana* and *Cerastoderma edule* from an estuary polluted with sewage discharges and industrial effluents in Morocco (Bergayou *et al.*, 2009). In another biomonitoring study, the CAT activity was found to be significantly higher in the tissues of the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* collected from a coastal area polluted with

heavy metals compared to that collected from an unpolluted site from Greece (Vlahogianni *et al.* 2007).

Oxidative stress quantified by the malondialdehyde activity in the bivalve Modiolus modiolus was found to increase as a consequence of exposure to Cd under laboratory conditions (Dovzhenko et al. 2005). Lipid peroxidation was also reported by Wadige et al. (2017) in the freshwater bivalve Hyridella australis that were exposed to sediments contaminated with metals such as Cd and Zn. Sureda et al. (2013) analyzed the oxidative stress induced by petroleum hydrocarbon in an endemic bivalve Pinna nobilis as a result of exposure to an oil spill in the Mediterranean Sea and reported significant increases in the CAT and MDA activity compared to bivalves collected from an unpolluted area. Romero-Ruiz et al. (2003) reported an increase in MDA levels in the gills of S. plana transplanted to an estuary in Spain contaminated with heavy metals such as Cd, Fe, Mn, and Pb due to mining activities. They also suggested that these metals exerted oxidative stress in these bivalves which could lead to DNA damage. Similarly, in another study, the activities of CAT and MDA were found to be highly significant in Mytilus galloprovincialis at a metal-polluted site on along the coast of Spain (Funes et al., 2005). Zanette et al. (2011) reported an increase in MDA levels of the oyster Crassostrea gigas exposed to different concentrations of diesel oil. They also observed a positive correlation between the salinity and MDA levels indicating that salinity conditions may influence pollutant uptake. Lipid peroxidation was also found to be significantly increased in the tissues of the scallop Pecten maximus exposed to phenanthrene which is also a toxic component of crude oil (Hannam et al., 2010).

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) inhibition is a well-established biomarker of neurotoxic effects and commonly used in aquatic biomonitoring. The seasonal variations in acetylcholinesterase

(AChE) activity in marine snails (Cronia contracta) along the coast of Goa provide an insight into the extent of pollution by neurotoxic substances (Gaitonde et al., 2006). In vitro studies on acetylcholinesterase inhibition by toxic heavy metals (Pb, Cd, and Cu) and netroleum hydrocarbons clearly differentiate the neurotoxic potentials of various contaminants in coastal environment. The antioxidant enzyme CAT and the neurotoxicity biomarkers AChE were used as biomarkers to assess heavy metal and petroleum contamination in the clam S. plana collected from a marsh ecosystem in Spain (Solé et al., 2009). Machreki-Ajmi and Hamza-Chaffai (2008) reported a significant inhibition of AChE activity and an increase in MDA activity in cockles (Cerastoderma glaucum) transplanted from an unpolluted site to a site contaminated with Cd in Tunisia. Mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) exposed to various concentrations of benzo[a]pyrene showed an increase in CAT activity and a subsequent depression of AChE activity as the exposure time increased (Banni et al., 2010). Clams (Ruditapes decussatus) and mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) collected from sites polluted with heavy metals exhibited decreased acetylcholinesterase activity compared to those collected from unpolluted sites in Tunisia (Dellali et al., 2001). Mussels (Perna viridis) transplanted to sites polluted with petroleum hydrocarbons in Hong Kong exhibited significant CAT and lipid peroxidation in their soft tissues (Cheung et al., 2001). Further, these biomarkers were found to be correlated with concentration of PAHs in their soft tissues indicating their genotoxic potential. AChE assay was also used as a biomarker to test the presence of neurotoxic compounds in the clam Tapes philippinarum (Matozzo et al., 2005) and Mytilus galloprovincialis (Lionetto et al., 2003) collected from sites polluted with persistent pollutants in Italy.

The condition index, which is a measure of physiological well-being of an organism has also been used to assess the health of bivalves (Orban *et al.*, 2002; Marin *et al.*, 2003; Filgueira *et al.*, 2013). A significant reduction in the condition index (CI) of the bivalve *Anadara trapezia* experimentally exposed to sediments contaminated with heavy metals such as Cd, Cu and Pb was reported by Taylor and Maher (2015).

4.3. Materials and Methods

4.3.1. Quality assurance and quality control

The appropriate quality assurance methods of sample preparation, handling and preservation were carried out in accordance with US EPA procedures. All chemicals used were of analytical grade from Himedia (Himedia, India) unless specified otherwise.

4.3.2. Maintenance of Meretrix casta

Meretrix casta were maintained as detailed in chapter 3 (section 3.3.2)

1.3.3. Treatment schedule

The treatment schedule is outlined in chapter 3 (section 3.3.3)

.3.4. Catalase assay

Bivalves were dissected and their whole soft body tissues were collected and homogenized in 50 mM of Tris buffer (pH 7.4) containing 0.3M sucrose and 1mM EDTA. This suspension was then centrifuged at 10,000xg for 20 min at 4°C and the supernatant was collected. Catalase activity was carried as per Aebi (1984) based on the decrease in absorbance of the test sample by the decomposition of H₂O₂. The reaction mixture consisted of 13.2 mM H₂O₂ in 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and 0.1 ml of the homogenate. The reduction in absorbance was measured at 240 nm using a multiwall plate reader (Analytical Technologies

Ltd.) at 25°C over 3 minutes. Total protein concentration was measured by Bradford's method (Bradford, 1976). The activity of catalase (CAT) was expressed as μ mol H₂O₂⁻¹min⁻¹mg protein.

4.3.5. Acetylcholinesterase assay

The acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in whole soft body tissues of bivalves was determined using the protocol of Ellman *et al.* (1961) with modifications as described by Galloway *et al.* (2002). Briefly, 50 μ L of sample homogenate was incubated in microtitre plates with 150 μ l DTNB (270 μ M in 50mM sodium phosphate pH 7.4) at 25°C for 5 min. The enzyme activity was initiated by the addition of 3 mM acetylthiocholine iodide and the absorbance was measured at 412 nm. The activity of AChE was expressed as nmol thiocholine⁻¹min⁻¹mg protein.

4.3.6. Malondialdehyde assay

The malondialdehyde (MDA) assay which is used to test lipid peroxidation in the whole soft body tissues of bivalves was carried out using a commercial kit (North West Life Science Specialities-NWK-MDA01). The assay is based on the reaction of MDA with thiobarbituric acid (TBA) forming a pink coloured MDA-TBA₂ adduct that absorbs strongly at 532 nm. Butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) and EDTA are also added to the reaction mixture containing the sample homogenate to minimize oxidation of lipids. The activity of MDA was expressed as nmol MDA¹min⁻¹mg protein.

4.3.7. Condition index

Bivalves were cleaned, dissected and the soft tissues were carefully separated from the hard shells. Both the soft tissue and the shells were placed separately in an oven (REMI) at 60°C

overnight to determine their dry weights (Filgueira et al., 2013). Condition index (CI) was then calculated as follows:

Condition index = $\frac{\text{Dry soft tissue weight (g)}}{\text{Dry shell weight (g)}} \times 100$

4.3.8. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses of the data were carried out using IBM SPSS 23 statistical software package. The data were tested to meet the assumptions of normality and homogeneity prior to subsequent analyses by linear models. The data of the MN test and comet assay from the previous chapter are expressed as percentage values and were therefore arc sine transformed whereas the data of CAT, AChE and MDA assays were log transformed. A one-way ANOVA was applied to test the effect of treatment on the % MN, % Tail DNA, CAT, AChE, MDA and CI with a post hoc Dunnet's test to compare the different groups with the control within the same treatment group. Pearson's correlation was also used to test the relationship between the all the parameters. The data were considered to be statistically significant at p < 0.05.

4.4. Results

4.4.1. Catalase assay

The data on the CAT activity in the bivalves exposed to various concentrations of the pollutants are represented in figs. 4.1.A-G. In the present study, Cd, Pb, TPHs and the pollutant mixture were able to induce oxidative stress as observed by the levels of CAT in the soft tissues of *M. casta*. The CAT activity of bivalves exposed to Cd was significant (p < 0.05) at the 2 and 2.5 µg/L concentrations (fig. 4.3a). In case of Pb and TPHs, CAT activity

was significant (p < 0.05) at the highest dose of 2.5 and 25 µg/L respectively. The pollutant mixture was able to induce significant CAT activity (p < 0.05) at all the concentrations (4.1.G). None of the concentrations of Fe and Cu were able to induce a significant increase of CAT activity in the bivalves.

4.4.2. Malondialdehyde assay

Data on the levels of MDA in the soft tissues of *M. casta* are represented in figs. 4.2.A-G. The MDA content in the bivalves exposed to the highest concentration of Mn were found to be significant (p < 0.05). Cd was able to significantly elevate (p < 0.05) the levels of MDA in the soft tissues of the bivalves at the 2 and 2.5 µg/L concentration. The levels of MDA were also found to be significant in the Pb-exposed bivalves, especially at the 1.5, 2 and 2.5 µg/L concentrations. In the TPH-exposed bivalves, significance of MDA was observed only at the highest concentration of 25 µg/L. In case of the pollutant mixture, MDA levels were significant only at the highest concentration (p < 0.05). On the other hand, Fe and Cu were unable to induce any significant changes in the levels of MDA.

4.4.3. Acetylcholinesterase assay

The data on the AChE activity in the bivalves exposed to various concentrations of the pollutants are represented in figs. 4.3.A-G. The activity of AChE was found to decrease with decreasing concentrations of the pollutants particularly Mn, Cd, Pb, TPHs and the pollutant mixture. Significantly depressed AChE was observed only at the highest concentration (2.5 μ g/L) of Mn. In case of the bivalves exposed to Cd, significant decrease of AChE activity was observed at the 2 and 2.5 μ g/L concentrations, whereas that of the Pb-exposed group was significant at 1.5, 2 and 3.5 μ g/L concentrations (p < 0.05). TPH-exposed bivalves exhibited significant depression of AChE activity at the 20 and 25 μ g/L concentrations. In the pollutant

mixture group, AChE activity was found to be significantly decreased at the medium and high concentrations (p < 0.05). Additionally, AChE activities of the bivalves exposed to Fe and Cu did show any significant changes.

4.4.4. Condition index

The data on the CI of the bivalves exposed to various concentrations of the pollutants are represented in figs. 4.4.A-G. Significant depression of the CI was observed in the bivalves exposed to the highest concentration of Fe (10 μ g/L; p < 0.05). The CI of the bivalves exposed to Mn, Cd and Pb was also found to be significantly decreased at the highest concentration of 2.5 μ g/L (p < 0.05). In the TPH-exposed group, a significant decrease of the CI was observed at the highest concentration of 25 μ g/L. In case of the pollutant mixture, significant decrease of the CI was observed at the medium and high concentrations (p < 0.05). The CL exposed group did not show any significant decrease of the CI ratio at any concentration studied.

4.4.5. Correlation analyses

Correlation analyses were carried out between each pollutant treatment and the biomarker responses and are represented in tables 4.1.A-G. A positive correlation was observed between DNA damage parameters as well as all the biomarkers (Table 4.1a) in the bivalves exposed to TPHs. A high positive correlation was observed between % MN and CAT activity (R = 0.90, p < 0.001) and between % tail DNA and CAT activity (R = 0.92, p < 0.001). Similarly, a high positive correlation was also observed between both DNA damage parameters and MDA (p < 0.001). Significant negative correlations between oxidative stress parameters (CAT and MDA) and AChE were also observed (R = -0.72, p < 0.01 and R = -0.85, p < 0.001). Similarly, the CI was found to be negatively correlated with the DNA

damage parameters as well as with the oxidative stress parameters. In the Fe-exposed group however, correlations were only observed between DNA damage parameters and oxidative stress parameters (Table 4.1.B). No correlations were observed between AChE and DNA damage parameters and oxidative stress parameters. CI also did not correlate with any of the above parameters. In the Mn-exposed group, a significant positive correlation was observed between % MN and CAT (R = 0.56, p < 0.05) as well as between % tail DNA and CAT (R = 0.59, p < 0.05). Significant positive correlations were also observed between both DNA damage parameters and MDA. AChE values correlated with MDA values (R = -0.76, p <0.01), however, no correlation was observed between AChE and CAT. CI also correlated significantly with all the parameters except with CAT activity.

Bivalves exposed to Cu did not display any significant correlation between any of the biomarkers measured in them (Table 4.1.D). The Cd-exposed group (Table 4.1.E) on the other hand exhibited significant correlations between all DNA damage parameters, oxidative stress parameters, AChE and CI (p < 0.001). A similar trend was also observed in the bivalves exposed to Pb (Table 4.1.F). DNA damage parameters correlated significantly with oxidative stress parameters (p < 0.001). Positive correlations were also observed between AChE and DNA damage parameters as well as with oxidative stress parameters. CI also correlated significantly with DNA damage parameters and oxidative stress parameters. Significant correlations were also observed between all the parameters in the bivalves exposed to the pollutant mixture. DNA damage parameters correlated significantly with the oxidative stress parameters (p < 0.001). AChE and CI also correlated significantly with oxidative stress parameters (p < 0.001). AChE and CI also correlated significantly with oxidative stress parameters (p < 0.001).

Biochemical and physiological tests as biomarkers of genotoxicity









Note: * *p* < 0.05

Fig. 4.1. Catalase (CAT) activity in the soft tissues of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of **(C)** manganese dioxide and **(D)** copper chloride





Note: * *p* < 0.05



Fig. 4.1. Catalase (CAT) activity in the soft tissues of *M. casta* (Mean ± SD) exposed to various concentrations of (E) cadmium chloride (F) lead acetate and (G) pollutant mixture

Note: * *p* < 0.05







Note: * *p* < 0.05

Biochemical and physiological tests as biomarkers of genotoxicity

Fig. 4.2. Malondialdehyde (MDA) in the soft tissues of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentration of **(C)** manganese dioxide and **(D)** copper chloride





Note: * *p* < 0.05





Note: * *p* < 0.05

Biochemical and physiological tests as biomarkers of genotoxicity

Fig. 4.3. Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in the soft tissues of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of (A) TPH and (B) iron oxide









Biochemical and physiological tests as biomarkers of genotoxicity

Fig. 4.3. Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in the soft tissues of M. casta (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of **(C)** manganese dioxide and **(D)** copper chloride





Note: * *p* < 0.05

D




Note: * *p* < 0.05

Chapter 4



Fig. 4.4. Condition index (CI) of *M. casta* (Mean \pm SD) exposed to various concentrations of (A) TPH and (B) iron oxide



Note: * *p* < 0.05

Chapter 4

Biochemical and physiological tests as biomarkers of genotoxicity







Note: * *p* < 0.05





Note: * *p* < 0.05

					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
A	% MNi	% Tail DNA	САТ	AChE	MDA	CI
% MNi	-					
%Tail DNA	0.93***	-				
CAT	0.90***	0.92***	-			
AChE	-0.76**	-0.80**	-0.72**	-		
MDA	0.85***	0.89***	0.89***	-0.85**		
CI	-0.78**	-0.86***	-0.82**	0.79**	-0.76**	-

Table 4.1. Correlation matrix between the associations of the biomarker responses in *M. casta* exposed to (A) TPHs and (B) iron oxide

В	% MNi	% Tail DNA	САТ	AChE	MDA	CI
% MNi	-					
%Tail DNA	0.85***	-				
CAT	0.75**	0.76**	-			
AChE	-0.05	-0.19	-0.19	-		
MDA	0.69*	0.65*	0.59*	-0.25	_	
CI	-0.78**	-0.76**	-0.52	0.17	-0.36	-

Note: * *p* < 0.05; ** *p* < 0.01; *** *p* < 0.001

Table 4.1. Correlation matrix between the associations of the biomarker exposed to (C) manganese dioxide and (D) copper chloride	responses in M. casta
--	-----------------------

					T	
C	% MNi	% Tail DNA	САТ	AChE	MDA	CI
% MNi	-		1			
%Tail DNA	0.89***	-				
CAT	0.56*	0.59*	-			
AChE	-0.75**	-0.78**	-0.25	-		<u> </u>
MDA	0.78**	0.85***	0.55*	-0.76**	-	
CI	-0.81**	-0.86***	-0.50	0.69**	-0.75**	-
						1

D	% MNi	% Tail DNA	CAT	AChE	MDA	CI
% MNi	-					
%Tail DNA	0.21	-				
CAT	0.07	0.20	-			
AChE	0.12	0.08	-0.09	-		
MDA	-0.15	0.14	-0.16	-0.14	-	
CI	-0.10	-0.09	-0.08	0.08	0.14	-

Note: * *p* < 0.05; ** *p* < 0.01; *** *p* < 0.001

Table 4.1. Correlation matrix between the associations	of the	biomarker	responses	in <i>M</i> .	casta
exposed to (E) cadmium chloride and (F) lead acetate			·		ouotu

E	% MNi	% Tail DNA	САТ	AChE	MDA	CI
% MNi	-					
%Tail DNA	0.95***					
CAT	0.92***	0.92***	-			
AChE	-0.93***	-0.94***	-0.92***	-		
MDA	0.95***	0.96***	0.89***	-0.92***	-	
CI	-0.86***	-0.90***	-0.87***	0.87***	-0.85***	-

F	% MNi	% Tail DNA	САТ	AChE	MDA	CI
% MNi	-					
%Tail DNA	0.89***	-				
CAT	0.90***	0.91***	-			
AChE	-0.86***	-0.92***	-0.87***	-		
MDA	0.91***	0.84**	0.92***	-0.82**	-	
CI	-0.85***	-0.90***	-0.86***	0.85***	-0.87***	-

Note: ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001

Table 4.1. Correlation matrix between the associations of the biomarker responses in M. casta exposed to (G) the pollutant mixture

G	% MNi	% Tail DNA	САТ	AChE	MDA	CI
% MNi	-					
%Tail DNA	0.95***	-				
CAT	0.92***	0.90***	-			
AChE	-0.94***	-0.90***	-0.91***	-		
MDA	0.95***	0.94***	0.95***	-0.85***	-	
CI	-0.87***	-0.89***	-0.90***	0.87***	-0.86***	-

Note: *** *p* < 0.001

4.5. Discussion

The bivalves exposed to increasing concentrations of TPHs in the present study exhibited significant changes in the activities of CAT, MDA, AChE as well as condition index at the highest concentrations of the pollutants. Our results are on par with that of Frouin *et al.* (2007) in which significant increases of the activities of both CAT and MDA were observed in clams (*Mya arenaria*) exposed to PAHs for a period of 30 days. CAT activity was also found to be elevated in the tissues of the blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*) exposed to the PAHs ornzo[a]pyrene and fluoranthene (Eertman *et al.*, 1995). Our results also find similarity with that of Giannapas *et al.* (2012) in which MDA was found to be significantly increased in the antipacture as well as a combination of both PAHs.

In the present study, Fe and Cu did not induce significant oxidative stress in the bivalves. Zhang *et al.* (2010) also reported non-significant oxidative stress measured by catalase assay in bivalves (*Chlamys farreri*) exposed to environmentally relevant concentrations of Cu. AChE activity was also not found to be significant in the Fe-exposed bivalves. Kádár *et al.* (2010) also reported non-significant AChE activity in the gill cells of the blue mussel *Mytilus* sp. exposed to Fe compared to the negative control.

Besides inducing indirect DNA damage via ROS and inhibiting DNA repair processes, Cd also interferes with enzymes of the cellular antioxidant system (Waisberg *et al.*, 2003). CAT activity in *M. casta* was found to be significantly increased at the 2 and 2.5 μ g/L concentrations of Cd. Similar observations were also recorded by Boudjema *et al.* (2014) in which CAT activity was found to be elevated in the soft tissues of brown mussels (*Perna perna*) exposed to Cd. In this study, significant levels of MDA were also measured in the soft

tissues of bivalves exposed to Cd. These observations are similar to the findings of Geret *et al.* (2002) in which MDA production was found to be elevated in the gills of the clams *Ruditapes decussatus* experimentally exposed to Cd. The activity of AChE in the clams in the present study also showed a decreasing trend with increasing concentration of Cd. Cunha *et al.* (2007) also observed a decrease in the activity of AChE in the soft tissues of two marine gastropods (*Monodonta lineata* and *Nucella lapillus*) exposed to Cd. Cd is thus a potent toxicant that is able to interfere with antioxidant defenses and can cause neurotoxicity to aquatic organisms at low concentrations.

In the present study, Pb was able to induce significant oxidative stress in the soft tissues of the bivalves. These findings are similar to that of Boudjema *et al.* (2014) in which significant elevation of CAT was reported in the brown mussel (*Perna perna*) experimentally exposed to Pb. Our results are also on par with that of Zhang *et al.* (2010) in which bivalves (*Chlamys farreri*) exposed to environmentally relevant concentrations of Pb exhibited significant lipid peroxidation in their soft tissues. Lead is known to contribute to oxidative stress via the formation of ROS. In case of Pb toxicity, these ROS cause lipid peroxidation, measured by the levels of MDA and may lead to cell membrane damage (Yiin and Lin, 1995; Ercal *et al.*, 2001). The activity of AChE was also found to decrease in a concentration-dependent manner in the present study. Labrot *et al.* (1995) also observed a decrease in the AChE activity in a mollusc (*Corbicula* sp.) exposed to Pb under laboratory conditions.

Our results find similarity with that of Wang *et al.* (2011) in which they observed an increase of oxidative stress enzymes in bivalves (*Ruditapes phillipinarium*) exposed to a mixture of Cd and benzo[a]pyrene for a period of 21 days.

A significant negative correlation was observed between the MN test and CI (R = -0.86) as well as between the comet assay and CI (R = 0.9). A similar negative correlation between condition index and tissue levels of environmental contaminants of *Littorina littorea*, *Mytilus* edulis and *Cerastoderma edule* in a river system (Milford Haven Waterway) of Wales, UK was reported by Langston et al. (2012). This decrease of condition of the organism may be attributed to altered DNA function and thereby resulting in an altered protein function which is ultimately required for normal physiological processes. The physiological state of the bivalve can also lead to changes in its feeding activity thereby altering its life cycle as a consequence (Babarro et al., 2000). Another reason for the decrease in the CI ratio could possibly be the survival adaptive response of *M. casta* wherein they reduce the filtration rate or closure of the shell on exposure to contaminants (Akcha, 2000).

4.6. Conclusions

Based on the results obtained in this study, the biomarkers of oxidative stress such as catalase and malondialdehyde activity can be reliably used to assess early signs of toxicity by environmental contaminants. Further, biomarkers such as acetylcholinesterase activity can be used to assess the neurotoxicity of environmental contaminants such as Cd, Pb and TPHs. The condition index can be used as a simple and effective biomarker to assess the physiological condition of the organisms collected from sites of anthropogenic stress. Pollution indicators and genotoxicity tests, combined with other physiological or biochemical parameters can therefore be used for efficient monitoring of aquatic ecosystems in Goa.

Summary

Summa**ry**

The present study reports the pollution status of the Goan Coast by quantifying the levels of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs) and trace metals in the water as well as the sediment of probable polluted sites (Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar) and comparing these values with a control / pristine unpolluted site (Palolem). The probable polluted sites are influenced by considerable anthropogenic inputs such as mining activities, including transport of ores and release of industrial effluents. Water and sediment samples were collected from these sites twice per season (Pre-monsoon, Monsoon and Post-monsoon) from June 2012 to May 2014. The quantity of total PAHs and heavy metals present in the water samples and tissues were analysed using spectrofluorometry and atomic absorption spectrophotometry (AAS), respectively. Physico-chemical parameters of water such as temperature, pH, salinity, dissolved oxygen, phosphates and nitrates were also recorded to supplement the data on trace metals and TPHs for statistical analyses. The concentration of trace metals and TPHs in the water and sediment were found to be highest at Vasco followed by Dona Paula and the least in Miramar.

Genotoxicity studies were carried out in the natural populations of estuarine fauna inhabiting these waters. In this study, finfish viz. Arius arius (Thread-fin sea catfish) and Johnius dussumieiri (Sin croaker) as well as the shell fish Meretrix casta and Meretrix ovum (Estuarine clams) were collected from each of these sites and the extent of DNA damage was evaluated in them employing the micronucleus test and alkaline single cell gel electrophoresis (comet) assay. The genotoxicity tests were supplemented by the quantification of TPHs and heavy metals accumulated in various tissues these organisms. The results showed significant levels of DNA damage as micronuclei (MN) and % tail DNA in the fishes collected from Vasco, Dona Paula and Miramar. Significant concentrations of Summary

TPHs and heavy metals such as iron (Fe) and manganese (Mn) were also observed in the tissues of the fishes collected from these sites. A highly positive correlation was observed between the pollutant levels and DNA damage in all the specimens collected from the polluted sites suggesting the genotoxic nature of these pollutants.

In order to understand the extent of DNA damage induced by trace metals and TPHs, *Meretrix casta* were exposed to these pollutants under laboratory conditions. In this study, bivalves were collected from the intertidal zone with the help of skilled local fishermen from Palolem. They were transported alive to the laboratory and were then allowed to acclimatize in ordinary seawater from Palolem for 30 days. Bivalves were distributed in groups, each containing 10 individuals and were exposed to various concentrations of Fe, Mn, Cu, Cd, Pb and TPHs for 15 days. DNA damage in the form of micronuclei and % tail DNA was observed in *M. casta* exposed to Fe, Mn, Cd, Pb and TPHs. Cu did not induce any significant DNA damage. Further, the mixture of all these pollutants also induced significant DNA damage compared to the controls. A high positive correlation was observed between MN and % tail DNA which measure double and single stranded breaks of DNA respectively.

In order to assess the possible role of the pollutants on various biochemical and physiological parameters which induce DNA damage, bivalves were exposed to various concentrations of heavy metals and TPHs in the laboratory and their catalase (CAT), malondialdehyde (MDA), acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity and condition index (CI) were measured. *M. casta* were distributed in groups, each containing 10 individuals and were exposed to different concentrations of Fe, Mn, Cu, Cd, Pb and TPHs for 15 days. Catalase assay and Malondialdehyde assay were performed to assess the oxidative stress induced in the bivalves. Acetylcholinesterase activity was tested to evaluate the neurotoxic potential of the pollutants.

Summa**ry**

The condition index was performed to measure the physiological condition of exposed bivalves. Fe did not induce significant changes in CAT, MDA and AChE, but a significant decrease in the condition index was observed at the highest dose. Mn was found to significantly decrease the AChe activity at the highest dose. Subsequently an increase of MDA was observed at the highest dose of Mn. Cu did not induce significant changes in any of the parameters. However, Cd, Pb and TPH and the mixture of all the pollutants caused significant increases in CAT and MDA activity, decrease in AChe activity and a decrease in the condition index of the exposed bivalves.

In conclusion, the data for genotoxicity recorded in these finfishes and shellfishes can be used as reference values for future genotoxicity, biochemical or physiological studies of these study sites. Monitoring of these sites is therefore essential to know the "health" of the aquatic environment. Pollution indicators and genotoxicity tests, supplemented with data from oxidative stress, biochemical or physiological parameters can be used for efficient monitoring of aquatic ecosystems in Goa.

Bibliography

- Aas E, Baussant T, Balk L, Liewenborg B, Andersen OK. (2000) PAH metabolites in bile, cytochrome P4501A and DNA adducts as environmental risk parameters for chronic oil exposure: A laboratory experiment with Atlantic cod. Aquat Toxicol. 51: 241–258
- Aboul-Ela HM, Saad AA, El-Sikaily AMA, Zaghloul TI. (2011) Oxidative stress and DNA damage in relation to transition metals overload in Abu-Qir Bay, Egypt. Journal of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology. 9: 51-58
- Abrahim GMS, Parker RJ. (2008) Assessment of heavy metal enrichment factors and the degree of contamination in marine sediments from Tamaki Estuary, Auckland, New Zealand. *Environ Monit Assess.* 136: 227–238
- Aebi H. (1984) Catalase in vitro. Methods Enzymol. 105: 121-126
- Ahmad I, Maria VL, Oliveira M, Serafim A, Bebianno MJ, Pacheco M, Santos MA. (2008)
 DNA damage and lipid peroxidation vs. protection responses in the gill of *Dicentrarchus labrax* L. from a contaminated coastal lagoon (Ria de Aveiro, Portugal). Sci Total Environ. 406: 298-307
- Akcha F, Burgeot T, Budzinski H, Pfohl-Leszkowicz A, Narbonne JF. (2000) Induction and elimination of bulky benzo[a]pyrene-related DNA adducts and 8-oxodGuo in mussels Mytilus galloprovincialis exposed in vivo to B[a]P-contaminated feed. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 205: 19–206
- Alagarsamy R. (2006) Distribution and seasonal variation of trace metals in surface sediment of the Mandovi estuary, west coast of India. *Estuar Coast Shelf Sci.* 67: 333-339

- Alink GM, Quik JT, Penders EJ, Spenkelink A, Rotteveel SG, Maas JL, Hoogenboezem W. (2007) Genotoxic effects in the Eastern mud minnow (*Umbra pygmaea* L.) after exposure to Rhine water, as assessed by use of the SCE and comet Assays: a comparison between 1978 and 2005. *Mutat Res-Gen Tox En.* 631: 93-100
- Al-Sabti K, Metcalfe CD. (1995) Fish micronuclei for assessing genotoxicity in water. Mutat Res. 343: 121-135
- Al-Subiai SN, Moody AJ, Mustafa SA, Jha AN. (2011) A multiple biomarker approach to investigate the effects of copper on the marine bivalve mollusc, *Mytilus edulis*. *Ecotoxol Environ Saf.* 74: 1913-1920
- Amado LL, Robaldo RB, Geracitano L, Monserrat JM, Bianchini A. (2006a) Biomarkers of exposure and effect in the Brazilian flounder *Paralichthys orbignyanus* (Teleostei: Paralichthyidae) from the Patos Lagoon estuary (Southern Brazil). *Mar Pollut Bull.* 52: 207-213
- Amado LL, da Rosa CE, Leite AM, Moraes L, Pires WV, Pinho GLL, Martins CMG,
 Robaldo RB, Nery LEM, Monserrat JM, Bianchini A, Martinez PE, Geracitano LA.
 (2006b) Biomarkers in croakers *Micropogonias furnieri* (Teleostei: Sciaenidae)
 from polluted and non-polluted areas from the Patos Lagoon estuary (Southern Brazil): Evidences of genotoxic and immunological effects. *Mar Pollut Bull.* 52: 199-206
- Ambreen F, Javed M. (2016) Effects of 30 day sub-lethal exposure of cadmium and lead mixture on DNA damage in fish. *The Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences*. 26: 674-679

- Ameur WB, El Megdiche Y, de Lapuente J, Barhoumi B, Trabelsi S, Ennaceur S, Camps L,
 Serret J, Ramos-López D, Gonzalez-Linares J, Touil S, Driss MR, Borràs M. (2015)
 Oxidative stress, genotoxicity and histopathology biomarker responses in *Mugil cephalus* and *Dicentrarchus labrax* gill exposed to persistent pollutants. A field
 study in the Bizerte Lagoon: Tunisia. *Chemosphere*. 2015: 135: 67-74
- Andriėkenaitė L, Baršienė J, Vosylienė MZ. (2007) Studies of micronuclei and other nuclear abnormalities in blood of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) treated with heavy metal mixture and road maintenance salts. *Acta Zoologica Lituanica*. 17: 213-219
- Ansari ZA, Desilva C, Badesab S. (2012) Total petroleum hydrocarbon in the tissues of some commercially important fishes of the Bay of Bengal. *Mar Pollut Bull.* 64: 2564-2568
- Attri K, Kerkar S. (2011) Seasonal Assessment of Heavy Metal Pollution in Tropical Mangrove Sediments (Goa, India). *Journal of Ecobiotechnology*. 3: 9-15
- Babarro JMF, Fernández-Reiriz MJ, Labarta U. (2000) Feeding behavior of seed mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis: environmental parameters and seed origin. J Shellfish Res. 19: 195–201
- Bakan G, Böke Özkoç H. (2007) An ecological risk assessment of the impact of heavy metals in surface sediments on biota from the mid-Black Sea coast of Turkey. Int J Environ Stud. 64: 45–57
- Baker TJ, Tyler CR, Galloway TS. (2014) Impacts of metal and metal oxide nanoparticles on marine organisms. *Environ Pollut*. 186: 257-271

- Balk L, Hylland K, Hansson T, Berntssen MH, Beyer J, Jonsson G, Melbye A, Grung M, Torstensen BE, Børseth JF, Skarphedinsdottir H, Klungsøyr J. (2011) Biomarkers in natural fish populations indicate adverse biological effects of offshore oil production. *PLoS ONE*. 6 e19735, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019735
- Banerjee K, Senthilkumar B, Purvaja R, Ramesh R. (2012) Sedimentation and trace metal distribution in selected locations of Sundarbans mangroves and Hooghly estuary, Northeast coast of India. *Environ Geochem Health*. 34: 27–42
- Banni M, Negri A, Dagnino A, Jebali J, Ameur S, Boussetta H. (2010) Acute effects of benzo[a]pyrene on digestive gland enzymatic biomarkers and DNA damage on mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis. Ecotoxol Environ Saf. 73: 842-848
- Barfield ML, Farris JL, Black MC. (2001) Biomarker and bioaccumulation responses of Asian clams exposed to aqueous cadmium. J Toxicol Environ Health A. 63: 495-510
- Baršienė J, Andreikėnaitė L. (2007) Induction of micronuclei and other nuclear abnormalities in blue mussels exposed to crude oil from the North Sea. *Ekologija*. 53: 9–15
- Baršiene J, Lazutka J, Šyvokiene J, Dedonyte V, Rybakovas A, Bjornstad A, Andersen OK. (2004) Analysis of micronuclei in blue mussels and fish from the Baltic and the North Seas. *Environ Toxicol.* 19: 365-371
- Baršiene J, Dedonyte V, Rybakovas A, Andreikenait L, Andersen OK. (2006a) Investigation of micronuclei and other nuclear abnormalities in peripheral blood and kidney of marine fish treated with crude oil. *Aquat Toxicol*. 78S: 99–104

164

- Baršiene J, Schiedek D, Rybakovas A, Syvokiene J, Kopecka J, Förlin L. (2006b) Cytogenetic and cytotoxic effects in gill cells of the blue mussel *Mytilus* spp. from different zones of the Baltic Sea. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 53: 469-78
- Baršiene J, Andreikenaite L. Rybakovas A. (2006c) Cytogenetic damage in perch (Perca fluviatilis L.) and Duck mussel (Anodonta anatina L.) exposed to crude oil. Ekologija. 1: 25-31
- Baršiene J, Andreikenaite L, Garnaga G, Rybakovas A. (2008) Genotoxic and cytotoxic effects in the bivalve mollusks *Macoma balthica* and *Mytilus edulis* from the Baltic Sea. Ekologija. 54: 44–50
- Baršiene J, Rybakovas A, Garnaga G, Andreikenaite L. (2012) Environmental genotoxicity and cytotoxicity studies in mussels before and after an oil spill at the marine oil terminal in the Baltic Sea. *Environ Monit Assess.* 184: 2067–2078
- Baršiene J, Rybakovas A, Lang T, Andreikenaite L, Michailovas A. (2013) Environmental genotoxicity and cytotoxicity levels in fish from the North Sea offshore region and Atlantic coastal waters. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 68: 106–116
- Baršiene J, Butrimavičienė L, Michailovas A, Grygiel W. (2015) Assessing the environmental genotoxicity risk in the Baltic Sea: frequencies of nuclear buds in blood erythrocytes of three native fish species. *Environ Monit Assess.* 187: 4078
- Bat L, Gökkurt O, Sezgin M, Üstün F, Sahin F. (2009) Evaluation of the Black Sea land based sources of pollution the coastal region of Turkey. *The Open Marine Biology Journal*. 3: 112-124

- Begum A, Mustafa AI, Amin MN, Chowdhury TR, Quraishi SB, Banu N. (2013) Levels of heavy metals in tissues of shingi fish (*Heteropneustes fossilis*) from Buriganga River, Bangladesh. Environ Monit Assess. 185: 5461-5469
- Bellas J, Ekelund R, Halldorsson HP, Berggren M, Granmo A (2007) Monitoring of organic compounds and trace metals during a dredging episode in the Göta Älv Estuary (SW Sweden) using caged mussels. *Water Air Soil Poll.* 181: 265-279
- Bergayou H, Mouneyrac C, Pellerin J, Moukrim A. (2009) Oxidative stress responses in bivalves (Scrobicularia plana, Cerastoderma edule) from the Oued Souss estuary (Morocco). Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 72: 765-769
- Berger B, Dallinger R, Thomaser A. (1995) Quantification of metallothionein as a biomarker for cadmium exposure in terrestrial gastropods. *Environ Toxicol Chem.* 14: 781– 791
- Bertin G, Averbeck D. (2006) Cadmium: cellular effects, modifications of biomolecules, modulation of DNA repair and genotoxic consequences (a review). *Biochimie*. 88: 1549-1559
- Bhosle NB. (2007) Distribution of tributyltin (TBT) in the Mandovi Estuary. In: The Mandovi and Zuari Estuaries (eds. Shetye SR, Dileep Kumar M, Shankar D), National Institute of Oceanography, Goa. pp 105-113
- Bihari N, Fafandel M. (2004) Interspecies differences in DNA single strand breaks caused by benzo(α)pyrene and marine environment. *Mutat Res-Fund Mol M.* 552: 209-217

- Bistodeau TJ, Barber LB, Bartell SE, Cediel RA, Grove KJ. (2006) Larval exposure to environmentally relevant mixtures of alkylphenolethoxylates reduces reproductive competence in male fathead minnows. *Aquat Toxicol*. 79: 268–77
- Black MC, Ferrell JR, Horning RC, Martin LK. (1996) DNA strand breakage in freshwater mussels (Anodonta grandis) exposed to lead in the laboratory and field. Environ Toxicol Chem. 15: 802–808
- Bolognesi C, Cirillo S. (2014) Genotoxicity biomarkers in aquatic bioindicators. Curr Zool. 60:273–284
- Bolognesi C, Hayashi M. (2011) Review: Micronucleus assay in aquatic animals. Mutagenesis. 26: 205–213
- Bolognesi C, Frenzilli G, Lasagna C, Perrone E, Roggieri P. (2004) Genotoxicity biomarkers in Mytilus galloprovincialis: wild versus caged mussels. Mutat Res-Fund Mol M. 552: 153-162
- Bonnard M, Roméo M, Amiard-Triquet C. (2009) Effects of Copper on the Burrowing Behavior of Estuarine and Coastal Invertebrates, the Polychaete Nereis diversicolor and the Bivalve Scrobicularia plana. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal. 15: 11-26
- Boonyatumanond R, Wattayakorn G, Togo A, Takada H. (2006) Distribution and origins of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in riverine, estuarine, and marine sediments in Thailand. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 52: 942–956

- Boran M, Altinok I. (2010) A review of heavy metals in water, sediment and living organisms in the Black Sea. Turk J Fish Aquat Sc. 10: 565-572
- Boudjema, K, Kourdali S, Bounakous N, Meknachi A, Badis A. (2014) Catalase Activity in Brown Mussels (*Perna perna*) under Acute Cadmium, Lead, and Copper Exposure and Depuration Tests. *Journal of Marine Biology*. 2014: 1-9
- Bradford MM. (1976) Rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal Biochem. 72: 248–254
- Breen AP, Murphy JA. (1995) Reactions of oxyl radicals with DNA. Review. Free Radicals Biol Med. 18: 1033–1077
- Bureau of Indian Standards. (1988) Indian Standard: Methods of wastewater sampling and test (physical and chemical) for water and wastewater, Part 31: Phosporous. 3025: 31
- Buxton GV, Greenstock CL, Helman WP, Ross AB. (1988). Critical review of rate constants for reactions of hydrated electrons, hydrogen atoms and hydroxyl radicals. *Phys Chem Ref Data*. 17: 513–517
- ^{Cachot J,} Geffard O, Augagneur S, Lacroix S, Le Menach K, Peluhet L, Couteau J, Denier X, Devier MH, Pottier D, Budzinski H. (2006) Evidence of genotoxicity related to high PAH content of sediments in the upper part of the Seine estuary (Normandy, France). Aquat Toxicol. 79: 257-267

- Cadet J, Berget M, Douki T, Ravanat JL. (1997) Oxidative damage to DNA: formation measurements, and biological significance. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol.* 131: 1-87
- Cajaraville MP, Bebianno MJ, Blasco J, Porte C, Sarasquete C, Viarengo A. (2000) The use of biomarkers to assess the impact of pollution in coastal environments of the Iberian Peninsula: a practical approach. *Sci Total Environ*. 247: 295-311
- Catsiki VA, Florou H. (2006) Study on the behavior of the heavy metals Cu, Cr, Ni, Zn, Fe, Mn and 137Cs in an estuarine ecosystem using *Mytilus galloprovincialis* as a bioindicator species: the case of Thermaikos Gulf, Greece. J Environ Radioact. 86: 31-44
- Cavaş T, Ergene-Gozukara S. (2005) Micronucleus test in fish cells: a bioassay for *in situ* monitoring of genotoxic pollution in the marine environment. *Environ Mol Mutagen.* 46: 64-70
- Cavaş T, Garankob NN, Arkhipchuk VV. (2005) Induction of micronuclei and binuclei in blood, gill and liver cells of fishes subchronically exposed to cadmium chloride and copper sulphate. *Food Chem Toxicol*. 43: 569–574
- Çelik A, Büyükakilli B, Çimen B, Taşdelen B, Öztürk MI, Eke D. (2009) Assessment of cadmium genotoxicity in peripheral blood and bone marrow tissues of male Wistar rats. *Toxicology Mechanisms and Methods*. 19: 135-140

- Cheung CC, Zheng GJ, Li AM, Richardson BJ, Lam PK. (2001) Relationships between tissue concentrations of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and antioxidative responses of marine mussels, *Perna viridis*. *Aquat Toxicol*. 52: 189-203
- Chouksey MK, Kadam AN, Zingde MD. (2004) Petroleum hydrocarbon residues in the marine environment of Bassein-Mumbai. Mar Pollut Bull. 49: 637-647
- Cooke MS, Evans MD, Dizdaroglu M, Lunec J. (2003) Oxidative DNA damage: mechanisms, mutation, and disease. *The FASEB Journal*. 17: 1195-1214
- Costa PM, Lobo J, Caeiro S, Martins M, Ferreira AM, Caetano M, Vale C, DelValls TA, Costa MH. (2008) Genotoxic damage in *Solea senegalensis* exposed to sediments from the Sado Estuary (Portugal): Effects of metallic and organic contaminants. *Mutat Res-Gen Tox En*. 654: 29-37
- Costa PM, Neuparth TS, Caeiro S, Lobo J, Martins M, Ferreira AM, Caetano M, Vale C, DelValls TA, Costa MH. (2011) Assessment of the genotoxic potential of contaminated estuarine sediments in fish peripheral blood: laboratory versus *in situ* studies. *Environ Res.* 111: 25-36
- Coughlan BM, Hartl MGJ, O'Reilly SJ, Sheehan D, Morthersill C, van Pelt FNAM, O'Halloran J, O'Brien NM. (2002) Detecting genotoxicity using the Comet assay following chronic exposure of Manila clam *Tapes semidecussatus* to polluted estuarine sediments. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 44: 1359-1365
- Cunha I, Mangas-Ramirez E, Guilhermino L. (2007) Effects of copper and cadmium on cholinesterase and glutathione S-transferase activities of two marine gastropods

(Monodonta lineata and Nucella lapillus). Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 145: 648-57

- Da Silva Souza T, Fontanetti CS. (2006) Micronucleus test and observation of nuclear alterations in erythrocytes of Nile tilapia exposed to waters affected by refinery effluent. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* 605: 87–93
- Dallas LJ, Cheung VV, Fisher AS, Jha AN. (2013) Relative sensitivity of two marine bivalves for detection of genotoxic and cytotoxic effects: a field assessment in the Tamar Estuary, South West England. *Environ Monit Assess.* 185: 3397–3412
- de Andrade VM, da Silva J, da Silva FR, Heuser VD, Dias JF, Yoneama ML, Freitas TR. (2004) Fish as bioindicators to assess the effects of pollution in two southern Brazilian rivers using the comet assay and micronucleus test. *Environ Mol Mutagen.* 44: 459–468
- de Lafontaine Y, Gagné F, Blaise C, Costan G, Gagnon P, Chan HM. (2000) Biomarkers in zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) for the assessment and monitoring of water quality of the St Lawrence River (Canada). *Aquat Toxicol.* 50: 51-71
- Dearfield KL, Cimino MC, McCarroll NE, Mauer I, Valcovic LR. (2002) Genotoxicity risk assessment: a proposed classification strategy. *Mutat Res-Gen Tox En.* 521: 121-135
- Dellali M, Barelli MG, Romeo M, Aissa P. (2001) The use of acetylcholinesterase activity in Ruditapes decussatus and Mytilus galloprovincialis in the biomonitoring of Bizerta lagoon. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 130: 227–235

- Dessai DV, Nayak GN, Basavaiah N. (2009) Grain size, geochemistry, magnetic susceptibility: Proxies in identifying sources and factors controlling distribution of metals in a tropical estuary, India. *Estuar Coast Shelf Sci.* 85: 307–318
- Dessai DV, Nayak GN. (2008) Distribution and speciation of selected metals in surface sediments, from the tropical Zuari estuary, central west coast of India. *Environ Monit Assess.* 158:117-137
- Dévier MH, Dû-Lacoste ML, Akcha F, Morin B, Peluhet L, Menach KL, Burgeot T, Budzinski H. (2013) Biliary PAH metabolites, EROD activity and DNA damage in dab (*Limanda limanda*) from Seine Estuary (France). *Environ Sci Pollut Res.* 20: 708–722
- Di Donato G, De Matthaeis E, Ronci L, Setini A. (2016) Genotoxicity biomarkers in the amphipod *Gammarus elvirae* exposed in vivo to mercury and lead, and basal levels of DNA damage in two cell types. *Chemistry and Ecology*. 32: 843-857
- Dianzani M, Barrera G. (2008) Pathology and physiology of lipid peroxidation and its carbonyl products. In: Free Radical Pathophysiology (eds. Álvarez S, Evelson P), Transworld Research Network, Kerala, India. pp. 19–38
- Dias HQ, Nayak GN. (2016) Geochemistry and bioavailability of mudflats and mangrove sediments and their effect on bioaccumulation in selected organisms within a tropical (Zuari) estuary, Goa, India. Mar Pollut Bull. 105: 227-236

172

- Dizdaroglu, M. (1993). Chemistry of free radical damage to DNA and nucleoproteins. In: DNA and Free Radicals (eds. Halliwell, B., Aruoma, O.I.) Ellis Horwood, Ltd., Chichester, pp. 19-39
- Dizdaroglu M, Schulte-Frohlinde D, von Sonntag C. (1975) Strand breaks and sugar release by g-irradiation of DNA in aqueous solution. JAm Chem Soc. 97: 2277–2278
- Domouhtsidou GP, Dimitriadis VK. (2000) Ultrastructural localization of heavy metals (Hg, Ag, Pb, and Cu) in gills and digestive gland of mussels, *Mytilus* galloprovincialis (L). Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 38: 472–478
- Dovzhenko NV, Kurilenko AV, Bel'cheva NN, Chelomin VP. (2005) Cadmium-induced oxidative stress in the bivalve mollusk *Modiolus modiolus*. *Russian Journal of Marine Biology*. 31: 309–313
- du Preez H, van Rensburg E, van Vuren JH. (1993) Preliminary laboratory investigation of the bioconcentration of zinc and iron in selected tissues of the banded Tilapia, *Tilapia sparrmanii* (Cichlidae). *B Environ Contam Tox*. 50: 674-681
- EC. (2005) European Community. Commission Regulation No 78/2005 Official Journal of the European Union (20.1.2005) pp. L16/43–L16/45
- Eertman RH, Groenink CL, Sandee B, Hummel H, Smaal AC. (1995) Response of the blue mussel Mytilus edulis L. following exposure to PAHs or contaminated sediment. Mar Environ Res. 39: 169-173
- Ellman GL, Courtney KD, Andres V, Featherstone RM. (1961) A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 7: 88-95

- EPA (1972) Method 352.1: Nitrogen, nitrate (colourimetric, Brucine) by spectrophotometer. Methods for the Chemical Analysis of Water and Wastes (MCAWW) (EPA/600/4-79/020)
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). (1971) The health hazards associated with the consumption of shellfish from polluted waters.
- Ercal N, Gurer-Orhan H, Aykin-Burns N. (2001). Toxic metals and oxidative stress part I: mechanisms involved in metal induced oxidative damage. *Curr Top Med Chem.* 1: 529-539
- Ergene S, Çavaş T, Çelik A, Köleli N, Kaya F, Karahan A. (2007) Monitoring of nuclear abnormalities in peripheral erythrocytes of three fish species from the Goksu Delta (Turkey): genotoxic damage in relation to water pollution. *Ecotoxicology*. 16: 385-391
- FAO. (1983) Food and Agricultural organization, FAO, Rome. Compilation of legal limits for hazardous substances in fish and fishery products. Fisheries Circular No. 764
- Fedato RP, Simonato JD, Martinez CB, Sofia SH. (2010) Genetic damage in the bivalve mollusk Corbicula fluminea induced by the water-soluble fraction of gasoline. Mutat Res-Gen Tox En. 700: 80-85
- Fenech M, Chang WP, Kirsch-Volders M, Holland N, Bonassi S, Zeiger E. (2003) HUMN project: detailed description of the scoring criteria for the cytokinesis-block

micronucleus assay using isolated human lymphocyte cultures. Mutat Res-Gen Tox En. 534: 65-75

- Fernández-Tajes J, Flórez F, Pereira S, Rábade T, Laffon B, Méndez J. (2011) Use of three bivalve species for biomonitoring a polluted estuarine environment. *Environ Monit Assess.* 177: 289-300
- Ferraro MV, Fenocchio AS, Mantovani MS, de Oliveira Ribeiro C, Cestari MM. (2004) Mutagenic effects of tributyltin and inorganic lead (Pb II) on the fish *H. malabaricus* as evaluated using the comet assay and the piscine micronucleus and chromosome aberration tests. *Genetics and Molecular Biology*. 27: 103-107
- Filgueira R, Comeau LA, Landry T, Grant J, Guyondet T, Mallet A. (2013) Bivalve condition index as an indicator of aquaculture intensity: A meta-analysis. *Ecological Indicators*. 25: 215–229
- Fourie F, Reinecke SA, Reinecke AJ. (2007) The determination of earthworm species sensitivity differences to cadmium genotoxicity using the comet assay. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* 67: 361–368
- Frouin H, Pellerin J, Fournier M, Pelletier E, Richard P, Pichaud N, Rouleau C, Garnerot F. (2007) Physiological effects of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on soft-shell clam Mya arenaria. Aquat Toxicol. 82: 120-134
- Fu J, Hu X, Tao X, Yu H, Zhang X. (2013) Risk and toxicity assessments of heavy metals in sediments and fishes from the Yangtze River and Taihu Lake, China. *Chemosphere*. 93: 1887-1895

- Funes V, Alhama J, Navas JI, López-Barea J, Peinado J. (2006) Ecotoxicological effects of metal pollution in two mollusc species from the Spanish South Atlantic littoral. *Environ Pollut*. 139: 214-223
- Gabbianelli R, Lupidi G, Villarini M, Falcioni G. (2003) DNA damage induced by copper on erythrocytes of gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata* and mollusk *Scapharca* inaequivalvis. Arch Environ Contam Tox. 45: 350–356
- Gaitonde D, Sarkar A, Kaisary S, D'Silva C, Rao DP, Ray D, Nagarajan R, De Souza SN, Sarkar S, Patil D. (2006) Acetylcholinesterase activities in marine snail (*Cronia contracta*) as a biomarker of neurotoxic contaminants along the Goa coast, West coast of India. *Ecotoxicology*. 15: 353-358
- Galloway TS, Millward N, Browne MA, Depledge MH. (2002) Rapid assessment of organophosphorous/carbamate exposure in the bivalve mollusk *Mytilus edulis* using combined esterase activities as biomarkers. *Aquat Toxicol*. 61: 169–180
- Gangar SC, Sandhir R, Koul A. (2010) Anti-clastogenic activity of Azadirachta indica against benzo(a)pyrene in murine fore stomach tumorigenesis bioassay. Acta Pol Pharm. 67: 381-390
- Gauthier PT, Norwood WP, Prepas EE, Pyle GG. (2015) Metal-Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon mixture toxicity in *Hyalella azteca*. 1. Response surfaces and isoboles to measure non-additive mixture toxicity and ecological risk. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 49:11780-11788

- Geret F, Serafim A, Barreira L, Bebianno MJ. (2002) Effect of cadmium on antioxidant enzyme activities and lipid peroxidation in the gills of the clam *Ruditapes* decussatus. Biomarkers. 7: 242-56
- Giannapas M, Karnis L, Dailianis S. (2012) Generation of free radicals in haemocytes of mussels after exposure to low molecular weight PAH components: Immune activation, oxidative and genotoxic effects. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 155: 182-189
- Ginebreda A, Kuzmanovic M, Guasch H, López de Alda M, López-Doval JC, Muñoz I, Ricart M, Romaní AM, Sabater S, Barceló D. (2014) Assessment of multi-chemical pollution in aquatic ecosystems using toxic units: Compound prioritization, mixture characterization and relationships with biological descriptors. *Sci Total Environ*. 468/469: 715–723
- Gomes T, Araújo O, Pereira R, Almeida AC, Cravo A, Bebianno MJ. (2013) Genotoxicity of copper oxide and silver nanoparticles in the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. *Mar Environ Res.* 84: 51-59
- González PM, Abele D, Puntarulo S. (2010) Exposure to excess dissolved iron in vivo affects oxidative status in the bivalve Mya arenaria. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 152: 167-174
- Guidi P, Frenzilli G, Benedetti M, Bernardeschi M, Falleni A, Fattorini D, Regoli F, Scarcelli V, Nigro M. (2010) Antioxidant, genotoxic and lysosomal biomarkers in the freshwater bivalve (*Unio pictorum*) transplanted in a metal polluted river basin.
 Aquat Toxicol. 100: 75-83

- Gusso-Choueri PK, Choueri RB, Santos GS, de Araújo GS, Cruz AC, Stremel T, de Campos SX, Cestari MM, Ribeiro CA, de Sousa Abessa DM. (2016) Assessing genotoxic effects in fish from a marine protected area influenced by former mining activities and other stressors. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 104: 229-239
- Gutiérrez JM, da Conceição MB, Molisani MM, Weber LI. (2018) Genotoxicity biomonitoring along a coastal zone under influence of offshore petroleum exploration (Southeastern Brazil). *B Environ Contam Toxicol.* 100: 338–343
- Hallanger IG, Warner NA, Ruus A, Evenset A, Christensen G, Herzke D, Gabrielsen GW,
 Borga K. (2011) Seasonality in contaminant accumulation in arctic marine pelagic
 food webs using trophic magnification factor as a measure of bioaccumulation, *Environ Toxicol Chem.* 30: 1026–1035
- Hamoutene D, Payne JF, Rahimtula A, Lee K. (2002) Use of the comet assay to assess DNA damage in hemocytes and digestive gland cells of mussels and clams exposed to water contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons. *Mar Environ Res.* 54: 471-474
- Hannam ML, Bamber SD, Galloway TS, Moody AJ, Jones MB. (2010) Effects of the model PAH phenanthrene on immune function and oxidative stress in the haemolymph of the temperate scallop *Pecten maximus*. *Chemosphere*. 78: 779-784
- Hartmann A, Elhajouji A, Kiskinis E, Poetter F, Martus HJ, Fjällman A, Frieauff W, Suter
 W. (2001) Use of the alkaline assay for industrial genotoxicity screening:
 comparative investigation with the micronucleus test. *Food Chem Toxicol.* 39: 843–858

- Hartwig A, Schwerdtle T. (2002) Interactions by carcinogenic metal compounds with DNA repair processes: toxicological implications. *Toxicol Lett.* 127: 47-54
- IAEA. (2003) International atomic energy Agency. Trace Elem. methylmercury Fish. Tissue. 407: 4
- IBM (Indian Bureau of Mines, Minsitry of Mines, Govt of India). (2014a) Iron ore. Indian Minerals Yearbook. 51st Edition: 28: 1-35
- IBM (Indian Bureau of Mines, Minsitry of Mines, Govt of India). (2014b) Manganese ore. Indian Minerals Yearbook. 51st Edition: 34: 1-25
- Ivanina AV, Sokolov EP, Sokolova IM. (2010) Effects of cadmium on anaerobic energy metabolism and mRNA expression during air exposure and recovery of an intertidal mollusk Crassostrea virginica. Aquat Toxicol. 99: 330–342
- Jayaram KC. (1984) Ariidae. In: FAO species identification sheets for fishery purposes. Western Indian Ocean fishing area (eds. Fischer W, Bianchi G) 51. Vol. 1. FAO, Rome
- Jebali J, Banni M, Guerbej H, Almeida EA, Bannaoui A, Boussetta H. (2006) Effects of malathion and cadmium on acetylcholinesterase activity and metallothionein levels in the fish *Seriola dumerilli*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 32:93
- Jebali J, Banni M, Alves E, Almeida DE, Boussetta H. (2007) Oxidative DNA damage levels and catalase activity in the clam *Ruditapes decussatus* as pollution biomarkers of Tunisian marine environment. *Environ Monit Assess.* 124: 195–200

- Ji C, Cao L, Li F. (2015) Toxicological evaluation of two pedigrees of clam *Ruditapes* philippinarum as bioindicators of heavy metal contaminants using metabolomics. Environ Toxicol Pharm. 39: 545-554
- Jing G, Li Y, Xie L, Zhang R. (2006) Metal accumulation and enzyme activities in gills and digestive gland of pearl oyster (*Pinctada fucata*) exposed to copper. *Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol.* 144: 184-190
- Jing-jing M, Lu-qing P, Jing L, Lin Z. (2009) Effects of benzo[a]pyrene on DNA damage and histological alterations in gonad of scallop Chlamys farreri. Mar Environ Res. 67: 47-52
- Kacar A, Pazi I, Gonul T, Kucuksezgin F. (2016) Marine pollution risk in a coastal city: use of an eco-genotoxic tool as a stress indicator in mussels from the Eastern Aegean Sea. Environ Sci Pollut Res. 23: 16067–16078
- Kádár E, Lowe DM, Solé M, Fisher AS, Jha AN, Readman JW, Hutchinson JW. (2010) Uptake and biological responses to nano-Fe versus soluble FeCl₃ in excised mussel gills. Anal Bioanal Chem. 396: 657–666
- Kamel N, Burgeot T, Banni M, Chalghaf M, Devin S, Minier C, Boussetta H. (2014) Effects of increasing temperatures on biomarker responses and accumulation of hazardous substances in rope mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) from Bizerte lagoon. *Environ Sci Pollut Res.* 21: 6108–6123
- Katsumiti A, Valdez-Domingos FX, Azevedo M, da Silva MD, Damian RC, Almeida MIM, Silva de Assis HC, Cestari MM, Randi MAF, Oliveira-Ribeiro CA, Freire CA.
(2009) An assessment of acute biomarker responses in the demersal catfish *Cathorops spixii* after the Vicuña Oil Spill in a harbour estuarine area in Southern Brazil. *Environ Monit Assess.* 152: 209-222

- Kehrig HA, Pinto FN, Moreira I, Malm O. (2003) Heavy metals and methylmercury in a tropical coastal estuary and a mangrove in Brazil. Org Geochem. 34: 661–669
- Kessarkar PM, Suja S, Sudheesh V, Srivastava S, Rao VP. (2015) Iron ore pollution in Mandovi and Zuari estuarine sediments and its fate after mining ban. *Environ Monit* Assess. 187: 572
- King C, Myrthil M, Carroll MA, Catapane EJ. (2008) Effects of p-Aminosalicylic acid on the neurotoxicity of manganese and levels of dopamine and serotonin in the nervous system and innervated organs of *Crassostrea virginica*. *In Vivo*. 29: 26–34.
- Kligerman AD. (1982) Fishes as biological detectors of the effects of genotoxic agents. In:
 Mutagenicity: New Horizons in Genetic Toxicology (ed. Heddle JA). Academic
 Press, New York, pp. 435-453
- Klobucar GI, Pavlica M, Erben R, Papes D. (2003) Application of the micronucleus test and comet assay to mussel *Dreissena polymorpha* haemocytes for genotoxicity monitoring of freshwater environments. *Aquat Toxicol.* 64: 15–23
- Konca K, Lankoff A, Banasik A, Lisowska H, Kuszewski T, Gózdz S, Koza Z, Wojcik A. (2003) A cross-platform public domain PC image-analysis program for the comet assay. *Mutat Res-Gen Tox En.* 534: 15–20

- Koski RA. (2012) Metal dispersion resulting from mining activities in coastal environments: A pathways approach. *Oceanography*. 25: 170–183
- Krishnakumar PK, Casillas E, Varanasi U. (1994) Effects of environmental contaminants on the health of *Mytilus edulis* from Puget Sound, Washington, USA. I. Cytochemcal measures of lysosomal responses in the digestive cells using automatic image analysis. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser.* 106: 249-261
- Krishnakumar PK, Casillas E, Varanasi U. (1995) Effects of environmental contaminants on the health of *Mytilus edulis* from Puget Sound, Washington, USA. II. Cytochemical detection of subcellular changes in the digestive cells. *Mar Biol*. 124: 251 - 259
- Krishnakumar PK, Geetha S, Bhat GS, Asokan DPK. (2006) Biomarkers of environmental contaminants in field populations of green mussel (*Perna viridis*) from Karnataka-Kerala coast (South West coast of India). *Ecotoxicology*. 15: 347-352
- Kumar SP, Patterson EJK. (2009) Assessment of metal concentration in the sediment cores of Manakudy estuary, south west coast of India. *Indian J Mar Sci.* 38: 235-248
- Kumaravel TS, Jha AN. (2006) Reliable Comet Assay measurements for detecting DNA damage induced by ionising radiation and chemicals. *Mutat Res-Gen Tox En.* 605: 7–16
- Labrot F, Ribera D, Denis MS, Narbonne JF. (1995) In vitro and in vivo studies of potential biomarkers of lead and uranium contamination: lipid peroxidation, acetylcholinesterase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase activities in three nonmammalian species. *Biomarkers*. 1: 21-28

- Langston WJ, O'Hara S, Pope ND, Davey M, Shortridge E, Imamura M, Harino H, Kim A, Vane CH. (2012) Bioaccumulation surveillance in Milford Haven Waterway. Environ Monit Assess. 184: 289-311
- Lee RF, Steinert S. (2003) Use of the single cell gel electrophoresis / comet assay for detecting DNA damage in aquatic (marine and freshwater) animals. Review. *Mutat* Res-Rev Mutat. 544: 43-64
- Lee RF. (1985) Metabolism of tributyltin oxide by crabs, oysters and fish. *Mar Environ Res.* 17: 145–148
- Legierse KC, Sijm DT, van Leeuwen CJ, Seinen W, Hermens JLM. (1998) Bioconcentration kinetics of chlorobenzenes and the organophosphorus pesticide chlorthion in the pond snail Lymnaea stagnalis – a comparison with the guppy Poecilia reticulata. Aquat Toxicol. 41: 301–323
- Leiniö S, Lehtonen KK. (2005) Seasonal variability in biomarkers in the bivalves Mytilus edulis and Macoma balthica from the Northern Baltic Sea. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 140: 408-421
- Lemiere S, Cossu-Leguille C, Charissou AM, Vasseur P. (2005) DNA damage (comet assay) and 8-oxodGuo (HPLC-EC) in relation to oxidative stress in the freshwater bivalve Unio tumidus. Journal of Biomarkers. 10: 41-57
- Li Q, Wu Z, Chu B, Zhang N, Cai S, Fang J. (2007) Heavy metals in coastal wetland sediments of the Pearl River Estuary, China. *Environ Pollut*. 149: 158-164

- Lionetto MG, Caricato R, Giordano ME, Pascariello MF, Marinosci L, Schettino T. (2003) Integrated use of biomarkers (acetylcholinesterase and antioxidant enzymes activities) in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* and *Mullus barbatus* in an Italian coastal marine area. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 46: 324-330
- Liu J, Qu W, Kadiiska MB. (2009) Role of oxidative stress in cadmium toxicity and carcinogenesis. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*. 238: 209–214
- Livingstone DR, Forlin L, George S. (1994) Molecular biomarkers and toxic consequences of impact by organic pollution in aquatic organisms. *In*: Water Quality and Stress Indicators in Marine and Freshwater Systems: Linking Levels of Organization (ed. Sutcliffe DW) Freshwater Biological Association, Ambleside, UK, pp. 1171–1254
- Lloyd DR, Phillips DH. (1999) Oxidative DNA damage mediated by copper(II), iron(II) and nickel(II) Fenton reactions: evidence for site-specific mechanisms in the formation of double-strand breaks, 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine and putative intrastrand cross-links. *Mutat Res-Fund Mol M.* 424: 23-36
- Machreki-Ajmi M, Hamza-Chaffai A. (2008) Assessment of sediment/water contamination by in vivo transplantation of the cockles *Cerastoderma glaucum* from a noncontaminated to a contaminated area by cadmium. *Ecotoxicology*. 17: 802–810
- Magni P, De Falco G, Falugi C, Franzoni M, Monteverde M, Perrone E, Sgro M, Bolognesi C. (2006) Genotoxicity biomarkers and acetylcholinesterase activity in natural populations of *Mytilus galloprovincialis* along a pollution gradient in the Gulf of Oristano (Sardinia, western Mediterranean). *Environ Pollut*. 142: 65-72

- Marcon AE, Ferreira DD, de Moura MF, da Costa Campos TF, do Amaral VS, Agnez-Lima LF, de Medeiros SR. (2010) Genotoxic analysis in aquatic environment under influence of cyanobacteria, metal and radioactivity. *Chemosphere*. 81: 773–780
- Marin MG, Moschino V, Deppieri M, Lucchetta L. (2003) Variations in gross biochemical composition, energy value and condition index of *T. philippinarum* from the Lagoon of Venice. *Aquaculture*. 219: 859-871
- Markich SJ, Brown PL, Jeffree RA, Lim RP. (2000) Valve movement responses of *Velesunio* angasi (Bivalvia: Hyriidae) to manganese and uranium: An exception to the free ion activity model. Aquat Toxicol. 51: 155-175
- Marnett LJ. (1999) Lipid peroxidation-DNA damage by malondialdehyde. Mutat Res. 424: 83-95
- Martin K, Huggins T, King C, Carroll MA, Catapane EJ. (2008) The neurotoxic effects of manganese on the dopaminergic innervation of the gill of the bivalve mollusc, *Crassostrea virginica. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol.* 148: 152-159
- Martin MH. Coughtry PJ. (1982) Biological monitoring of heavy metal pollution. London: Applied Science Pub
- Martins M, Costa PM. (2015) The comet assay in environmental risk assessment of marine pollutants: applications, assets and handicaps of surveying genotoxicity in non-model organisms. *Mutagenesis.* 30: 89–106

- Martins M. Costa PM, Ferreira AM, Costa MH. (2013) Comparative DNA damage and oxidative effects of carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic sediment-bound PAHs in the gills of a bivalve. *Aquat Toxicol*. 142–143: 85-95
- Matozzo V, Tomei A, Marin MG. (2005) Acetylcholinesterase as a biomarker of exposure to neurotoxic compounds in the clam *Tapes philippinarum* from the Lagoon of Venice. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 50: 1686-1693
- Mesquita A, Kaisary S. (2007) Distribution of iron and manganese. *In:* The Mandovi and Zuari estuaries (eds. Shetye SR, Dileep Kumar M, Shankar D) National Institute of Oceanography. pp. 99-104
- Mitchelmore CL, Chipman JK. (1998) DNA strand breakage in aquatic organisms and the potential value of the comet assay in environmental monitoring. *Mutat Res.* 399: 135–147
- Monserrat JM, Martinez PE, Geracitano LA, Lund AL, Martinez GC, Lopes LP. (2007) Pollution biomarkers in estuarine animals: critical review and new perspectives. Comp Biochem Phys C Toxicol Pharmacol. 146: 221–234
- Monteiro V, Cavalcante DG, Viléla MB, Sofia SH, Martinez CB. 2011. In vivo and in vitro exposures for the evaluation of the genotoxic effects of lead on the Neotropical freshwater fish *Prochilodus lineatus*. Aquatic Toxicology. 104: 291-298
- Moschino V, Delaney E, Da Ros L. (2012) Assessing the significance of *Ruditapes* philippinarum as a sentinel for sediment pollution: Bioaccumulation and biomarker responses. *Environ Pollut.* 171: 52-60

- Mouneyrac C, Linot S, Amiard JC, Amiard-Triquet C, Métais I, Durou C, Minier C, Pellerin J. (2008) Biological indices, energy reserves, steroid hormones and sexual maturity in the infaunal bivalve *Scrobicularia plana* from three sites differing by their level of contamination. *Gen Comp Endocrinol*. 157: 133-141
- Muniz P, Danulat E, Yannicelli B, García-Alonso J, Medina G, Bícego MC. (2004) Assessment of contamination by heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons in sediments of Montevideo Harbour (Uruguay). *Environ Int.* 29: 1019-1028
- Muñoz B, Albores A. (2011) DNA damage caused by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: mechanisms and markers. *In*: Selected Topics in DNA Repair (ed. Chen C). In Tech Publishing. pp. 125-144
- Nackerdien Z, Rao G, Cacciuttolo MA, Gajewski E, Dizdaroglu M. (1991) Chemical nature of DNA-protein cross-links produced in mammalian chromatin by hydrogen peroxide in the presence of iron and copper ions. *Biochemistry*. 30: 4873-4879
- National Research Council (US). (1991) Committee on Animals as Monitors of Environmental Hazards. Animals as Sentinels of Environmental Health Hazards.
 Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US): 2, Concepts and Definitions.
 pp. 33-52
- Nayar KN, Mahadevan S. (1974) Edible Bivalves: Clams and others. In: The Commercial Molluscs of India (eds. Nair RV, Rao KS) Bulletin of the Central Marine Fisheries Research Institute. 25: 40-53

- Nelson M, Huggins T, Licorish R, Carroll MA, Catapane EJ. (2010) Effects of paminosalicylic acid on the neurotoxicity of manganese on the dopaminergic innervation of the cilia of the lateral cells of the gill of the bivalve mollusc, *Crassostrea virginica. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol.* 151: 264-270
- Nicholson S. (2003) Lysosomal membrane stability, phagocytosis and tolerance to emersion in the mussel *Perna viridis* (Bivalvia: Mytilidae) following exposure to acute, sublethal, copper. *Chemosphere*. 52: 1147-1151
- Nicosia A, Salamone M, Mazzola S, Cuttitta A. (2015) Transcriptional and biochemical effects of cadmium and manganese on the defense system of *Octopus vulgaris* paralarvae. *Biomed Res Int.* 2015: 437328
- Nigam R, Panchang R, Banerjee P. (2005) Foraminifera in surface sediments of Mandovi River Estuary: Indicators for mining pollution and high sea stand in Goa, India. J Coastal Res. 21: 853-859
- Nigro M, Falleni A, Del Barga I, Scarcelli V, Lucchesi P, Regoli F, Frenzilli G. (2006) Cellular biomarkers for monitoring estuarine environments: Transplanted versus native mussels. *Aquat Toxicol.* 77: 339–347
- Oliveira M, Maria VL, Ahmad I, Serafim A, Bebianno MJ, Pacheco M, Santos MA. (2009) Contamination assessment of a coastal lagoon (Ria de Aveiro, Portugal) using defence and damage biochemical indicators in gill of *Liza aurata* – An integrated biomarker approach. *Environ Pollut*. 157: 959-967

- Oliveira-Ribeiro CA, Vollaire Y, Sanchez-Chardi A, Roche H. (2005) Bioaccumulation and the effects of organochlorine pesticides, PAH and heavy metals in the Eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) at the Camargue Nature Reserve, France. *Aquat Toxicol.* 74: 53-69
- Omar WA, Zaghloul KH, Abdel-Khalek AA, Abo-Hegab S. (2012) Genotoxic effects of metal pollution in two fish species, *Oreochromis niloticus* and *Mugil cephalus*, from highly degraded aquatic habitats. *Mutat Res-Gen Tox En.* 746: 7-14
- Orban E, Di Lena G, Nevigato T, Casini I, Marzetti A, Caproni R. (2002) Seasonal changes in meat content, condition index and chemical composition of mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) cultured in two different Italian sites. *Food Chem.* 77: 57-65
- Pampanin DM, Volpato E, Marangon I, Nasci C. (2005) Physiological measurements from native and transplanted mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) in the canals of Venice.
 Survival in air and condition index. Comp Biochem Phys A Mol Integr Physiol. 140: 41-52
- Parry HE, Pipe RK. (2004) Interactive effects of temperature and copper on immunocompetence and disease susceptibility in mussels (*Mytilus edulis*). Aquat Toxicol. 69: 311-325
- Pavlaki MD, Araújo MJ, Cardoso DN, Silva AR, Cruz A, Mendo S, Soares AM, Calado R, Loureiro S. (2016) Ecotoxicity and genotoxicity of cadmium in different marine trophic levels. *Environ Pollut*. 215: 203–212

- Pérez-Cadahía B, Laffon B, Pásaro E, Méndez J. (2004) Evaluation of PAH bioaccumulation and DNA damage in mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) exposed to spilled Prestige crude oil. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 138: 453-460
- Phillips DJH, Rainbow PS. (1994) Biomonitoring of Trace Aquatic Contaminants, second edition. Chapman and Hall, London
- Pisanelli B, Benedetti M, Fattorini D, Regoli F. (2009) Seasonal and inter-annual variability of DNA integrity in mussels *Mytilus galloprovincialis*: A possible role for natural fluctuations of trace metal concentrations and oxidative biomarkers. *Chemosphere*. 77: 1551–1557
- Pisoni M, Cogotzi L, Frigeri A, Corsi I, Bonacci S, Iacocca A, Lancini L, Mastrototaro F, Focardi S, Svelto M. (2004) DNA adducts, benzo(α)pyrene monooxygenase acivity and lysosomal membrane stability in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* from different areas in Taranto coastal waters (Italy). *Environ Res.* 96: 163-175
- Praveen Kumar MK, Shyama SK, Sonaye BS, Naik UR, Kadam SB, Bipin PD, D'costa A, Chaubey RC. (2014) Evaluation of γ-radiation-induced DNA damage in two species of bivalves and their relative sensitivity using comet assay. *Aquat Toxicol*. 150: 1-8
- Praveen Kumar MK, Shyama SK, Bhagatsingh SB, D'costa A, Chaubey RC. (2015) The effect of gamma radiation on the Common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*): In vivo genotoxicity assessment with the micronucleus and comet assays. Mutat Res-Gen Tox En. 792: 19-25

- Qian ZJ, Jung WK, Byun HG, Kim SK. (2008) Protective effect of an antioxidative peptide purified from gastrointestinal digests of oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* against free radical induced DNA damage. *Bioresource Technol.* 99: 3365–3371
- Ramachandran SD, Sweezey MJ, Hodson PV, Boudreau M, Courtenay SC, Lee K, King T, Dixon JA. (2006) Influence of salinity and fish species on PAH uptake from dispersed crude oil. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 52: 1182–1189
- Rank J, Jensen K, Jespersen PH. (2005) Monitoring DNA damage in indigenous blue mussels (Mytilus edulis) sampled from coastal sites in Denmark. Mutat Res-Gen Tox En. 585: 33-42
- Rao AN, Ram A, Rokade MA, Raja P, Rakesh PS, Chemburkar P, Gajbhiye SN. (2016) A preliminary estimate of total petroleum hydrocarbons in water and some commercially important fish species in the Amba Estuary, west coast of India. B Environ Contam Tox. 97: 56–62
- Readman JW. Fillmann G, Tolosa I, Bartocci J, Villeneuve JP. Catinni C, Mee LD. (2002) Petroleum and PAH contamination of the Black Sea. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 44: 48–62
- Reddy MS, Basha S, Joshi HV, Ramachandraiah G. (2005) Seasonal distribution and contamination levels of total PHCs, PAHs and heavy metals in coastal waters of the Alang Sosiya ship scrapping yard, Gulf of Cambay, India. *Chemosphere*. 61: 1587-1593
- Regoli F, Frenzilli G, Bocchetti R, Annarumma F, Scarcelli V, Fattorini D, Nigro M. (2004) Time-course variations of oxyradical metabolism, DNA integrity and lysosomal

stability in mussels, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, during a field translocation experiment. *Aquat Toxicol.* 68: 167-178

- Regoli F, Giuliani ME. (2014) Oxidative pathways of chemical toxicity and oxidative stress biomarkers in marine organisms. *Mar Environ Res.* 93: 106-117
- Repetto M, Semprine J, Boveris A. (2012) Lipid Peroxidation: Chemical Mechanism, Biological Implications and Analytical Determination. *In*: Lipid Peroxidation (ed. Catala A) InTech, pp. 3
- Revankar PR, Shyama SK. (2009) Genotoxic effects of monocrotophos, an organophosphorous pesticide, on an estuarine bivalve, *Meretrix ovum. Food Chem Toxicol.* 47: 1618-1623
- Romero-Ruiz A, Amezcua O, Rodríguez-Ortega MJ, Muñoz JL, Alhama J, Rodríguez-Ariza A, Gómez-Ariza JL, López-Barea J. (2003) Oxidative stress biomarkers in bivalves transplanted to the Guadalquivir estuary after Aznalcóllar spill. *Environ Toxicol Chem.* 22: 92–100
- Ruzhong L, Kun S, Yueying L, Yong S. (2010). Assessment of heavy metal pollution in estuarine surface sediments of Tangxi River in Chaohu Lake basin. *Chinese Geogr Sci.* 20: 9–17
- Rybakovas A, Baršiene J, Lang T. (2009) Environmental genotoxicity and cytotoxicity in the offshore zones of the Baltic and the North Seas. *Mar Environ Res.* 68: 246–256
- Sabatini SE, Rocchetta I, Nahabedian DE, Luquet CM, Eppis MR, Bianchi L, de Molina MC. (2011) Oxidative stress and histological alterations produced by dietary copper in

the fresh water bivalve Diplodon chilensis. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 154: 391-398

- Sacchi A, Mouneyrac C, Bolognesi C, Sciutto A, Roggieri P, Fusi M, Beone GM, Capri E.
 (2013) Biomonitoring study of an estuarine coastal ecosystem, the Sacca di Goro lagoon, using *Ruditapes philippinarum* (Mollusca: bivalvia). *Environ Pollut*. 177: 82-89
- Salem ZB, Capelli N, Grisey E, Baurand PE, Ayadi H, Aleya L. (2014) First evidence of fish genotoxicity induced by heavy metals from landfill leachates: The advantage of using the RAPD-PCR technique. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* 101: 90-96
- Sarkar A, Ray D, Shrivastava AN. (2006) Molecular Biomarkers: Their significance and application in marine pollution monitoring. *Ecotoxicology*. 15: 333-340
- Sarkar A, Gaitonde DCS, Sarkar A, Vashistha D, D'Silva C, Dalal SG. (2008) Evaluation of impairment of DNA integrity in marine gastropods (*Cronia contracta*) as a biomarker of genotoxic contaminants in coastal water around Goa, West coast of India. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* 71: 473-482
- Sarkar A, Holkar PR, Patil SS. (2010) Application of Acteylcholineesterase Activity in Marine Organisms as a Biomarker of Costal Pollution. National Conference on Emerging Trends in Engineering, Technology and Management, MS2K 10. SSBT's College of Eng. and Technology; Bambhori, Jalgaon; India; 2010: 383-386

- Sarkar A, Bhagat J, Ingole BS, Rao DP, Markad VL. (2013) Genotoxicity of cadmium chloride in the marine gastropod Nerita chamaeleon using comet assay and alkaline unwinding assay. Environ Toxicol. 30: 177-187
- Sarkar A, Bhagat J, Sarker S. (2014) Evaluation of impairment of DNA in marine gastropod, Morula granulata as a biomarker of marine pollution. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 106: 253–261
- Sarker S, Sarkar A. (2015) Role of marine pollutants in impairment of DNA integrity. *J Clin Toxicol.* 5: 244. doi: 10.4172/2161-0495.1000244
- Satyanarayan M, Balaram V, Rao TG, Dasaram B, Ramesh SL, Mathur R, Drolia RK. (2007) Determination of heavy metals in seawater by ICP-MS after preconcentration and matrix separation by dithiocarbamate complexes. *Indian J Mar Sci.* 36: 71-75
- Schiedek D, Broeg K, Baršiene J, Lehtonen KK, Gercken J, Pfeifer S, Vuontisjärvi H, Vuorinen PJ, Dedonyte V, Koehler A, Balk L, Schneider R. (2006) Biomarker responses as indication of contaminant effects in blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*) and female eelpout (*Zoarces viviparus*) from the southwestern Baltic Sea. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 53: 387-405
- Schwacke LH, Gulland FM, White S. (2002) Sentinel species in oceans and human health. In: Environmental Toxicology: Selected Entries from the Encyclopedia of Sustainability Science and Technology (ed. Laws EA). Springer. pp. 503-528
- Seshappa G. (1971) Some observations on the backwater clam, *Meretrix casta* (Chemnitz) in the Beypore and Korapuzha estuaries. *Indian Journal of Fisheries*. 14: 298-305

- Singbal SY, George MD, Topgi RS, Noronha R. (1982) The levels of certain heavy metals in marine organisms from Aguada Bay (Goa). *Mahasagar-Bulletin of the National Institute of Oceanography*. 15: 121-124
- Singh R, Hart MG. (2012) Fluctuating estuarine conditions are not confounding factors for the comet assay assessment of DNA damage in the mussel Mytilus edulis. Ecotoxicology. 21: 1998–2003
- Soclo HH, Garrigues P, Ewald M. (2000) Origin of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Coastal Marine Sediments: Case Studies in Cotonou (Benin) and Aquitaine (France) Areas. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 40: 387-396
- Sohail, M, Khan MN, Qureshi NA, Chaudhry AS. (2017) Monitoring DNA damage in gills of freshwater mussels (*Anodonta anatina*) exposed to heavy metals. *Pakistan Journal of Zoology*. 49: 305-311
- Solé M, Kopecka-Pilarczyk J, Blasco J. (2009) Pollution biomarkers in two estuarine invertebrates, *Nereis diversicolor* and *Scrobicularia plana*, from a marsh ecosystem in SW Spain. *Environ Int.* 35: 523-531
- Sophia AJ, Balasubramanian T. (1992) Changes in the physical condition of *Meretrix casta* exposed to water-soluble fractions of refined and crude oil. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*. 22: 471–474
- Sprovieri M, Feo ML, Prevedello L, Manta DS, Sammartino S, Tamburrino S, Marsella E. (2007) Heavy metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and polychlorinated

biphenyls in surface sediments of the Naples harbour (southern Italy). Chemosphere. 67: 998–1009

- Steinert SA, Streib-Montee R, Leather JM, Chadwick DB. (1998) DNA damage in mussels at sites in San Diego Bay. *Mutat Res-Fund Mol M.* 399: 65-85
- Stephenson AP, Schneider JA, Nelson BC, Atha DH, Jain A, Soliman KF, Aschner M, Mazzio E, Renee Reams R. (2013) Manganese-induced oxidative DNA damage in neuronal SH-SY5Y cells: attenuation of thymine base lesions by glutathione and Nacetylcysteine. *Toxicol Lett*. 218: 299-307
- Storey KB. (1996) Oxidative stress: animal adaptations in nature. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* 29: 1715–1733
- Sundaray SK. Nayak BB, Lin S, Bhatt D. (2011) Geochemical speciation and risk assessment of heavy metals in the river estuarine sediments—A case study: Mahanadi basin, India. J Hazard Mater. 186: 1837-1846
- Suneel V, Vethamony P, Zakaria MP, Naik BG, Prasad KV. (2013) Identification of sources of tar balls deposited along the Goa coast, India, using fingerprinting techniques. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 70: 81–89
- Sureda A, Tejada S, Box A, Deudero S. (2013) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon levels and measures of oxidative stress in the Mediterranean endemic bivalve *Pinna nobilis* exposed to the Don Pedro oil spill. *Mar Pollut Bull.* 71: 69–73
- Talwar PK, Jhingran AG. (1991) Inland fishes of India and adjacent countries. Volume 2. A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam

- Taylor A, Maher W. (2015) Developing a sentinel mollusc species for toxicity assessment: metal exposure, dose and response - laboratory v. field exposures and resident organisms. *Environmental Chemistry*. 13: 434-446
- Taylor D, Maddock B, Mance G. (1985) The acute toxicity of nine "grey list" metals (arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, lead, nickel, tin, vanadium and zinc) to two marine fish species: dab (*Limanda limanda*) and grey mullet (*Chelonla brosus*). *Aquat Toxicol.* 7: 135–144
- Taze C, Panetas I, Kalogiannis S, Feidantsis K, Gallios GP, Kastrinaki G, Konstandopoulos AG, Václavíková M, Ivanicova L, Kaloyianni M. (2016) Toxicity assessment and comparison between two types of iron oxide nanoparticles in *Mytilus* galloprovincialis. Aquat Toxicol. 172: 9-20
- Tchounwou PB, Yedjou CG, Patlolla AK, Sutton DJ. (2012) Heavy metal toxicity and the environment. *In*: Molecular, Clinical and Environmental Toxicology (ed. Luch A). Springer, Basel. pp. 133-164
- Telli-Karakoç F, Toluna L, Henkelmannb B, Klimmb C, Okaya O, Schrammb KW (2002) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) distributions in the Bay of Marmara sea: Izmit Bay. *Environ Pollut*. 119: 383–397
- Theodorakis CW, D'Surney SJ, Shugart LR. (1994) Detection of genotoxic insult as DNA strand breaks in fish blood cells by agaraose gel electrophoresis. *Environ Toxicol Chem.* 13: 1023–1031

- Thophon S, Kruatrachue M, Upatham ES, Pokethitiyook P, Sahaphong S, Jaritkhuan S. (2003) Histopathological alterations of white seabass, *Lates calcalifer*, in acute and subchronic cadmium exposure. *Environ Pollut*. 121: 307–320
- Tsangaris C, Vergolyas M, Fountoulaki E, Nizheradze K. (2011) Oxidative stress and genotoxicity biomarker responses in grey mullet (*Mugil cephalus*) from a polluted environment in Saronikos Gulf, Greece. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*. 61: 482– 490
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (1996) 'Acid Digestion of Sediment, Sludge and Soils'. Test Methods for Evaluating Soil Waste SW-846, USEPA, Cincinnati, OH, U.S.A.
- Valavanidis A, Vlahogianni T, Dassenakis M, Scoullos M. (2006) Molecular biomarkers of oxidative stress in aquatic organisms in relation to toxic environmental pollutants. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* 64: 178–189
- Valko M, Izakovic M, Mazur M, Rhodes CJ, Telser J. (2004) Role of oxygen radicals in DNA damage and cancer incidence. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 266: 37–56
- Valko M, Rhodes CJ, Moncol J, Izakovic M, Mazur M. (2006) Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. *Chem-Biol Interact.* 160: 1-40
- Valverde M, Trejo C, Rojas E. (2001) Is the capacity of lead acetate and cadmium chloride to induce genotoxic damage due to direct DNA-metal interaction? *Mutagenesis*. 16: 265–270

- Van Remmen H, Ikeno Y, Hamilton M, Pahlavani M, Wolf N, Thorpe SR, Alderson NL, Baynes JW, Epstein CJ, Huang T, Nelson J, Strong R, Richardson A. (2003) Lifelong reduction in MnSOD activity results in increased DNA damage and higher incidence of cancer but does not accelerate aging. *Physiological Genomics*. 16: 29-37
- Varotto L, Domeneghetti S, Rosani U, Manfrin C, Cajaraville MP, Raccanelli S, Pallavicini
 A, Venier P. (2013) DNA damage and transcriptional changes in the gills of *Mytilus* galloprovincialis exposed to nanomolar doses of combined metal salts (Cd, Cu, Hg). PLoS One. 8: e54602
- Vasanthi LA, Revathi P, Rajendran RB, Munuswamy N. (2017) Detection of metal induced cytopathological alterations and DNA damage in the gills and hepatopancreas of green mussel *Perna viridis* from Ennore Estuary, Chennai, India. *Mar Pollut Bull*. 117: 41-49
- Veerasingam S, Vethamony P, Murali RM, Babu MT. (2015) Sources, Vertical Fluxes and Accumulation of Petroleum Hydrocarbons in Sediments from the Mandovi Estuary, west Coast of India. *Int J Environ Res.* 9: 179-186
- Venier P, Zampieron C. (2005) Evidence of genetic damage in grass gobies and mussels from the Venice lagoon. *Environ Int.* 31: 1053-1064
- Venkatachalapathy R, Veerasingam S, Ramkumar T. (2010) Petroleum hydrocarbon concentrations in marine sediments along Chennai Coast, Bay of Bengal, India. B Environ Contam Toxicol. 85: 397–401

- Verlecar XN, Jena KB, Chainy GBN. (2008) Modulation of antioxidant defences in digestive gland of *Perna viridis* (L), on mercury exposures. *Chemosphere*. 71: 1977-1985
- Vicente-Martorell JV, Galindo-Riaño MD, García-Vargas M, Granado-Castro MD. (2009) Bioavailability of heavy metals monitoring water, sediments and fish species from a polluted estuary. *J Hazard Mater*. 162: 823-836
- Villela IV, de Oliveira IM, da Silva J, Henriques JA. (2006) DNA damage and repair in haemolymph cells of golden mussel (*Limnoperna fortunei*) exposed to environmental contaminants. *Mutat Res-Gen Tox En*. 605: 78-86
- Vincent-Hubert F, Arini A, Gourlay-Francé C. (2011) Early genotoxic effects in gill cells and haemocytes of *Dreissena polymorpha* exposed to cadmium, B[a]P and a combination of B[a]P and Cd. *Mutat Res-Gen Tox En*. 723: 26–35
- Vlahogianni T, Dassenakis M, Scoullos MJ, Valavanidis A. (2007) Integrated use of biomarkers (superoxide dismutase, catalase and lipid peroxidation) in mussels
 Mytilus galloprovincialis for assessing heavy metals' pollution in coastal areas from the Saronikos Gulf of Greece. Mar Pollut Bull. 54: 1361-1371
- Waalkes MP. (2000) Cadmium carcinogenesis in review. Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry. 79: 241-244
- Wadige CP, Taylor AM, Krikowa F, Lintermans M, Maher WA. (2017) Exposure of the freshwater bivalve *Hyridella australis* to metal contaminated sediments in the field and laboratory microcosms: metal uptake and effects. *Ecotoxicology*. 26: 415–434

- Waisberg M, Joseph P, Hale B, Beyersmann D. (2003) Molecular and cellular mechanisms of cadmium carcinogenesis: Review. *Toxicology*. 192: 95-117
- Wang L, Pan L, Liu N, Liu D, Xu C, Miao J. (2011) Biomarkers and bioaccumulation of clam *Ruditapes philippinarum* in response to combined cadmium and benzo[a]pyrene exposure. *Food Chem Toxicol.* 49: 3407–3417
- Wang MH, Wang GZ. (2009) Biochemical response of the copepod *Tigriopus japonicus*Mori experimentally exposed to cadmium. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol.* 57: 707–717
- Wang Q, Liu B, Yang H, Wang X, Lin Z. (2009) Toxicity of lead, cadmium and mercury on embryogenesis, survival, growth and metamorphosis of *Meretrix meretrix* larvae. *Ecotoxicology.* 18: 829–837
- Witeska M, Sarnowski P, Ługowska K, Kowal E. (2014) The effects of cadmium and copper on embryonic and larval development of ide *Leuciscus idus* L. Fish Physiol Biochem. 40: 151–163
- Xia L, Chen S, Dahms HU, Ying X, Peng X. (2016) Cadmium induced oxidative damage and apoptosis in the hepatopancreas of *Meretrix meretrix*. *Ecotoxicology*. 25: 959–969
- Xuereb B, Lefèvre E, Garric J, Geffard O. (2009) Acetylcholinesterase activity in Gammarus fossarum (Crustacea Amphipoda): Linking AChE inhibition and behavioural alteration. Aquat Toxicol. 94: 114-122

- Yamei H, Minghui Z, Zhengtao L, Lirong G. (2009) Distribution of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sediments from Yellow River Estuary and Yangtze River Estuary, China. J Environ Sci. 21: 1625–1631
- Yang F, Zhang Q, Guo H. Zhang S. (2010) Evaluation of cytotoxicity, genotoxicity and teratogenicity of marine sediments from Qingdao coastal areas using in vitro fish cell assay, comet assay and zebrafish embryo test. *Toxicol in Vitro*. 24: 2003–2011
- Yang X, Yuan X, Zhang A. Mao Y, Li Q, Zong H, Wang L, Li X. (2015) Spatial distribution and sources of heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbon in the sand flats of Shuangtaizi Estuary, Bohai Sea of China. *Mar Pollut Bull*, 95: 503-512
- Yiin SJ, Lin TH. (1995) Lead-catalyzed peroxidation of essential unsaturated fatty acid. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* 50: 167-72
- Zanette J, de Almeida EA. da Silva AZ, Guzenski J, Ferreira JF, Di Mascio P, Marques MR, Bainy AC. (2011) Salinity influences glutathione S-transferase activity and lipid peroxidation responses in the Crassostrea gigas oyster exposed to diesel oil. Sci Total Environ. 409: 1976-1983
- Zhang Y, Song J. Yuan H. Xua Y. He Z, Duan L. (2010) Biomarker responses in the bivalve (*Chlamys farreri*) to exposure of the environmentally relevant concentrations of lead, mercury, copper. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol.* 30: 19-25

202

- Zharkov DO, Rosenquist TA. (2002) Inactivation of mammalian 8-oxoguanine-DNA glycosylase by cadmium(II): implications for cadmium genotoxicity. DNA Repair. 1:661-670
- Ziech D, Franco R, Georgakilas AG, Georgakila S, Malamou-Mitsi V, Schoneveld O, Pappa A, Panayiotidis MI. (2010) The role of reactive oxygen species and oxidative stress in environmental carcinogenesis and biomarker development. *Chem-Biol Interact.* 188: 334–339
- Zuykov M, Pelletier E, Harper DAT. (2013) Bivalve mollusks in metal pollution studies: From bioaccumulation to biomonitoring: Review. *Chemosphere*. 93: 201-208

Publications

PUBLICATIONS

Research articles

- *p*'costa AH, Shyama SK. Praveen Kumar MK. 2017. Bioaccumulation of trace metals and total petroleum and genotoxicity responses in a wild fish population as indicators of marine pollution. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 142: 22-28 (Impact factor 3.974)
- (*D'costa* AH, Shyama SK, Praveen Kumar MK, Furtado S. 2017. The Backwater Clam (*Meretrix casta*) as a bioindicator species for monitoring the pollution of an estuarine environment by genotoxic agents. Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis. 825: 8-14 (Impact factor 1.996)
- •D'costa AH, Shyama SK, Praveen Kumar MK, Furtado S. 2017. Genotoxic and Biochemical biomarker responses in *Meretrix casta* exposed to environmentally relevant concentrations of Cadmium. Biosensors, Biomarkers & Diagnostics. 2(1): 1-7 (Impact factor NA)

Book chapters

• Praveen Kumar MK, D'costa A, Shyama SK. 2016. Genotoxic Biomarkers as Indicators of Marine Pollution. In: Marine Pollution and Microbial Remediation, editors Naik MM, Dubey SK. Springer Nature. 17: pp 263-270

Papers / Posters presented in conferences

- •D'costa AH and Shyama SK. Monitoring the pollution status of Goan Coast using genotoxicity studies in the fish, *Arius arius*. Awarded 1st prize at the conference on "Ecosystem: Emerging Issues", held at Poornaprajna College, Udupi in association with Karnataka Science and Technology Academy (KSTA). 09-10 January 2015
- •D'costa AH and Shyama SK. Evaluation of the pollution status of the Goan Coast using genotoxicity biomarkers in the fish, *Johnius dussumieri*, at the national seminar on "Life and Life Processes: Sustainable Development", held at the Department of Zoology, Goa University, 19-21 February 2015
- D'costa A, Shyama SK. Praveen Kumar MK. Evaluation of the pollution status of the Goan coast using genotoxicity biomarkers in the bivalve, *Meretrix casta*, at the International conference on "Advances in Cellular. genomic and Epigenomic Insights on Environmental Mutagenesis and Health" organized by Environmental Mutagen Society of India (EMSI) and School of Life Sciences, Manipal University, Manipal, 27-29 January 2017
- D'costa A, Shyama SK, Braganza K. Evaluation of the genotoxic effects of environmentally relevant concentrations of cadmium in estuarine backwater clam *Paphia malabarica*, at the seminar on "New Perspectives in Biosciences" organized by Department of Microbiology, Goa University, 07 December 2017

, D'Costa A, Shyama SK, Praveen Kumar MK. Genotoxicity evaluation of environmentally relevant concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons in the estuarine backwater clam *Meretrix casta*, at the "International Conference on Advancement in Science & Technology (ICAST 2018)" organized by Indian Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) and Department of Physics, Visva-Bharati University, Santiniketan, West Bengal, 03-04 September 2018

×

prosta et al.

ninger et al., 2007). The negative correlation may depend on the species chosen and / or on the nature of the assays.

vicronuclei result from acentric chromosome fragments or whole romosomes lagging behind during metaphase/anaphase transition duted by clastogens or by spindle dysfunctions, respectively. The gletell gel electrophoresis (SCGE) is a rapid and sensitive technique detects DNA strand breaks, measuring the migration of nicked DNA aments from immobilized individual cell nuclei. Both these tests are uinely used as biomarkers for monitoring aquatic pollution by motoxic contaminants and can be combined with other physiological nd biochemical biomarkers to fully assess the pollution status of aious water bodies (Praveen Kumar et al, 2015; Bolognesi and inflo, 2014).

We hypothesized that pollutants such as trace metals and petroleum sdrocarbons induce genotoxicity in Arrus arrus and that DNA damage add be affected by seasonality. Thus, the primary goal of this study was to report the genotoxicity status of this native fish population at a mbable polluted site (Vasco) and an unpolluted site (Palolem) and in to estimate the quantities of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs) ad trace metals such as Fe. Mn, Cu, Cd and Pb in the water and minent as well as the tissues of the fish. The rationale for selecting insepollutants is that they are found in the waters as a result of mining ion and manganese mine sites and effluents released from anothemical industries and induce toxicity and biochemical changes stuarine and manne fauna. We further assessed the relationship xtween DNA damage and pollutants from the tissues of fish at different ites during various sampling seasons.

2. Materials and methods

21. Study sites

Paloiem and Vasco were selected as the unpolluted (reference) and polluted sites, respectively, along the coast of the Indian state of Goa (ig. 1), based on the reports of Sarkar et al. 12008, 2010) and Sarker ad Sarkar (2015). Palolem is a clean, pristine beach with no known adustrial activity at this site. Vasco, an industrial hub, is dependent on Mornugao harbour for most of its economic activities. This harbour arves as a port for carrier barges, ore barges, oil liners and cruise liners. his the water and sediment around this area suffers considerable athropogenic stress.

2.2. Sample collection

2.2.1. Water and sediment collection

Surface and bottom water (2 L each) were collected with the help of a Niskin Sampler. The temperature, pH and salinity of the water samples were immediately recorded with the help of an automated water and sediment analysis kit (Labtronics, India) consisting of probes for measuring the required parameter. Water samples for dissolved oxygen were taken in amber-coloured bottles (300 ml) and fixed with Winkler's solution. The samples for the analysis of phosphates, nitrates, trace metals and TPHs were stored in clean, labelled polypropylene bottles. Sediment samples (~ 500 g) were collected with the help of a Van-Veen Grab and stored in clean, labelled polythene bags. These samples were stored at 4 °C and carried to the laboratory for further analysis. Samples were collected from three sampling stations in triplicates at each site during the pre-monsoon, monsoon and postmonsoon periods from March 2012 to February 2014.

2.2.2. Fish collection

Arius arius (Thread-fin sea catfish) was chosen for the present study due to its bottom feeding niche, availability in Goan waters all year round and its consumption by a majority of people living along the coast. Both sexes of fish were collected with the help of a trawl net (mesh size 40 mm), which was mechanically operated by a trawler at the sites as described for water and sediment collection. The sample size of the fish collected from these sites and across the seasons is given in Table 1. Blood was immediately drawn from the caudal vein, smeared on clean glass slides and stored in slide boxes. Excess blood was stored in microfuge tubes containing phosphate buffered saline (pH 7.4) at 4 °C. The fish were then stored in clean labelled polythene bags and transported in ice bags to the laboratory for further analyses of the metal and TPH content in their tissues.

2.3. Analysis of samples

2.3.1. Physico-chemical parameters

The physico-chemical parameters temperature, pH, salinity and dissolved oxygen were analysed and recorded as mentioned earlier. Phosphates were analysed Nitrates were analysed spectrophotometrically using the Brucine method (EPA, 1971). Phosphates were estimated by adding ammonium molybdate and stannous chloride to the water sample and reading the intensity of a blue coloured complex at 690 nm (Bureau of Indian Standards, 1988).



a Casa et al

	Palolem			Vasco			
	Station 1 15'00'17" N, 74'00'34" E	Station 2 15'00'08" N. 74'01'16" E	Station 3 14'59'53" N. 74'01'22" E	Station 1 15'25'40" N, 73'47'17" E	Station 2 15'24'57" N, 73'47'27" E	Station 3 15°24'02" N, 73'46'38" E	
2+ Magnan (2012)	41	32	38	20	26		
Herroon (2012)	24	27	22	25	30	47	
(01500 (2012-13)	37	30	25	23	23	27	
POSI-MO1ISOURI (2012)	20	22	25	2/	31	26	
Pre-Monsoon (2013)		20	33	33	24	29	
Vocsoon (2013)	3/	28	26	23	40	34	
Past-Monsoon (2013-14)	30	29	39	32	26	28	

much of A area collected from the study sizes in different seasons along with the coordinates of the sampling stations.

13.2. Micronucleus test

The micronucleus test was carried out as detailed by Baršiene et al., (2004, 2006). A drop of blood from the caudal vein was directly greated on glass slides and air-dried. The smears were fixed in nethanol for 10 min, stained with 5% Giemsa for 15 mins and allowed u dry. The frequency of micronuclei (MNi) was recorded by scoring 2000 cells per fish at 1000 × magnification, using an Olympus BX53 microscope. MNi were identified according to the following criteria: (1) special or ovoid-shaped extra nuclear bodies in the cytoplasm (2) a fameter of 1/3 - 1/20 of the main nucleus (3) non-refractory bodies (4) colour texture and optical features resembling those of the nucleus, and (5) the bodies completely separated from the main nucleus (Fig. 2).

23.3. Single cell get electrophoresis (comet assay)

The comet assay was carried out using the procedure outlined by ite and Steinert (2003). 20 µl of blood, diluted to approximately 10.000 cells with phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.4) was embedded in low melting agarose (LMA) on frosted microscopic slides and then placed in a cold lysing solution (2.5 M NaCl, 100 mM Na2EDTA, 10Mm Itis, 10% DMSO And 1% Triton-X pH 10) at 4 'C, overnight. All the aps were done in dim light to prevent photo-oxidation of DNA. The sides were then placed in electrophoresis buffer (pH 10) for 15-20 min vallow the DNA to unwind. Electrophoresis was then performed under taline conditions (pH 10) for 30 min at 300 mA, 25 V. The slides were faced in neutralization buffer (400 mM Tris base, pH 7.5) for 5 min. he gel containing DNA was stained with ethidium bromide and amined using a fluorescence microscope with a green filter at 200x agnification. Randomly selected non-overlapping cells were screened ad analysed with the help of computer software, CASP (Konca et al., 203) and the % tail DNA was recorded (Fig. 3A and B). The % tail DNA the amount of DNA (in percent) present in the tail of the "comet" and



Pig. 2. Erythrocyte of A. arms with micronucleus

is used as a measure of DNA damage (Kumaravel and Jha, 2006).

2.4. Sample preparation for TPH and trace metal analysis

Muscle, gill and liver tissues were collected from the fish and were analysed for TPH and trace metals.

2.4.1. Total petroleum hydrocarbon (TPH) analysis

Tissue samples: Tissues were homogenized with hexane in a Potter-Elvehjem homogenizer. The samples were dried by passing through a column of anhydrous sodium sulphate and made to a final volume of 25 ml with hexane. The concentration of total petroleum hydrocarbon was analysed spectrofluorometrically (Shimadzu) with excitation at 310 nm and emission at 360 nm. The values were expressed as $\mu g/g$ of wet tissue (Ansari et al., 2012).

Water samples: 2 ml of hexane was added to 20 ml of water and shaken for 20 min in capped tubes. This mixture was allowed to stand to allow the two phases to separate. The hexane layer was obtained and dried under a stream of nitrogen gas. The sample was then reconstituted with 1.5 ml of HPLC-grade ethanol and 1.5 ml of de-ionized water and stored at 4 °C in dim light (Ramachandran et al., 2006). The TPH concentrations were analysed spectrofluorometrically as mentioned for tissue samples.

Sediment samples: 10g of sediment was mixed with tetrohydrofuran, shaken vigorously and placed in an ultrasonicator bath for 1–2 h. The samples were then centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 30 min and the supernatant was evaporated using a stream of nitrogen gas. The residue was then re-dissolved in 20 ml of hexane and was analysed spectrofluorometrically (Telli-Karakoç et al., 2002).

2.4.2. Trace metal analysis

Tissue samples: Concentrations of iron (Fe), manganese (Mn), copper (Cu), cadmium (Cd) and lead (Pb) were determined by Flame Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometry (Shimadzu) according to Begum et al. (2013). Briefly, tissue samples were digested with 10 ml of 14 M nitric acid, 5 ml of 13 M perchloric acid and 5 ml of deionized water in teflon tubes and heated at 150 °C for 2 h. The solution was then allowed to evaporate to 5 ml in a Teflon beaker using a hot plate. The solution was cooled and was diluted upto 50 ml using deionized water. Results were expressed as $\mu g/g$ of wet tissue.

Water samples: Water samples acidified with HNO₃ were mixed with 1% ammonium pyrolidine dithiocarbamate (APDC) and methyl isobutyl ketone (MIBK) in a separating funnel and shaken for 5 min. This mixture was allowed to stand for about 15–20 min to allow phase separation. The organic layer obtained was transferred to another separating funnel and back-extracted with 4N HNO₃. The lower aqueous phase was collected in a centrifuge tube (Satyanarayan et al., 2007). Results were expressed as µg/L of sample.

Sediment samples: 1-2 g of dried sediment were digested with aqua regia (1:3 concentrated HNO₃ and HCl) and heated on a hot plate for 2 h. The digestate was then filtered and diluted to a final volume of

Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 142 (2017) 22-28



Fig. 3. Erythrocytes of A. areas with A. Intact DNA B. Damaged DNA.

nd with distilled water (USEPA, 1996). Results were expressed as . 1 of dried sample.

Only assurance and quality control

Tre appropriate quality assurance methods of sample preparation, uting and preservation were carried out in accordance with US EPA ndues. The certified reference material for TPH estimation was aby High crude oil and was used to prepare the calibration curve. mORT certified reference metals for AAS (Sigma)" were used for n: metal estimation.

5 Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM^C SPSS 23 statistical bit padage. The relationship between MNi and DNA damage was and employing Pearson's correlation analysis. The data were tested and the assumptions of normality using Shapiro-Wilk's test and assueity using Levene's test and were subsequently arcsine transat to improve linearity. These values were then used for various Rithin tests. To reduce the number of variables that may be intertrand, a principle components analysis (PCA) was performed using tank concentrations in the environment, pollutant concentrations -outreal tissues of A. artus and physico-chemical parameters. The seasons and sites were converted to dummy variables and also a the PCA. In order to enhance the interpretation of factor "B, Varimax rotation with Kaiser Normalization was used and the toefficients so obtained were then used to derive factor scores. in with eigenvalues greater than one were used as predictors for tregression analysis in order to eliminate multicollinearity. The significance of the data of micronucleus test and comet assay " analysed employing Student's t- test. The correlation coefficients The DNA damage and tissue concentrations of trace metals across and seasons were compared between tissues using a z-test. The Is were regarded as statistically significant at p < 0.001, 0.01 and

Isala

haco-chemical parameters

hydro-chemical parameters of the water collected from the are during March 2012 to Feb 2014 are given in Al Remettary Data). Temperature was uniform throughout the sasons and was in the normal range at both the sites. pH Palolen water samples were also in the normal range, but that of Vasco was slightly lower during the pre-monsoon seasons. Salinity ranged from 31 to 35 ppt throughout the sampling seasons at both the sites. Dissolved oxygen concentrations at Palolem were significantly higher during the monsoon seasons compared to that of Vasco in all the sampling seasons. Phosphate concentrations were found to be nonsignificant at both Palolem and Vasco. However, nitrate concentrations were found to be significantly higher at Vasco compared to Palolem.

3.2. TPHs and trace metals

The concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons and trace metals viz Fe, Mn, Cu, Cd and Pb in the water as well as sediment from Palolem and Vasco are presented in A2-7 (Supplementary Data). Water from Vasco showed higher concentration of trace metals than that of Palolem. Fe and Mn were significantly high in the sediment samples from Vasco compared to Palolem in all the seasons. The value of Cu was also high in the sediment from Vasco in the pre-monsoon (2012) season. Cadmium concentrations were also found to be high in the water, and to a larger extent, in the sediment samples from Vasco. The concentration of TPHs and trace metals in the various tissues

(muscle, gill and liver) of A. arius are presented in A9. The highest concentration of TPHs was found in the livers of fish collected from Vasco. The values of Fe were significantly high (p = 0.043, p = 0.008) in the tissues of the fish collected from Vasco. Mn concentrations were observed to be significantly high (p=0.032) in gill and liver tissues from Vasco compared to Palolem in all the seasons. The concentration of Cu was significantly high (p=0.041) in the tissues of A. arius in the monsoon season of 2012. Cd was also found to be significantly high (p = 0.044) in tissues of A. arius collected from Vasco compared to Palolem. The concentration of Pb was also significantly high in the tissues of the fish, particularly in the gills of A. artus in all the seasons compared to Palolem.

3.3. Micronucleus test

Fig. 4 represents the incidence of micronuclei (MNi) in the erythrocytes of A. arius. Significantly high values (p < 0.024) of MNi were noted in the erythrocytes of A. arius collected from Vasco in all the seasons compared to those from Palelem.

3.4. Comet assay

The quantum of DNA damage in the form of % tail DNA is represented in Fig. 5. The % tail DNA was significantly high at Vasco in the cells of A. arius in all the seasons. The data also showed a high positive correlation (R = 0.88) between % MNi and % tail DNA in all the



hg.4. Micronuclei (%) in the erythrocytes of A. arius (Mean \pm S.D) collected from Vasco al Palolen in different measures March 2012 to February 2014 (* p < 0.05). Pre-M = $\frac{1}{2}Morrow, M = Morrow, Post-M = Post-Morrow.$



fig. 5. DNA damage represented by Tail DNA (%) in erythrocytes of A arius Near 2 SD in different seasons from March 2012 to February 2014 (* p = 0.05; # 1<00]). Pre-M = Pre-Monsson, M = Monsoon; Post-M = Post-Monsoon.



Fig 6. Correlation analysis between % MNs and % Tail DNA in A. ornus.

the collected from the study sites (Fig. 6). DNA damage was found to be the highest during the monsoon sampling in 2012 as well as in 2013 ψ =0.035).

35 Principal components analysis

The components were extracted from the principal component malysis after varimax rotation of the factor axes which accounted for 72% of the total variance of the original variables. The first (imponent which had a variance of 52.24% was characterized by high positive loadings of tissue and environmental concentrations of pollulans. The second component which explained a variance of 8.24% was duracterized by loadings of physico-chemical parameters of surface and bottom water. The variables that were associated with the staning components were the different seasons.

16. Multiple regression analysis

After factor scores were obtained from the ten components, the fore values were used as independent variables and DNA damage (% ^{al} DNA) was used as the dependent variable due to the high ^{orelation} between the comet assay and micronucleus test in the

Table 2

Multiple regression model for predicting the DNA damage using factor scores obtained from principal components analysis.

Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 142 (2017) 22–28

Predictors	Coefficients	t-value	Significance (p)	
Component 1	0.875 ± 0.015	16.91		
Component 2	-0.016 ± 0.015	- 0.30	0.763	
Component 3	0.048 ± 0.015	0.92	0.359	
Component 4	0.089 ± 0.015	-1.72	0.089	
Component 5	-0.170 ± 0.015	- 3.29	0.052	
Component 6	-0.060 ± 0.015	-1.16	0.248	
Component 7	-0.056 ± 0.015	-1.07	0.287	
Component 8	0.143 ± 0.015	0.76	0.058	
Component 9	0.032 ± 0.015	0.61	0.542	
Component 10	0.049 ± 0.015	0.94	0.347	

R⁻ = 0.837, Adjusted R² = 0.810

Table 3

Correlation coefficients (Pearsons) between DNA damage and levels of heavy metals in the tissues.

ТРН	Fe	Mn	Cu	Cd	Pb
0.88	0.84	-0.23	0.60	0.77	0.80 "
0.87	0.87	0.83	0.43	0.74	0.76
0.89	0.86	0.75	0.39	0.75	0.81
	TPH 0.88 0.87 0.89	TPH Fe 0.88 0.84 0.87 0.87 0.89 0.86	TPH Fe Mn 0.88 0.84 -0.23 0.87 0.87 0.83 0.89 0.86 0.75	TPH Fe Mn Cu 0.88 0.84 -0.23 0.60 0.87 0.87 0.83 0.43 0.89 0.86 0.75 0.39	TPH Fe Mn Cu Cd 0.88 0.84 -0.23 0.60 0.77 0.87 0.87 0.83 0.43 0.74 0.89 0.86 0.75 0.39 0.75

* p < 0.05.

* p < 0.01.

*** p < 0.001.

present study (Table 2). The regressions of standardized DNA damage on component 1 was the most significant (p < 0.0001).

3.7. Association between genotoxicity and pollutants

The correlation coefficients for the different tissues are given in Table 3. Highest coefficients were contributed by TPHs and Fe. Further, on comparison of the coefficients between tissues, differences between muscle and gill (z=0.25, p=0.8), muscle and liver (z=-0.27, p=0.78) and gill and liver (z=-0.52, p=0.6) for TPH was not significant. The same was observed for Fe (z=-0.66, p=0.5; z=-0.42, p=0.6; z=0.23, p=0.81), Cu (z=1.37, p=0.17; z=1.65, p=0.09; z=0.28, p=0.77), Cd (z=0.41, p=0.68; z=0.28, p=0.77; z=-0.13, p=0.89) and Pb (z=0.6, p=0.54; z=-0.7, p=0.86; z=-0.77, p=0.44). Although the differences between gill and liver for Mn were not significant (z=1.26, p=0.2), it was significant between muscle and gill (z=-8.35, p<0.001) and muscle and liver (z=-7.09, p<0.001).

4. Discussions

The present study revealed that the water in Vasco contains high concentrations of TPHs and trace metals, which might have induced DNA damage, as evident by the MNi test and comet assay. This can lead to the deterioration in the health of the fish populations as well as decline in fish catches around this area and may pose a threat to the health and livelihood of the fishing communities at Vasco. Further, physico-chemical parameters and seasonality may also affect the accumulation of pollutants and subsequent DNA damage.

4.1. Micronucleus test

Several scientists have employed the micronucleus test to assess the genotoxicity of compounds released by industries into aquatic environments (Baršiene et al., 2004; Cavas and Ergene-Gozukara, 2005; Da Silva Souza and Fontanetti, 2006). Damaged chromosomes result from inefficient or incorrect DNA repair and/or from the presence of metals around the mitotic apparatus. This damage is expressed during cell jusion in the form of micronuclei and may represent an index of genmulated genotoxic agents (Kligerman, 1982). In the present study, the increased incidence of micronuclei in the blood cells of *A. arius* may possibly be due to the high concentrations of trace metals and TPHs at tasco. Another reason may be due to increased / long-term exposure to we concentrations of genotoxicants in water leading to an increase in the genotoxic effects in the cells of fish and other aquatic organisms time et al., 2007).

1.2. Comet assay

DNA damage as measured by the comet assay has been linked to a side spectrum of genotoxic and cytotoxic compounds, such as PAHs and trace metals (Lee and Steinert, 2003). The amount of the DNA in the tail region (tail DNA) is commonly used for quantifying DNA strand breakage and represents the most reliable parameter (Mitchelmore and Chipman, 1998; Kumaravel and Jha, 2006). In this study, the fish offected from Vasco showed significant DNA damage as compared to the collected from Palolem. These results are on par with a study by surfar et al. (2008) in which the DNA integrity in marine gastropods was found to be significantly damaged at Dona Paula and Vasco during the pre-monsoon, monsoon and post-monsoon periods. Chronic exposure to pollutants can lead to an accumulation of DNA strand breaks in squate organisms, such as fish, since their DNA-repair capacity is much baver compared to that of other species (Theodorakis et al., 1994).

DNA damage by xenobiotics occurs in three basic steps (Monserrat et al., 2007), wherein the first is the formation of adducts with toxic molecules. The next stage, secondary modifications of DNA, includes single and double-strand breakage, changes in DNA repair, base midation and cross-links. Xenobiotics may induce these secondary molifications by way of ROS production. In the third stage, cells show shered function, which can lead to cell proliferation and consequently, ancer (Monserrat et al., 2007).

43. Trace metals and TPHs

Trace metals may settle on the surface sediments and can affect mulic feeders, such as catfish. Trace metals, especially Fe, Mn, Cd and b, which are found to contaminate the water and sediment at Vasco, add also be the cause of genotoxicity in A. arius. This is in agreement 油 the studies of Bellas et al. (2007) and Omar et al. (2012) which moted the genotoxic effects of trace metals, such as Cu. Zn, Fe, Mn ad Pb, in marine and estuarine environments. The presence of high mentrations of these metals due to extensive mining activities and asportation of ores can be attributed to the stress caused in the fish. de Andrade et al. (2004) observed genotoxic damage measured as agle-strand DNA breaks employing the comet assay in the tissues of wet and sea catfish from polluted sites in Brazilian rivers and med the association between the concentrations of hydrocarbons, ^{20e metals}, pH and water temperature and the levels of DNA damage. a multiple regression analysis conducted by us in the present study avaled that high levels of DNA damage are due to the accumulation of Rpollutants from the environment. Physico-chemical parameters and annality also play a role in influencing DNA damage, but to a lesser The accumulation in different tissues at high concentra-^{in could} occur due to various reasons. Trace metal accumulation in Reliver could occur during metal detoxification in fish; it may occur in a muscle tissues because of absorption of residues through the ^{latinal} walls, and it occurs in the gills due to metal complex mation with mucus on the gill lamellae (Laylor et al., 1985; du ater al 1993). Particulate trace metals (nano-sized) may interact ^{th fish or} other organisms in four ways: 1) adsorption to the surface ^[tel], organ or whole body 2) cellular internalization 3) dissolution of ^{16 from the} NP and 4) mechanistic nano-effects, such as formation of Wive oxygen species (ROS) (Baker et al. 2014). Trace metals like and copper may also affect embryonic or larval stages and

may cause increased mortality, altered body size as well as morphological deformities (Witeska et al., 2014). These findings can be compared with the results of Costa et al. (2011), in which the exposure to sediments contaminated by trace metals induced DNA fragmentation and clastogenesis in Senegalese soles.

The presence of TPHs in the tissues of the fish in the present study also indicate the presence of carcinogenic components in these hyrocarbons such as benzo[α]pyrene (B[α]P). B[α]P, a representative polycylic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) present in crude oil fractions, is reported to be converted at the cellular level to the ROS, diol-epoxide (BaPDE), which can form stable adduct with DNA, resulting in DNA strand breaks (Pisoni et al., 2004; Bihari and Fafandel, 2004). Balk et al. (2011) reported the presence of PAH metabolites in the bile of fish collected from the North Sea which is known to be polluted with petroleum hydrocarbons. These metabolites, besides being genotoxic can exert other toxic effects in the rest of the body (Aas et al., 2000) and may also affect the nutritive quality of fish tissue (Ansari et al., 2012).

In addition, although a significant association is seen between the pollutants and genotoxicity, it may also be noted that the presence of other contaminants in lesser concentrations may also influence the genotoxicity in these fish and can be determined by further studies using both field and laboratory based experiments.

5. Conclusion

Although the concentrations of contaminants in these fish are much below the permissible limits recommended by EC (2005), FAO (1983) and IAEA (2003), it may be noted that these fish are consumed throughout the year by the Goan population and may lead to subsequent bioaccumulation and genotoxicity in humans as well. The data for genotoxicity recorded in these fish can be used as reference values for future genotoxicity, biochemical or physiological studies at these sites. Laboratory based studies can be conducted to confirm the genotoxicity of these pollutants either singly or in association with each other and the exact pathways of genotoxic damage can be deduced as future work. As the industrial wastewaters in Goa are not properly processed and treated before release into the environment, a treatment method should be devised and enforced by the Government and Coast Guard. Pollution indicators and genotoxicity tests, combined with other physiological or biochemical parameters represent an essential tool for efficient monitoring of aquatic ecosystems in Goa.

Declaration of Interest

The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

Acknowledgements

This work was a part of the Ministry of Earth Sciences (MoES), Govt. of India funded project (Sanction No. MoES/11-MRDF/1/38/P/10-PC-III dated30/06/2010). The authors also express their gratitude to the University Grants Commission (UGC) for providing the Maulana Azad National Fellowship (F1-17.1/2013-14/MANF-2013-14-CHR-GOA-25375). The authors also wish to acknowledge Dr. S. R. Ganihar for his valuable assistance in data compilation and analyses.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.03.049.

References

Mrs. E., Baussant, E., Balk, L., Liewenborg, B., Andersen, O.K. 2000. PAH metabolites in bile, cytochrome P4501A and DNA adducts as environmental risk parameters for

and

enterposure a laboratory experiment with Atlantic cod. Aquat. Toxicol. 51,

- II. Penders, E.J., Spenkelink, A., Rotteveel, S.G., Maasc, J.L., et al., and the fiers in the Eastern mud minnow (Umbru pypnaea L.) after bitter water as assessed by use of the SCE and comet Assays: a pron between 1978 and 2005 Mutat Res. 631, 93-100.
- VM da Silva, J., da Silva, F.R., Heuser, V.D., Dias, J.F., Yoneama, M.I. The Fish is boundicators to assess the effects of pollution in two southern mesusing the comet assay and micronucleus test. Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 1179-468
- 11 Desive C., Badesab, S., 2012. Total petroleum hydrocarbon in the tissues of ennertally important fishes of the Bay of Bengal Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64, -1.7568
- Inter. 2011 Seasonal assessment of heavy metal pollution in tropical estimute (Gos, India). J. Ecobiotechnology 3, 9-15.
- Tyle. CR. Galloway. T S., 2014. Impacts of metal and metal oxide
- mande on manne organisms Friviron Pollut 186, 257-271. Indent K. Hanson, T., Berntssen, M.H., Beyer, J., Jonsson, G., et al., 2011. unior in natural fish populations indicate adverse biological effects of offshore mhtms PLoS One 6, e19735 http://dx.doi.org/10.1371 journal.pone 129735
- mel. Innia, J., Syvokiene, J., Dedonyte, V., Rybakovas, A., Bjornstad, A., et al., W tahas of micronuclei in blue mussels and fish from the Baltic and the North in Lavaton Toxicol. 19. 365-371.
- in 1. Delayte, V., Rybakovas, A., Andreikenait, L., Andersen, O.K., 2006 senting af micromuclei and other nuclear abnormalities in peripheral blood and
- tin if name fish treated with crude oil Aquat Totocol 785, 599-5104. Wusten Al., Amin. M.N., Chowdhury, T.R., Quraishi, S.B., Banu, N., 2013.
- indefeasy metals in tissues of shingi fish (Heteropheustes fossilis) from Buriganga daglaleth Environ. Monit Assess 185, 5461-5469. al Beind R. Halldorson, H.P., Berggren, M., Granmo, A., 2007. Monitoring of
- repromponds and trace metals during a dredging episode in the Gota Alv ing Strongen using caged mussels. Water Air Soil Poll. 181, 265–279. r.J. Handd, M., 2004. Interspecies differences in DNA single strand breaks caused
- stansayarese and marine environment. Mutat. Res-Fund. Mol. M 552, 209-217 sta, 11. Baber, I. B., Barteil, S. E., Cediel, R. A., Gruve, K. J., 2006. Larval exposure restantially relevant mixtures of alkylphenolethoxylates reduces reproductive aptenz in male fathead minnows Aquat Tourcol. 79, 268-277
- ips. C. Hayashi, M., 2011. Review micronucleus assay in aquatic animals Visigeness 26, 205-111
- 1995, C. Unito, S., 2014. Genotoxicity biomarkers in aquatic bioindicators. Curr. Int. 60, 273-284.
- th Bisinger, V. Abelson, A., Duzer, H., Sturm, A., Kratke, R., et al., 1999. Rete rollines and fish as bromarkers of pullution stress in littoral regions of the Was Weberrasean Sea and North Sea. Helgol. Mar. Res. 53, 219–243.
- asilitian Standards (1988) Indian Standard: Methods of wastewater sampling and Biphysical and chemical) for water and wastewater, Part 31: Phosporous. 3025: pp. 31
- Li fime-Goulana, S., 2005. Micronucleus test in fish cells: a bioassay for in situ Cannag of genetonic pollution in the marine environment. Environ Mol. X.mpen 46, 64-70,
- 11 Suparth, T.S., Caetro, S., Lobo, J., Martins, M., Ferreira, A.M., et al., 2011 been of the genotoxic potential of contaminated estuarine sediments in fish Runal blood: laboratory versus in situ studies. Environ. Res. 111, 25-36.
- Fontanetti, C.S., 2006. Micronucleus test and observation of nuclear defines in enthrocytes of Nile tilapia exposed to waters affected by refinery Letterion Environ Saf. 605, 87-93.
- ¹⁰ Sarak, G.N., 2008. Distribution and speciation of selected metals in surface Tests from the tropical Zuari estuary, central west coast of India. Environ. hunt Assess. 158, 117-137
- 16 European Community. Commission Regulation No 78/2005 Official Journal of pean Union (20 1 2005) pp L16/43-L16/45.
- 1971 Method 352.1: Nitrogen, nitrate (colourimetric, Brucine) by photometer Methods for the Chemical Analysis of Water and Wastes
- WCAWW) (EPA/600/4-79/020). 188 Food and Agricultural organization, FAO, Rome, Compilation of legal limits
- ¹ dous substances in fish and fishery products. Fisheries Circular No. 764.
 ¹ F. Pereira, S., Rabade, T., Laffon, B., Mendez, J., 2011. Use of the substances in fish and fishery products. have preter a bononitoring a polluted estuarine environment. Environ
- G. Lyons B.P., 2013 The comet assay in marine animals. In: Dhawan, A., M (Fdx), Genoloxicity Assessment. Methods and Protocols, Part III. Las Pros. pp. 363-372.
- The second secon Stea ber al prove in murine fore stomach tumorigenesis bioassay. Acta Pol um 67, 381-390.
- h Luznanovic, M. Guasch, H., Lopez de Alda, M., López-Doval, J.C., et al., 21 Avenuent of multi-chemical pollution in aquatic ecosystems using (oxic units: prontization, mixture characterization and relationships with biological Bonton Ca Total Environ 468 469, 715-723.
- Sawerdile, 1, 2002 Interactions by carcinogenic metal compounds with Minam processes: toxicological implications. Toxicol Lett. 127, 47-54. The processes toxicological implications. Toxicol, Lett. 127, 1770 and 2020 International atomic energy Agency. Trace Elem methylmercury Fish. Tissue
- A 1982 risks as a biological detector of the effect of genotoxic agents. In Mutagenericity, New horizons in genetic Toxicology Academic
- As an York, pp. 435–453. Ta, GJ, Pavica, M., Friend, R., Papes, D., 2003. Application of the micronucleus stad at ad come man to mussel Dreissena polymorpha haemocytes for genotoxicity anitation in the structure in the struct

Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 142 (2017) 22-28

- Konca, K., Lankoff, A., Banasik, A., Lisowska, H., Kuszewski, T., Gözdz, S., et al., 2003. A cross-platform public domain PC image-analysis program for the comet assay. Mutat Res. 534, 15-20.
- Koski, R.A., 2012. Metal dispersion resulting from mining activities in coastal environments: a pathways approach. Oceanography 25, 170-183.
- Kumaravel, T.S., Jha, A.N., 2006. Reliable Comet Assav measurements for detecting DNA damage induced by ionising radiation and chemicals. Mutat. Res. 605, 7-16.
- Lee, R.F., Steinert, S., 2003. Use of the single cell gel electrophoresis / comet assay for detecting DNA damage in aquatic (marine and freshwater) animals. Rev. Mutat. Res. 544, 43-64.
- Mesquita, A., Kaisary, S., 2007. Distribution of iron and manganese. In: Shetye, S.R., Dileep Kumar, M., Shankar, D. (Eds.), The Mandovi and Zuari Estuaries. National Institute of Oceanography, Goa, pp. 99-104,
- Mitchelmore, C.L., Chipman, J.K., 1998. DNA strand breakage in aquatic organisms and the potential value of the comet assay in environmental monitoring, Mutat. Res 399, 135-147
- Monserrat, J.M., Martinez, P.E., Geracitano, L.A., Lund, A.L., Martinez, G.C., Lopes, L.P., 2007. Pollution biomarkers in estuarine animals: critical review and new perspectives. Comp. Biochem. Phys. C 146, 221-234,
- Omar, W.A., Zaghloul, K.H., Abdel-Khalek, A.A., Abo-Hegab, S., 2012. Genotoxic effects of metal pollution in two fish species, Oreochromis miloticus and Mugil cephalus, from highly degraded aquatic habitats. Mutat. Res. 746, 7-14.
- Pisoni, M., Cogotzi, L., Frigeri, A., Corsi, I., Bonacci, S., Jacocca, A., et al., 2004. DNA adducts, henzo(a)pyrene monooxygenase acivity and lysosomal membrane stability in Mytilus galloprovincialis from different areas in Taranto coastal waters (Italy). Environ, Res. 96, 163-175.
- Praveen Kumar, M.K., Shyama, S.K., Sonaye, B.S., Naik, U.R., Kadam, S.B., Bipin, P.D., et al., 2014. Evaluation of g-radiation-induced DNA damage in two species of bivalves
- and their relative sensitivity using comet assay. Aquat. Toxicol. 150, 1-8. Praveen Kumar. M.K., Shyama, S.K., Bhagatsingh, S.B., D'costa, A., Chaubey, R.C., 2015. The effect of gamma radiation on the common carp (Cyprinus carpio): In vivo genotoxicity assessment with the micronucleus and comet assays. Mutat, Res-Gen. Toxicol Environ 792, 19-25.
- du Preez, H., van Rensburg, E., van Vuren, J.H., 1993. Preliminary laboratory investigation of the bioconcentration of zinc and iron in selected tissues of the banded Tilapia, Tilapia sparmanii (Cichlidae). B Environ. Contam. Tox 50, 674-681.
- Ramachandran, S.D., Sweezey, M.J., Hodson, P.V., Boudreau, M., Courtenay, S.C., Lee, K. et al., 2006. Influence of salinity and fish species on PAH uptake from dispersed crude oil Mar Pollut Bull 52, 1182-1189.
- Russo, C., Rocco, L., Morescalchi, M.A., Stingo, V., 2004. Assessment of environmental stress by the micronucleus test and the comet assay on the genome of teleost populations from two natural environments. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 57, 168-174.
- Sarkar, A., Gaitonde, D.C., Sarkar, A., Vashistha, D., D'Silva, C., Dalal, S.G., 2008. Evaluation of impairment of DNA integrity in marine gastropost (*Conia conracta*) as a biomarker of genotoxic contaminants in coastal water around Goa, West coast of
- India Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 71, 473-482. Sarkar, A., Bhagat, J., Sarker, S., 2014 Evaluation of impairment of DNA in marine gastropod, Morula gramulata as a biomarker of marine pollution. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 106, 253-261
- Sarkar, A., Holkar, P.R., Patil, S.S. (2010). Application of Acteylcholineesterase Activity in Marine Organisms as a Biomarker of Costal Pollution. In: Proceedings of the National Conference on Emerging Trends in Engineering, Technology and Management, MS2K 10. SSBT's College of Eng. and Technology; Bambhori, Jalgaon; India; 2010; pp. 383-386.
- Sarker, S., Sarkar, A., 2015. Role of marine pollutants in impairment of DNA integrity. J. Clin. Toxicol. 5, 244. http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2161-0495.1000244
- Satyanarayan, M., Balaram, V., Rao, T.G., Dasaram, B., Ramesh, S.L., Mathur, R., et al., 2007. Determination of heavy metals in seawater by ICP-MS after preconcentration and matrix separation by dithiocarbamate complexes. Indian J. Mar. Sci. 36, 71-75.
- Singh, A.K., Srivastava, S.C., Verma, P., Ansari, A., Verma, A., 2014. Hazard assessment of metals in invasive fish species of the Yamuna River. India in relation to bioaccumulation factor and exposure concentration for human health implications
- Environ. Monit. Assess. 186, 3823-3836. Suneel, V., Vethamony, P., Zakaria, M.P., Naik, B.G., Prasad, K.V., 2013. Identification of sources of tar balls deposited along the Goa coast, India, using fingerprinting techniques. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 70, 81-89.
- Taylor, D., Maddock, B., Mance, G., 1985. The acute toxicity of nine grey list' metals (arsenic, horon, chromium, copper, lead, nickel, tin, vanadium and zinc) to two marine fish species: dab (Limanda limanda) and grey mullet (Chelonda brosus). Aquat. Toxicol. 7, 135-144.
- Telli-Karakoç, F., Toluna, L., Henkelmannb, B., Klimmb, C., Okaya, O., Schrammb, K.W., 2002. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) distributions in the Bay of Marmara sea: izmit Bay. Environ. Pollut. 119, 18.1-197
- 583-597. Theodorakis, C.W., D Surney, S.J., Shugart, L.R., 1994. Detection of genotoxic insult as DNA strand breaks in fish blood cells by agaraose gel electrophoresis. Environ. Toxicol. Chem 13, 1023-1031.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency), 1996. 'Acid digestion of sediment, sludge and soils. In: USEPA (Ed.), Test Methods for Evaluating Soil Waste SW-846. **USEPA** Cincinnati, OH, U.S.A.,
- Wirzinger, G., Weltjeb, L., Gerckenc, J., Sordyle, H., 2007. Genotoxic damage in fieldcollected three-spined sticklebacks (Gasterosteus aculeatus L.): a suitable biomonitoring tool? Mutat. Res. 628, 19-30.
- Witeska, M., Sarnowski, P., Ługowska, K., Kowal, E., 2014. The effects of cadmium and copper on embryonic and larval development of ide Leuciscus idus L. Fish. Physiol. Bruchem 40, 151-163.
- Yang, F., Zhang, Q., Guo, H., Zhang, S., 2010. Evaluation of cytotoxicity, genotoxicity and teratogenicity of marine sediments from Qingdao coastal areas using in vitro fish cell assay, comet assay and zebrafish embryo test. Toxicol. Vitr. 24, 2003-2011.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Mutat Res Gen Tox En



MUTATION RESEARCH

Backwater Clam (Meretrix casta) as a bioindicator species for monitoring



H. D'costa, Shyama S.K.', Praveen Kumar M.K., Swizzle Furtado

st faciology Laboratory, Department of Zoology, Goa University, Goa, 403 206, India

STICLE INFO

мŔ

. - FL 3553¥

ntacleus t**est** hitan index

ABSTRACT

The coast of Goa receives anthropogenic stress through its major rivers, which carry mining wastes, including iron and manganese ores from upstream mining sites, and petroleum hydrocarbons from shipping activities. These contaminants show seasonal variation in concentration and may be bioaccumulated by fauna inhabiting these waters. These fauna, including the bivalve molluses, are particularly at risk due to these insults. In the present study, the use of the backwater clam, *Meretrix casta* (Chemnitz), as a bioindicator species was evaluated, comparing two sites (Vasco and Palolem) on the Goan coast. DNA damage was assessed in the gill cells using the micronucleus and comet assays; physiological condition was determined from the condition index. These values were tested for correlations with the concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons and trace metals in the whole soft tissues and with the physico-chemical parameters of water from these sites. Specimens collected from Vasco showed high incidence of micronuclei and % tail DNA and a low condition index ratio compared to those from Palolem, which correlates with the higher level of pollutants in the bivalves the former site. We believe that *M* casta is a suitable species for biomonitoring studies of this type.

Introduction

imminitors are organisms which can be used to detect environreal stressors [1]. Any organism can be considered as a bioindicator, reading upon its sensitivity [2]. Although exposure to these stressors as be compensated by repair mechanisms, signs of toxicity will most as be evident at the upper limits of tolerance. Bioindicators are key assessing the level of environmental pollution, especially at sites of impogenic stress.

Millucs, particularly bivalves, are popular "sentinels" for detecting momental contamination [3], because of their association with the mine sediment, filter-feeding habit, and ability to bioaccumulate miniants. Bivalve species such as *Mytilus galloprovincialis* and *Rusphillipinarium* are routinely used for these programs, either as well populations or cultured and transplanted to the locations under b[4-7]. Two genotoxicity tests, the micronucleus test (MN) and the assay are routinely used as biomarkers for monitoring aquatic tion by genotoxic contaminants. These tests are of significant function by genotoxic contaminants. These tests, when combined the physiological and biochemical biomarkers, can give a der perspective of the pollution status of water bodies.

he potential of using clams as sentinel species has been

demonstrated by Fernández-Tajes et al. [11], who used three species of bivalves (Venerupis pullastra, Cerastoderma edule and Mytilus galloprovincialis) for biomonitoring an estuary in northwest Spain. DNA damage (comet assay) was correlated with pollution loads; clams and cockles were more sensitive to the effects of pollution. In another study, Jebali et al. [12] reported increased DNA damage in the clam, Ruditapes decussatus, collected from polluted sites along the coast of Tunisia. A multibiomarker approach using genotoxicity assays along with physiological and biochemical assays could be used to assess the quality of water and sediment at polluted sites [13].

According to the US EPA, shellfish can take up these metals by several mechanisms: (1) ingestion of particulate substances from suspended material; (2) ingestion of food materials that have acquired these metals; (3) uptake by exchange onto mucous sheets; (4) incorporation of these metal ions into physiologically important systems; and (5) formation of metal complexes with other organic molecules [14].

Meretrix casta (Chemnitz), which is selected for the present study, commonly called the backwater or estuarine clam, is usually found in the backwaters or estuaries of both the east and west coast of India $\{15\}$. It is a commercially important bivalve species that is consumed as a local delicacy in many parts along the coast of Goa and is available throughout the year. A few toxicity studies are available on *M. casta*.

Solorg 10.1016 (mrgrovox 2017 11.001

ed 18 June 2017; Received in revised form 1 November 2017, Accepted 2 November 2017

blé online 04 November 2017

718/ § 2017 Elsevier B V. All rights reserved

^{omes}ponding author. ^{mail} address: skshyamana gmarroom (S. S.K.)

Ralasubramanian [16] observed changes in the condition casta exposed to water-soluble fractions of diesel, engine wait crude oil for a period of 30 d. M. casta exposed to es of y-radiation exhibited single-strand breaks in DNA of ytes, as measured by the comet assay [17].

ng to the Indian Bureau of Mines of the Ministry of Mines nt of India), Goa accounts for 18% of the iron ore and 3% of nese ore in India [18,19]. The major rivers of Goa are conwith these metals, predominantly due to mining of iron and ore deposits [20-22]. The metals are then carried downthe estuarine regions [23] and may either circulate in the mn or be deposited on the surface sediment and interact with ated benthic fauna. A number of reports are available on the tions of iron and manganese prevailing in the estuaries of Goa

resent study aims to assess the use of a bivalve as a bioindides to monitor the pollution status of estuarine waters. The s were selected based on available reports. Vasco, at the (the Zuari river, is reported as a polluted estuary [27,28]; close to the Talpona river, is a relatively pristine environment

rials and methods

dy sites

m was selected as the polluted site (Fig. 1), based on available re [27,29]. Ores of iron and manganese are transported to offarges via the Zuari river and thus the water and sediment at are contaminated with metals, petroleum hydrocarbons, and ionnated biphenyls. Palolem was selected as the reference site Is pristine nature and tack of industrial activity at this site [29].



2 I. State area, showing the sampling sites at Vasco and Palolem.

2.2. Water sampling

Samples were collected from three sampling stations at each site during the pre-monsoon, monsoon, and post-monsoon periods from March 2012 to February 2014. The temperature, pH, and salinity of the water samples were recorded onsite with the help of an automated water analysis kit (Labtronics, India). Water samples for dissolved oxygen were taken in amber-coloured bottles (300 ml), fixed with Winkler's solution, and analyzed in the lab.

2.3. Bivalve collection

Meretrix casta (Estuarine backwater clam) was selected for the present study for its commercial value and availability in the Goan estuaries throughout the year. M. casta are moderately large bivalves with an average length of about 48 mm. They are identified by their thick shell, brownish appearance and anterior umbo (Fig. 2). Adult bivalves (n = 50) were collected twice during each season from each site with the help of skilled local fishermen. They were stored in a bucket with water from the study site, transported alive, and immediately processed upon arrival at the laboratory. Fifteen bivalves were used for the MN test and comet assay (detailed below). Another 10 bivalves were used for estimation of condition index. The remaining bivalves were used for the determination of petroleum hydrocarbons and trace metals.

2.4. Quality assurance and quality control

The appropriate quality assurance methods of sample preparation, handling, and preservation were carried out in accordance with US EPA procedures. All chemicals used were of analytical grade from Himedia (Himedia, India) unless specified otherwise.

2.5. Analysis of samples

The bivalves were dissected open and their gill tissues were collected and cleaned thoroughly prior to the analyses.

2.5.1. Micronucleus test

The micronucleus (MN) test was performed following the protocol outlined by Barsiene et al. [30]. A portion of the gill tissue was placed in a drop of methanol acetic acid mixture (3:1) on a clean glass slide. The gills were then gently nipped with tweezers for a few minutes and the resulting cell suspension was then smeared and air-dried. The smears were fixed in methanol for 10 min, stained with 5% Giemsa for 15 min, and allowed to dry. Five slides were prepared for each bivalve and were analyzed blind from coded slides. The frequency of micronuclei (MN) was recorded by scoring 1000 intact cells per slide at 1000 × magnification using an Olympus BX53 microscope. MN were identified according to the following criteria: (1) spherical or ovoidshaped extra nuclear bodies in the cytoplasm; (2) diameter 1/3-1/20 of the main nucleus; (3) non-refractory bodies; (4) colour texture and optical features resembling those of the nucleus; and (5) the bodies completely separated from the main nucleus.

2.5.2. Single cell gel electrophoresis (comet assay)

The comet assay was carried out as per the protocol of Lee and Steinert [31]. Gill tissue (0.1 g) was homogenized gently with phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.4) and the resulting cell suspension was passed through a muslin cloth to filter tissue debris. Prior to analysis, the cell count and cell viability of the suspension were checked (trypan blue dye exclusion) to ensure that there were enough living cells to perform the assay. Samples showing more than 90% viability and a cell count $> 10^6$ cells/ml were used for the tests. The cell suspension was embedded in low-melting agarose (0.5% LMA) on frosted microscopic slides precoated with 1% normal-melting agarose (NMA). The cells

Fig. 2. Backwater clam, Meretrix casta, actively feeding in water.



re then lysed by placing the slides in cold lysing solution (2.5 M (2.100 mM Na_EDTA, 10 mM Tris, 10% DMSO and 1% Triton-X, pH 1at4°C, overnight. Following lysis, the slides were placed in unting buffer (electrophoresis buffer, pH 10) for 20 min to allow the 14 to unwind. Electrophoresis was then performed for 30 min at 141/cm (Biorad electrophoresis unit).

The slides were placed in neutralization buffer (400 mM Tris base, 475) for 5 min. The gel containing DNA was stained with ethidium wide and examined using a fluorescence microscope (Olympus 63) with a green filter at 200 × magnification. All the above menned steps were performed in dim light and at 4 °C to prevent phototation of DNA. 5 slides were prepared for each bivalve and 100 heady selected non-overlapping cells from each slide were screened malyzed with the help of the computer software, CASP [32], and t⁴ tail DNA was recorded. The % tail DNA is the amount of DNA (in rem) present in the tail of the "comet" and is used as a measure of ⁴ damage [33].

3 Condition index

sta et al

Bivalves were cleaned, dissected and the soft tissue was carefully mated from the hard shells. Both the soft tissue and the shells were and in an oven at 60 °C overnight to determine their dry weights Condition index (CI) was then calculated as follows:

 $\frac{\text{Dry softtissue weight}(g)}{\text{Dry shell weight}(g)} \times 100$

Total petroleum hydrocarbon (TPH) analysis

Whole soft tissues were pooled (~10 g in triplicates) and homoted with hexane in a Potter-Elvehjem homogenizer and were then that in a sonicator water bath. The samples were dried by passing as a column of anhydrous sodium sulphate and made to a final of 25 ml with hexane. The extracted samples were placed in true cuvettes and the concentration of total petroleum hydrocarbons tailyaed using a spectrofluorophotometer (Shimadzu RF-5301 PC) synchronous excitation at 310 nm and emission at 360 nm. The find reference material for TPH estimation was Bombay High crude and was used to prepare the calibration curve. The values were expressed as $\mu g/g$ of wet tissue [35].

2.5.5. Trace metal analysis

Whole tissue samples (~ 2 g in triplicates) were digested in 10 ml of 14 M nitric acid, 13 M perchloric acid and 5 ml distilled water in a Teflon beaker, according to Begum et al. [36]. The samples were heated at 150 °C for 2 h on a hot plate. The sample was then transferred to a 100 ml volumetric flask and diluted to 50 ml with distilled water. The concentrations of iron (Fe), manganese (Mn), copper (Cu), cadmium (Cd), and lead (Pb) were determined from this sample by Flame Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometry (Shimadzu). Results were expressed as $\mu g/g$ of wet tissue. "TraceCERT certified reference metals for AAS (Sigma)" were used for trace metal estimation.

2.6. Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM^c SPSS 23 statistical software package. Data of MN test and % tail DNA were arc sine transformed and that of CI, tissue concentrations of pollutants and physico-chemical parameters of water were log transformed to improve linearity and were tested for normality and homogeneity using the Shapiro-Wilk test and Levene's test, respectively, prior to subsequent analyses. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to check the influence of sites and seasons on MN, % Tail DNA and CI. The significance of the data of MN test, comet assay and condition index between the sites was analyzed employing a post hoc Dunnet's test. A multiple regression model was used to evaluate the factors affecting DNA damage and CI. Pearson's correlation analyses were done between (1) MN test and the comet assay; (2) MN test and CI; and (3) comet assay and CI. The results were regarded as statistically significant at p < 0.001, 0.01, and 0.05.

3. Results

The bivalves collected from Vasco in all seasons had significantly high DNA damage, in the form of MN (p < 0.05) compared to those from Palolem (Fig. 3). Also, a significant increase in % tail DNA was observed in the clams collected from Vasco (Fig. 4). The condition



Seasons

and er al

3 Monorodei (%) in the gill cells of M, casta (Mean \pm S.D) collected from Vasco aldemin different seasons March 2012 to February 2014 (p < 0.05). Note: Pre-M: worth Monson, Post-M: Post-monsoon.



Seasons

(4.1ai) DNA (%) in the gill cells of M costo (Mean \pm S.D) collected from Vasco and Nen is different seasons March 2012 to February 2014 (p < 0.05; p < 0.01). # In-M Presenseon; M: Monsoon, Post-M: Post-monsoon



 $\overline{X} \ \mathbb{C}$ of M. casta (Mean \pm S.D) collected from Vasco and Palolem in different sea-Narch 2012 to February 2014 (p < 0.05; p < 0.01). Note: Pre-M: Pre-monsoon; Integra, Post-M: Post-monsoon.

 tr of all the bivalves collected from Vasco was also found to be th cantly low (p < 0.05, Fig. 5).

The physico-chemical parameters of water and the concentrations of and trace metals in the soft tissues of *M. casta* are given in S1 and espectively (Supplementary data). There were no significant varns in the water parameters throughout the seasons and sites. (ever, the concentrations of TPH in the soft tissues of the bivalves

collected from Vasco were significantly high compared to those collected from Palolem in all seasons (p < 0.05). The metals Fe, Mn, Cd, and Pb were also significantly high in most seasons through the study period. Cu was found to be significantly high only in the monsoon season of 2013.

The results of the two-way ANOVA using MN, % Tail DNA or CI as the dependent variable, with sites and seasons as the independent variables, showed an interesting trend. The variance between MN and sites was highly significant (F = 92. 15, p < 0.001) whereas between MN and seasons was not significant (F = 0.35, p = 0.35). Similarly, the variance between % tail DNA and sites and that between CI and sites was also highly significant (F = 113.22, p < 0.001 and F = 84.49, p < 0.001 respectively). The variance between both % tail DNA and CI when individually compared with seasons was not significant (F = 0.32, p < 0.4 and F = 0.41, p < 0.16 respectively). Additionally, the influences of both season and site on MN, % tail DNA, or CI were non-significant (F = 1.28, p < 0.09; F = 1.12, p < 0.11and F = 0.84, p < 0.15 respectively). Therefore, DNA damage and condition index depend on the sites and not on the season.

Based on the correlation matrix between the genotoxicity and condition index parameters, a positive correlation was obtained between the frequency of MN and % tail DNA (R = 0.85, p < 0.001), also represented as scatter plots (Fig. 6). A significant negative correlation was observed between the MN test and CI (R = -0.72,





h
gl and the second seco

endeni sble	Independent variable	Beta Coefficients	t value	Significance	R square
X	TPH	0.631	2 236		071
	Fe	0.431	2 383		
	Mn	0.249	2.244		
	Cu	-0.051	-0.481	115	
	Cd	-0.102	-0.615	as	
	Pb	-0.201	-1410	ns	
	Temp	-0.020	-0.272	tis	
	рH	0.017	0 1 9 3	ns	
	Salinity	0.151	1.434	ns	
	DO	-0.012	- U 0 96	as	
DNA	TPH	0.869	2 895		0.62
	Fe	0.184	0 955	115	
	Ma	0.453	3 840		
	Cu	-0.079	- 0 705	ns	
	Cđ	-0.244	-1 388	B1	
	РЬ	-0.090	-0.594	115	
	Temp	-0.025	-0319	115 115	
	pH	0.111	1 1 5 7	as	
	Salinity	0 264	2 355		
	DO	0.038	0.282	IIN .	
	TPH	- 1.029	-3115		0.54
	Fe	-0.183	~ 0.865	ns	
	Mn	-0.185	-1429	ns	
	Cu	-0.053	- 0.429	ns	
	Cđ	0 231	1 1 9 3	:15	
	РЬ	0 206	1 237	ns	
	Temp	0 042	0.493	135	
	pH	-0.078	- 0 745	ns	
	Salinity	-0.175	-1 423	ns	
	D0	-0.106	-0709	115	

 $\{0.01\}$ as well as between the comet assay and CI (R = -0.85, $\{0.001).$

In the multiple regression model (Table 1), the induction of MN was sufficantly affected by the concentrations of TPH, Fe, and Mn in the sats (p < 0.05). Similarly, the incidence of ∞ tail DNA was affected the tissue concentrations of TPH and Mn (p < 0.05, p < 0.01) and stater salinity (p < 0.05). The condition index was influenced only the concentration of TPH in the soft tissues. The other variables bisochemical parameters) did not contribute significantly to this tight.

¹ Discussion

We examined the DNA damage and deteriorating condition index of Marx casta from Vasco compared to Palolem across seasons. In all sons, *M. casta* collected from Vasco showed a significantly high spency of MN in the gill cells. This is in agreement with several ports of genetic damage in the bivalves exposed to pollutants insing trace metals, various hydrocarbons and biphenyls, such as that ischiedek et al. [37], who reported a significantly high frequency of in blue mussels (*M. edulis*) from a location polluted with metals, sts, and organochlorines in the Baltic Sea. Barsiene et al. [38] samblue mussels (*Mytilus* spp.) from different zones in the Baltic Sea a reported a high frequency of MN in the gill cells of mussels from thy polluted areas. In another study, *M. edulis* collected from the blue frequency of MN compared to those collected before the oil spill blue bit frequency of MN compared to those collected before the oil spill blue bit frequency of MN compared to those collected before the oil spill blue bit frequency of MN compared to those collected before the oil spill blue bit frequency of MN compared to those collected before the oil spill blue bit frequency of MN compared to those collected before the oil spill blue bit frequency of MN compared to those collected before the oil spill blue bit frequency of MN compared to those collected before the oil spill blue bit frequency of MN compared to those collected before the oil spill blue bit for the bit for t

The presence of these MN has been attributed to the presence of subjoics in the environment. MN, which arise due to lagging chrosomal fragments or a whole chromosome, do not get incorporated during cell division and persist as a small body (micronucleus) in proximity to the main nucleus; thus, this assay is useful for any proliferating cell population [40]. The lagging chromosomal fragments/ chromosomes arise as a consequence of long-term exposure associated with an accumulated effect of genotoxic or clastogenic agents which either directly affect the DNA or interfere with mitotic processes [13,30,41].

A significant increase in the % tail DNA was observed from the clams collected from Vasco (Fig. 3). This indicates the presence of a high level of DNA-damaging agents, probably trace metals and various hydrocarbons, which will lead to the loss of DNA integrity through DNA strand breaks [13]. Our observation is in agreement with that of Sarkar et al. [42] who reported a decrease in DNA integrity in the gastropod. Cronia contracta, from Vasco and were reported to be attributed to exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and metals such as Pb, Cu, Cd, Fe, and Mn. In another study, Sarkar et al. [27] reported a decrease in DNA integrity of another gastropod, Morula granulata from Hollant, which is located close to Vasco. Certain petroleum hydrocarbons constituents, such as benzo[a]pyrene (a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon), when absorbed by the organism, can be converted to a reactive species (dihydrodiol epoxide), and can form a stable adduct with DNA [43], leading to changes in the conformation and functioning of the DNA and to carcinogenesis [44,45].

We also observed a significant positive correlation between the frequencies of MN and % tail DNA. The MN test and the comet assay reflect different forms of environmental stress. The comet assay is able to detect repairable DNA damage such as DNA strand breakages, whereas the MN test detects more persistent DNA damage such as chromosomal breaks which are more difficult to repair [46,47]. The combination of bioaccumulated contaminants in the tissues of the bivalves could therefore lead to formation of complexes with metabolites, reactive oxygen species and subsequently DNA damage which could initially induce DNA strand breaks; whereas prolonged exposure would lead to more severe damage such as MN formation.

A significant negative correlation was observed between the MN test and CI as well as between the % tail DNA and CI. Langston et al. [48] reported a significant negative correlation between condition index and tissue levels of environmental contaminants of *Littorina littorea*, *Mytilus edulis* and *Cerastoderma edule* in a river system (Milford Haven Waterway) of Wales, UK. The decrease of physiological health may be attributed to altered DNA function which subsequently results in altered protein function that is ultimately required for normal physiological processes. The physiological state of the bivalve can also lead to changes in its feeding activity thereby altering its life cycle as well [49]. Another reason for the decrease in the CI ratio could possibly be the survival adaptive response of *M. casta*, reducing the filtration rate or closing the shell on exposure to contaminants [50].

Meretrix casta collected from Vasco also showed significant concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons and trace metals compared to ones collected from Palolem. These observations also support our previous findings of TPH and trace metals in the tissues of an edible finfish, Arius arius from Vasco [10]. The presence of these pollutants, especially TPH, Fe and Mn, in the tissues is also associated with genotoxicity in these organisms. The reason for this association could be the intensity of mining and harbor activities at Vasco, as mentioned earlier. Trace metals, which may be genotoxic when accumulated at a high concentration in the tissues of aquatic organisms, can have a profound effect on the integrity of DNA leading to single- or doublestrand breaks [4]. Trace metals can also cause the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [51] and can therefore indirectly cause damage to DNA, alter proteins and induce lipid peroxidation, resulting in decreased nutritive value and disease following consumption [52-54]. Another consequence of bioaccumulation of metals is the effect on the physiological well-being of the organism which, in turn, also affects its meat quality [55,56]. The presence of petroleum hydrocarbons in the bivalves also induce genotoxicity by forming metabolites and interact Jowed

Ma either directly by forming DNA adducts or indirectly by the pion of ROS [43,57,58]. The presence of TPH in the present study systated with a reduced condition index and may thus affect quality and palatability [35].

vesonality plays an important role in the bioaccumulation of enmental contaminants and in turn may affect DNA damage 42]. However, based on the two-way ANOVA in our present study, stating does not seem to affect DNA damage. This may be due to mations in the physico-chemical parameters throughout the seas which play a major influence in contaminant uptake, or due to man of the contaminants in the environment as well as in the of the clam. Our results are in agreement with that of Bocchetti al [63], in which they did not observe significant seasonal variation Wh damage (particularly MN) in clams and mussels collected from Minatic Sea. Our results are also comparable with that of Singh and nd [64], who reported that changes in environmental conditions do (feet DNA damage in M. edulis exposed to waters with different nits. This could be due to species-specific mechanisms as both as and mussels are well adapted to the intertidal environment (6). Further studies are required to understand the mechanisms of station of DNA damage and seasonal variations. On the other hand, micant variation in DNA damage and contaminant accumulation gobserved between the sites in the present study. This can be atmed to the level of anthropogenic activities occurring at both the # Site selection thus plays an important role in which biological hts can be appropriately compared and can provide a baseline data a future work [66.67].

i Conclusion

lesed on the observations of DNA damage, physiological condition for and its occurrence despite the presence of pollution, *M. casta* is a sol candidate for biomonitoring studies in estuarine ecosystems. The N test and comet assay can be easily employed for analyzing genomain. Further analyses of the water column and sediment could splement our findings and provide a broader perspective of the real health at these sites since bivalves are an economically imrunt species. Further, the stress caused by DNA damage leads to seriorated physical condition and could also lead to a significant time in natural populations. Regular monitoring of estuaries for xetionic pollutants is needed.

afficts of interest

The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are spousible for the content and writing of the paper.

cinowledgements

This work was a part of the Ministry of Earth Sciences (MoES), Govt. Adia funded project (Sanction No. MoES/11-MRDF/1/38/P/10-PClated 30/06/2010). The authors also express their gratitude to the versity Grants Commission (UGC) for providing the Maulana Azad adional Fellowship (F1-17.1/2013-14/MANF-2013-14-CHR-GOA-375). The authors also wish to acknowledge Dr. S.R. Ganihar for his hubbe assistance in data compilation and analyses.

Pendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the dime version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2017.11.001.

lerences

- M. Zuykov, E. Pelletier, D.A.T. Harper, Bivalve mollusks in metal pollution studies: from bioaccumulation to biomonitoring: review, Chemosphere 93 (2013) 201-208.
 C. Bolognesi, G. Frenzilli, C. Lasagna, E. Perrone, P. Roggieri, Genotoxicity bio-
- markers in Mytilus galloprovincialis. wild versus caged mussels. Mutat. Res. 552 (2004) 153–162.
 [5] T. Vlahogianni, M. Dassenakis, M.J. Scoullos, A. Valavanidis, Integrated use of
- biomarkers (superoxide dismutase, no. scourds, A. Valavanidis, Integrated use of biomarkers (superoxide dismutase, catalase and lipid peroxidation) in mussels Mytilus galloprovincialis for assessing heavy metals' pollution in coastal areas from the Saronikos Gulf of Greece, Mar. Pollut. Bull. 54 (2007) 1361–1371.
- [6] V. Moschino, E. Delaney, L. Da Ros, Assessing the significance of Ruditapes philippinarum as a sentinel for sediment pollution: bioaccumulation and biomarker responses, Environ. Pollut. 171 (2012) 52-60.
- [7] C. Ji, L. Cao, F. Li, Toxicological evaluation of two pedigrees of clam Ruditapes philippinarum as bioindicators of heavy metal contaminants using metabolomics, Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 39 (2015) 545-554.
- [8] A.N. Jha, Genotoxicological studies in aquatic organisms: an overview, Mutat. Res. 552 (2004) 1-17.
- [9] A.N. Jha, Ecotoxicological applications and significance of the comet assay, Mutagenesis 23 (2008) 207–221.
- [10] A.H. D'costa, Shyama S.K, Praveen Kumar M.K, Bioaccumulation of trace metals and total petroleum and genotoxicity responses in a wild fish population as indicators of marine pollution, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 142 (2017) 22–28.
- [11] J. Fernandez-Tajes, F. Florez, S. Pereira, T. Rabade, B. Laffon, J. Méndez, Use of three bivalve species for biomonitoring a polluted estuarine environment, Environ. Monit. Assess. 177 (2011) 289–300.
- [12] J. Jebali, M. Banni, E. Alves, D.E. Almeida, H. Boussetta, Oxidative DNA damage levels and catalase activity in the clam *Ruditapes decussatus* as pollution biomarkers of Tunisian marine environment, Environ. Monit. Assess. 124 (2007) 195-200.
- [13] C. Bolognesi, S. Cirillo, Genotoxicity biomarkers in aquatic bioindicators, Curr. Zool. 60 (2014) 273–284.
- [14] EPA (Environmental Protection Agency), The Health Hazards Associated with the Consumption of Shellfish from Polluted Waters, (1971).
- [15] G. Seshappa, Some observations on the backwater clam Meretrix casta (Chemnitz) in the Beypore and Korapuha estuaries, Indian J. Fish. 14 (1–2) (1971) 298–305.
- [16] A.J.A. Sophia, T. Balasubramanian, Changes in the physical condition of *Meretrix casta* exposed to water-soluble fractions of refined and crude oil, Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 22 (1992) 471–474.
- [17] Praveen Kumar M.K, Shyama S.K, B.S. Sonaye, U.R. Naik, S.B. Kadam, P.D. Bipin, et al., Evaluation of γ -radiation-induced DNA damage in two species of bivalves and their relative sensitivity using comet assay, Aquat. Toxicol. 150 (2014) 1–8.
- (18) IBM (Indian Bureau of Mines, Minsitry of Mines, Govt of India). Iron ore. 51st edition, Indian Minerals Yearbook vol. 28, (2014), pp. 1–35.
- [19] IBM (Indian Bureau of Mines, Minsitry of Mines, Govt of India), Manganese ore, 51st edition, Indian Minerals Yearbook vol. 34, (2014), pp. 1–25.
- [20] R. Nigam, R. Panchang, P. Banerjee, Foraminifera in surface sediments of Mandovi River estuary: indicators for mining pollution and high sea stand in Goa, India, J. Coastal Res. 21 (2005) 853-859.
- [21] D.V. Dessai, G.N. Nayak, N. Basavaiah, Grain size, geochemistry, magnetic susceptibility: proxies in identifying sources and factors controlling distribution of metals in a tropical estuary. India, Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 85 (2009) 307-318.
- [22] K. Attri, S. Kerkar, Seasonal assessment of heavy metal pollution in tropical mangrove sediments (Goa, India), J. Ecobiotechnol. 3 (2011) 9–15.
- [23] R. Alagarsamy, Distribution and seasonal variation of trace metals in surface sediment of the Mandovi estuary, west coast of India. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 67 (2006) 333–339.
- [24] A. Mesquita, S. Kaisary, Distribution of iron and manganese, in: S.R. Shetye, M. Dileep Kumar, D. Shankar (Eds.), The Mandovi and Zuari Estuaries, National Institute of Oceanography, 2007, pp. 99–104.
- [25] P. M. Kessarkar, S. Suja, V. Sudheesh, S. Srivastava, V.P. Rao. Iron ore pollution in Mandovi and Zuari estuarine sediments and its fate after mining ban, Environ. Monit. Assess, 187 (2015) 572.
- [26] H.Q. Dias, G.N. Nayak, Geochemistry and bioavailability of mudflats and mangrove sediments and their effect on bioaccumulation in selected organisms within a tropical (Zuari) estuary, Goa, India, Mar. Pollut. Bull. 105 (2016) 227-236.
- [27] A. Sarkar, J. Bhagat, S. Sarker, Evaluation of impairment of DNA in marine gastropod, Morula granulata as a biomarker of marine pollution, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 106 (2014) 253–261.
- [28] TERI (The Energy and Resources Institute), Directions, Innovations, and Strategies for Harnessing Action for Sustainable Development in Goa, (2015), p. 175.
- [29] S. Sarker, A. Sarkar, Role of marine pollutants in impairment of DNA integrity, J. Clin. Toxicol. 5 (2015) 244, http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2161-0495.1000244.
- [30] J. Barsiene, L. Andreikenaite, G. Garnaga, A. Rybakovas. Genotoxic and cytotoxic effects in the bivalve mollusks *Macoma balthica and Mytilus edulis* from the Baltic Sea. Ekologija 54 (2008) 44–50.
- [31] R.F. Lee, S. Steinert, Use of the single cell gel electrophoresis/comet assay for detecting DNA damage in aquatic (marine and freshwater) animals. Review, Mutat. Res. 544 (2003) 43-64.
- [32] K. Konca, A. Lankoff, A. Banasik, H. Lisowska, T. Kuszewski, S. Gozdz, et al., A cross-platform public domain PC image-analysis program for the comet assay, Mutat. Res. 534 (2003) 15–20.
- [33] T.S. Kumaravel, A.N. Jha, Reliable comet assay measurements for detecting DNA damage induced by ionising radiation and chemicals, Mutat. Res. 605 (2006) 7–16.
- 34] R. Filgueira, L.A. Comeau, T. Landry, J. Grant, T. Guyondet, A. Mallet, Bivalve condition index as an indicator of aquaculture intensity: a meta-analysis, Ecol.

^{1]} M. Martin, P.J. Coughtry, Biological Monitoring of Heavy Metal Pollution, ^{pplied} Science Pub., London, 1982.

and

- 25 (2013) 215-229

- g issue C Desilva, S Badesab, Total petroleum hydrocarbon in the tissues of in an and the second se 11: 2564-2568
- Res Al Mustafa, M.N. Amin, T.R. Chowdhury, S.B. Quraishi, N. Banu, Levels then meals in tassies of shingi fish (Heteropheuster foundis) from Buriganga Budiston Environ Monat. Assess. 185 (2013) 5461-5469
- State & Brose J. Barstene, K.K. Lehtonen, J. Gercken, S. Pfeifer.
- Continuer, PJ. Vuorinen, V. Dedunyte, A. Kuehler, L. Balk, R. Schneider.
- intering reporters as indication of contaminant effects in blue mussel (Mythus abi mi imaie celonat [Zources waporus] from the southwestern Baltic Sea, Mar Mal Ball 53 (2006) 387-405
- IRitent, D. Schiedek, A. Rybakovas, J. Syvokiene, J. Kopecka, L. Forlin, pentite and extension effects in gill cells of the blue mussel Mytilus spp. from First some of the Baltic Sen, Mar. Poilut. Bull. 53 (2006) 469-478. Brien, A. Rybakovas, G. Garnaga, L. Andreikenaite, Environmental genotoxi-
- and costancity studies in muserls before and after an oil spill at the marine oil muni in the Baltic Sea, Environ, Munit Assess 184 (2012) 2067-2078. radenes M. Haynshi, Review micronucleus assay in aquatic animals,
- 10 2011) 205-213.
- H ME Chang, M. Kirsch-Volders, N. Holland, S. Bonassi, F. Zeiger, HUMN sum denied description of the scoring criteria for the cytokinesis-block mirandom anny uning isolated human lymphocyte cultures, Mutat. Res. 534 (2003) 65-75
- Usriz, DC.S. Gestrende A Serkar, D. Vanhastha, C. D'Silva, S.G. Dalal,
- latation of impairment of DNA integrity in marine gastropods (Cronta controcta) arbimatian of penotonic contaminants in coastal water around Goa, West coast d hill, Econocol Environ Safety 71 (2006) 473-482
- 11 Jóan, M. Falandel, Interspecses differences in DNA single strand breaks caused a tessiologymee and marine environment, Mutat. Res. 552 (2004) 209-217. 4 H Monerot, P.E. Martinez, L.A. Gerneitano, A.L. Lund, G.C. Martinez,
- If Loss, Pollution biomarkers in estuarine animals, critical review and new responses Comp Blochem Physical C 146 (2007) 221-234.
- (D Zeck R Franco, A.G. Georgahilas, S. Georgahila, V. Malamous-Mitsi, Oshiarvid, A Pappa, M.I. Panayiotidis. The role of reactive oxygen species and ution sten in environmental caremogenesis and biomarker development, Orn. Bol Interact. 188 (2010) 334-339.
- A Remain A Elhapouji E. Kashimas F. Poetter, H.J. Martus, A. Fjallman, I frend, W Suter, Use of the alkaline amay for industrial genotoxicity screening: amazine investigation with the micronucleus test, Food Chem. Toxicol. 39 (2001) 843-858
- Gl Robert, M. Pavlica, R. Erben, D. Papes, Application of the micronucleus test atomat may to mame Dressena polymorpho baemocytes for genotoxicity overaing of freshwater environments, Aquat. Toxicol. 64 (2003) 15-23.
- Languas, S. O'Hara, N.D. Pope, M. Duvey, E. Shortridge, M. Imamura, Blama, A. Jam, C.H. Vane, Bioaccumulation surveillance in milford haven wa-
- ur, Invine Mons. Assess. 184 (2012) 289-311. JHF Babaro, M.J. Fernandez-Reiriz, U. Labarta, Feeding behavior of seed mussel Victor collectors uciolis: environmental parameters and seed origin, J. Shellfish Res.
- 9 (2004) 195-201 F Icha, T. Burgeot, H. Burkeinski, A. Pfohl-Leszkowicz, J.F. Narbonne, Induction
- ad cismanon of bulky benzol a pyrene-related DNA adducts and 8-oxodGuo in much Mysta galaprovincialis exposed in vivo to B(a)P-contaminated feed. Mar. ini. Prog. Ser. 205 (2000) 19-206.
- In Velena, R.B. Jena, G.B.N. Chainy, Modulation of antioxidant defences in iteme gland of Perns winds (L.), on mercury exposures, Chemosphere 71 (2008) 977-1985.

- [52] M. Valko, C.J. Rhodes, J. Moncol, M. Izakovic, M. Mazur, Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer, Chem. Biol. Interact. 160 (2006) 1-40.
- [53] Z.J. Qian, W.K. Jung, H.G. Byun, S.K. Kim, Protective effect of an antioxidative peptide purified from gastrointestinal digests of oyster: Crassostrea gigas against free radical induced DNA damage, Bioresour, Technol 99 (2008) 3365-3371.
- [54] F. Regoli, M.E. Giuliani. Oxidative pathways of chemical toxicity and oxidative stress biomarkers in marine organisms, Mar. Environ. Res. 93 (2014) 106-117.
- [55] E. Orban, G. Di Lena, T. Nevigato, I. Casini, A. Marzetti, R. Caproni, Seasonal changes in meat content, condition index and chemical composition of mussels (Mynlus galloprovincialis) cultured in two different Italian sites, Food Chem. 77 (2002) 57-65
- [56] D.M. Pampanin, F. Volpato, I. Marangon, C. Nasci, Physiological measurements from native and transplanted mussel (Mytilus galloprovincialis) in the canals of Venice. Survival in air and condition index, Comp. Biochem, Physiol. A 140 (2005) 41-52.
- [57] M. Pisoni, L. Cogotzi, A. Frigeri, I. Corsi, S. Bonacci, A. Iacocca, et al., DNA adducts, benzo(a)pyrene monooxygenase activity and lysosomal membrane stability in Myttlus galloprovincialis from different areas in Taranto coastal waters (Italy). Environ. Res. 96 (2004) 163-175.
- [58] M. Martins, P.M. Costa, A.M. Ferreira, M.H. Costa, Comparative DNA damage and oxidative effects of carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic sediment-bound PAHs in the gills of a bivalve, Aquat. Toxicol. 142-143 (2013) 85-89.
- V.A. Catsiki, H. Florou. Study on the behavior of the heavy metals Cu, Cr. Ni, Zn, Fe, [59] Mn and ¹³⁷Cs in an estuarme ecosystem using Mynlus galloprovincialis as a bioindicator species, the case of Thermaikos Gulf, Greece, J. Environ. Radioact. 86 (2006) 31-44.
- [60] L.G. Hallanger, N.A. Warner, A. Ruus, A. Evenset, G. Christensen, D. Herzke, G.W. Gabrielsen, K. Borga, Seasonality in contaminant accumulation in arctic marine pelagic food webs using trophic magnification factor as a measure of bioaccumulation, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 30 (2011) 1026-1035.
- [61] A. Sacchi, C. Mouneyrac, C. Bolognesi, A. Sciutto, P. Roggieri, M. Fusi, G.M. Beone, E. Capri, Biomonitoring study of an estuarine coastal ecosystem, the Sacca di Goro lagoon, using Ruditapes philippinarum (Mollusca: bivalvia), Environ. Pollut. 177 (2013) 82-89
- L.J. Dallas, V.V. Cheung, A.S. Fisher, A.N. Jha, Relative sensitivity of two marine [62] bivalves for detection of genotoxic and cytotoxic effects: a field assessment in the Tamar Estuary, South West England, Environ. Monit Assess. 185 (2013) 3397-3412.
- [63] R. Bocchetti, C.V. Lamberti, B. Pisanelli, E.M. Razzettia, C. Maggi, B. Catalano, et al., Seasonal variations of exposure biomarkers, oxidative stress responses and cell damage in the clams. Tapes philippinarum, and mussels, Mynlus golloprovincialis, from Adriatic sea, Mar. Environ. Res. 66 (2008) 24-26.
- [64] R. Singh, M.G.J. Hart, Fluctuating estuarine conditions are not confounding factors for the comet assay assessment of DNA damage in the mussel Mytilus edulis, Ecotoxicology 21 (2012) 1998-2003.
- [65] M. Martins, P.M. Costa, The comet assay in Environmental Risk Assessment of marine pollutants: applications, assets and handicaps of surveying genotoxicity in non-model organisms, Mutagenesis 30 (2015) 89-106.
- [66] A.N. Jha, V.V. Cheung, M.E. Foulkes, S.J. Hill, M.H. Depledge, Detection of genotoxins in the marine environment: adoption and evaluation of an integrated approach using the embryo-larval stages of the marine mussel, Mytilus edulis, Mutat. Res 464 (2000) 213-228.
- [67] L.J. Dallas, A.N. Jha, Applications of biological tools or biomarkers in aquatic biota a case study of the Tamar estuary, South West England, Mar. Pollut. Bull. 95 (2015) 618-633.

www.symbiosisonline.org www.symbiosisonlinepublishing.com

Research Article

Journal of Biosensors, Biomarkers and Diagnostics

Open Access

Genotoxic and Biochemical Biomarker Responses in Meretrix Casta Exposed to Environmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium

Avelyno D'costa, Soorambail K. Shvama*, Praveen Kumar M. K. and Swizzle Furtado

and the start of the start of the second clock India

Regived: January 24,2017; Accepted: March 27,2017; Published: April 16,2017.

Matesponding authors: S.K. Shyama. Department of Zoology, Goa University, Goa-403206, India, Tel.: +91- 0832-6519364 (O);E-mail: skshyama@

mail.com

Abstract

(admium (Cd) enters estuarine water by surface runoffs from mes, phosphate fertilizers from agricultural fields and other adiopogenic sources which may pose a threat to the fauna inhabiting dese waters. Bivalve molluscs which are a source of seafood may annulate Cd leading to deteriorated health of the organisms and myalso cause various health consequences in man. The present study macried out to assess the toxicity of Cd in the estuarine backwater ian Neretrix casta. In the experimental setup, the bivalves were aposed to three environmentally relevant concentrations of CdCl₂ 0.5 m/L 15 mg/L 3 mg/L) for a period of 15 days. Genotoxicity asts [Micronucleus Test (MN) and comet assay], oxidative stress prometers [Catalase Assay (CAT) and Lipid Peroxidation Assay [MDA]], neurotoxicity test [Acetylcholinesterase Assay (AChE)] and misial condition (condition index) were employed to evaluate the mosof Cd in M. casta. A dose-dependent increase of DNA damage *# seen at all the concentrations of Cd. Catalase activity was not ipilicantly changed at the lowest concentration compared to the mml, but increased significantly at the higher concentrations. hid peroxidation was found to be significantly increased at all the intentrations of Cd. However, the levels of AChE were found to iterease in a dose-dependent manner. The condition index ratio was assioned to be lowered with increasing dose. DNA damage was highly orrelated with oxidative stress suggesting the mechanism of action of ion DNA. Oxidative stress was negatively correlated with AChE and may possibly be a contributing factor to neurotoxicity. M. casta can berefore be used as a potential sentinel species for monitoring the Cd athe estuarine environment using these biomarkers.

htroduction

Cadmium (Cd) occurs naturally in sedimentary rocks adsoils in the environment and is also a constituent of zinc, lead ad copper ores. It is used extensively in various applications such as anticorrosive agents, stabilizers in PVC products, in genents, a neutron-absorber in nuclear power plants and the manufacture of nickel-cadmium batteries. It is also present in absophate fertilizers (1). Cd can therefore be released into the quaticenvironment from sources such as rainwater runoffs from metal mining sites, mine drainage water, phosphate tertilizers, swage treatment plants landfills and hazardous waste sites 23). Cd is known to be implicated in carcinogenesis either frough oxidative stress or inhibition of DNA repair processes (1). The Environmental Protection Agency has thus classified 24 as a Group B1 carcinogen and is considered to be a probable

human carcinogen (5). The toxicity of Cd is well documented in plants and is known to affect various important processes (6). In animal models such as fish, acute and sub-chronic exposure to Cd leads to alterations of gill epithelium, liver and kidneys and also affects enzymes such as acetyl cholinesterase (7,8). In molluscs, Cd exposure results in reduction of growth rate and mortality due to impairment of several metabolic functions (9,10). Several studies have also reported the genotoxicity of Cd in various animal models (11-15). The effect of Cd on DNA may be indirect, via the action of reactive oxygen species thus leading to oxidative DNA damage (16). Further, metal-induced genotoxicity is predominantly due to the inhibition of the DNA repair process (17).

Molluscs, particularly bivalves have been popularly used as "sentinels" to detect pollution caused by a wide array of contaminants in the environment (18). The advantage of using bivalves is due to their intimate association with the sediment, filter- or suspension-feeding habit and their ability to bioaccumulate various contaminants. Bivalves can selectively concentrate metal ions several hundred times from their surrounding water by several mechanisms such as the ingestion of particulate substances from suspended material, ingestion of food material that have acquired these metals, uptake by exchange onto mucous sheets of siphons and gills resulting in their incorporation into important physiological systems and formation of metal complexes with other organic molecules within the body (19). Cd, along with other hazardous metals is known to bioaccumulate in the tissues of bivalve molluscs which can pose a serious threat to the seafood consumers (20,21). Cd also affects the early development of bivalves causing growth abnormalities and reduced survival (22). The International Agency for Research on Cancer has reported that regular consumers of bivalve molluscs are estimated to have weekly dietary cadmium exposures of 4.6 μ g/kg of body weight (3).

In the present study, *Meretrix casta* (Chemnitz) commonly called the backwater or estuarine clam, was selected due to its occurrence in the backwaters or estuaries of both the east and west coast of India (23). It is consumed as local seafood in many parts along the coast of India and is available throughout the year. Despite its consumption, few studies are available on the toxicity of various contaminants that predominantly occur

Monmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium

these regions in *M. casta*. The presence of Cd in the waters of the coast of Goa may be attributed to the discharge of fuents from agrochemical industries (24). Oysters (*Crassostea* collected from a polluted estuary in Goa were found to rehigh concentrations of Cd in their soft tissues which are pendent on the speciation of Cd in the water and sediment 526). High concentrations of Cd were also observed in oysters indrasensis, *C. gryphoides and Saccostrea cucullata*) collected in three different polluted sites in Goa and were found to be misstently high in all the seasons (27).

Materials and Methods

Mality Assurance and Quality Control

The appropriate quality assurance methods of sample reparation, handling and preservation were carried out in mordance with US EPA procedures. All chemicals used were of mbylical grade from Himedia (Himedia, India) unless specified methods.

Maintenance of Meretrix casta

Meretrix casta (Estuarine backwater clam) was selected in the present study as it is consumed by a majority of the astal population and also due to its availability in the Goan staries throughout the year. The bivalves (both sexes) were ollected from the intertidal zone with the help of skilled local thermen from Palolem, a pristine location in Goa. This site is a dean, pristine beach with no known industrial activity or athropogenic stress (28,29). They were stored in a bucket with rater from the study site and transported alive to the laboratory. They were then allowed to acclimatize in ordinary seawater from allolem for 30 days. The water conditions were maintained as blows: temperature 25°C, pH 7.5, salinity 25 ppt, dissolved regen 7.5 mg/L. The water was changed once daily to reduce kal contamination.

lreatment Schedule

Bivalves were distributed in groups, each containing I individuals and were used for dose-response studies. Intentrations of CdCl, were selected based on the 96h LC50 tables in *M. meretrix* (30) and the environmental levels along the ban coast (31). Accordingly, three sub-lethal concentrations of ACL, (0.75 µg/L, 1.5 µg/L and 3 µg/L) were selected and were sposed to the bivalve groups for a period of 15 days. A group of bivalves was maintained in parallel without any Cd treatment and streed as the negative control.

Analysis of Samples

The bivalves were dissected open, their gill and muscle ^{Ussues} were cleaned thoroughly prior to the genotoxicity and ^{biochem}ical analyses.

^{Cell vi}ability

Prior to the comet assay and micronucleus test, the cell ^{Nunt} and cell viability of the peripheral blood were checked to ^{Insure} that there were enough living cells to perform the assay ^{Imploying} trypan blue dye exclusion test. The samples showing more than 90% viability and a cell count of a minimum of $10^{\rm 6}$ cells/ml were used for the tests.

Micronucleus Test

The Micronucleus (MN) test was performed following the protocol outlined by Baršiene et al. (32). A portion of the gill tissue was placed in a drop of methanol acetic acid mixture (3:1) on a clean glass slide. This tissue was then gently nipped with tweezers for a few minutes and the resulting cell suspension was then smeared and air-dried. The smears were fixed in methanol for 10 min, stained with 5% Giemsa for 15 mins and allowed to dry. The frequency of Micronuclei (MNi) was recorded by scoring 2,000 intact cells per bivalve at 1000x magnification using an Olympus BX53 trinocular research microscope. Micronuclei (MNi) were identified according to the following criteria: (1) spherical or ovoid-shaped extra nuclear bodies in the cytoplasm (2) a diameter of 1/3 - 1/20 of the main nucleus (3) non-refractory bodies (4) colour texture and optical features resembling those of the nucleus, and (5) the bodies completely separated from the main nucleus.

Single Cell Gel Electrophoresis (Comet Assay)

The comet assay was carried out as per Lee and Steinert (33). All steps were carried out in dim light to prevent photooxidation of DNA. Gill tissue (0.1g) was homogenized gently with phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.4) and the resulting cell suspension was passed through a muslin cloth to filter out tissue debris. This cell suspension was then embedded in Low Melting Agarose (LMA) on frosted microscopic slides. The cells were then lysed by placing the slides in a cold lysing solution (2.5 M NaCl, 100 mM Na,EDTA, 10 mM Tris, 10% DMSO and 1% Triton-X pH 10) at 4°C, overnight. Following lysis the slides were placed in unwinding buffer (electrophoresis buffer, pH 10) for 15-20 min to allow the DNA to unwind. Electrophoresis was then performed for 30 min at 300 mA, 25 V (Biorad electrophoresis unit). The slides were placed in neutralization buffer (400 mM Tris base, pH 7.5) for 5 min. The gel containing DNA was stained with ethidium bromide and examined using a fluorescence microscope (Olympus BX53) with a green filter at 200x magnification. Randomly selected nonoverlapping cells were screened and their comets were analyzed with the help of computer software, CASP (34) and the % tail DNA was recorded. The % tail DNA is the amount of DNA (in percent) present in the tail of the "comet" and is used as a measure of DNA damage (35).

Catalase Assay

Bivalves were dissected and their whole soft bodies were collected and homogenized in 50 mM of Tris buffer (pH 7.4) containing 0.3 M sucrose and 1 mM EDTA. This suspension was then centrifuged at 10,000 xg for 20 min at 4°C and the supernatant was collected. Catalase activity was carried as per Aebi (36) based on the decrease in absorbance of the test sample by the decomposition of H_2O_2 . The reaction mixture consisted of 13.2 mM H_2O_2 in 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and 0.1 ml of the homogenate. The reduction in absorbance was measured at 240 nm using a multiwall plate reader (Analytical Technologies

^{Glation}: Avelyno D'costa, Shyama Soorambail K. Praveen Kumar M. K. and Swizzle Furtado (2017) Genotoxic and Biochemical Bio-^{Barker} Responses in *Meretrix Casta* Exposed to Environmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium. J of Biosens Biomark Diagn ⁽¹⁾1-7.

Page 2 of 7

winnmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium

st 25℃ over 3 minutes. Total protein concentration was sured by Bradford's method (37). The activity of Catalase m was expressed as µmol H₂O₂⁻¹min⁻¹mg protein.

tetylcholinesterase Assay

The Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in whole soft with of bivalves was determined using the Ellman et al. (38) the modifications as described by Galloway et al. (39). Briefly, by a fixed from the second term of t

Malondialdehyde Assay

The Malondialdehyde (MDA) assay which is used to stlipid peroxidation in the whole soft bodies of bivalves was stried out using a commercial kit (North West Life Science secialities NWK-MDA01). The assay is based on the reaction #MDA with Thiobarbituric Acid (TBA) forming a pink coloured DATBA₂ adduct that absorbs strongly at 532 nm. Butylated Horoxytoluene (BHT) and EDTA are also added to the reaction mixturecontaining the sample homogenate to minimize oxidation flipids. The activity of MDA was expressed as nmol MDA¹min mgprotein.

Condition Index

Bivalves were cleaned, dissected and the soft tissues werearefully separated from the hard shells. Both the soft tissue

and the shells were placed separately in an oven (REMI) at 60°C overnight to determine their dry weights (40). Condition index (CI) was then calculated as follows:

Condition Index = $\frac{\text{Dry soft tissue weight(g)}}{\text{Dry shell weight(g)}} X$ 100

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses of the data were carried out using IBM SPSS 23 statistical software package. The data were tested to meet the assumptions of normality and homogeneity prior to subsequent analyses by linear models. The data of the MN test and comet assay are expressed as percentage values and were therefore arc sine transformed whereas the data of CAT, AChE and MDA assays were log transformed. A one-way ANOVA was applied to test the effect of treatment on the % MNi, % Tail DNA, CAT, AChE. MDA and CI with a post hoc Dunnet's test to compare the different groups with the control within the same treatment group. Pearson's correlation with scatter plots were also used to test the relationship between the all the parameters. The data were considered to be statistically significant at p < 0.05.

Results

The dose response data of the MN test, comet assay, catalase assay, acetyl cholinesterase assay, malondialdehyde assay and condition index are presented in figure 1 (a-f). A significant dose dependent increase of DNA damage in the form of % MNi was observed in the gill cells of *M. casta* at all the concentrations of Cd (p < 0.05).



Figure 1: [Variations of biomarker responses (a-f) in M. casta exposed to different concentrations of CdCl2 (0.75, 1.5 and 3 μ g/L; Number of repli-Cates = 3). % MNi: Percentage Micronuclei, CAT: catalase, AChE: acetylcholinesterase, MDA: Malondialdehyde, CI: condition index. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001

^{[Ita}tion: Avelyno D'costa, Shyama Soorambail K., Praveen Kumar M. K. and Swizzle Furtado (2017) Genotoxic and Biochemical Bio-^{marker} Responses in *Meretrix Casta* Exposed to Environmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium. J of Biosens Biomark Diagn ^[1][1]:1-7.

Page 3 of 7

It damage in the form of % tail DNA was also found to be micantly high at the 0.75 µg/L and 1.5 µg/L of Cd concentrations was extremely significant at the 3µg/L concentration (p

M). The CAT activity did not change significantly at the 0.75

concentration but increased significantly at the 1.5 µg/L (p

(05) and the 3 µg/L (p < 0.05) of Cd. AChE activity was found

decrease in a dose-dependent manner whereas MDA activity

wired an increasing trend with an increase in the concentration

(c) and was significant at all the doses (p < 0.05). The CI ratio

moderrease in the concentration

(c) (p < 0.05).

The effects of different concentrations of Cd on the giance of different tests are indicated in the one-way ANOVA [able 1].

 Table 1: one-way ANOVA of different concentrations of Cd on

 ifferent biomarker responses in M. casta

Dependent variable	Independent variable (Treatment)			
	F value	р		
% MNi	926.86	< 0.001 ***		
% Tail DNA	1551.42	< 0.001 ***		
CAT	535.95	< 0.001 ***		
AChE	315.46	< 0.001 ***		
MDA	515.75	< 0.001 ***		
CI	124.21	< 0.001 ***		

hetween DNA damage and the CI ratio. The scatterplots (Figure

the other parameters.

A high positive correlation was observed between the % MNiand the % tail DNA (R = 0.95) as well as between both the genotoxicity parameters and the activities of CAT and MDA. However, a high negative correlation was observed between DNA damage and AChE levels (R = -0.93, -0.94) as well as Different concentrations of Cd effects contributed the most to the % Tail DNA (F = 1551.42, p < 0.001) followed by the % MNi (F = 926.86, p < 0.001). The activities of CAT, AChE and MDA and the condition index ratio were also significantly influenced by the different concentrations of Cd.

The correlation matrix indicating the association between the different parameters is given in (Table 2).

Table 2: Correlation matrix between the associations of the
biomarker responses in <i>M. casta</i>

	% MN i	% Tail DNA	CAT	AChE	MDA	CI
% MN i						;
%Tail DNA	0.95	-				i i
САТ	0.92	0.92	-			
AChE	-0.93	-0.94	-0.92	-		
MDA	0.95	0.96	0.89	-0.92	-	
CI	-0.86	-0.90	-0.87	0.87	-0.85	-



Figure 2: Scatter plots depicting the associations of DNA damage with other biomarker responses in *M. casta* exposed to different concentrations of CdCl2 (0.75, 1.5 and 3 µg/L; Number of replicates = 3). % MNi: Percentage Micronuclei, CAT: catalase, AChE: acetyl cholinesterase, MDA: Malondialdehyde, Cl: condition index.

^{(It}ation: Avelyno D'costa, Shyama Soorambail K, Praveen Kumar M. K. and Swizzle Furtado (2017) Genotoxic and Biochemical Bio-^{marker} Responses in *Meretrix Casta* Exposed to Environmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium. J of Biosens Biomark Diagn ²[1]:1-7.

Page 4 of 7

liscussion

The present study demonstrates the genotoxicity, autoxicity, oxidative stress and deteriorated condition weed by Cd in M. casta as indicated by the MN test, comet MDA assay and condition index. Cd asfound to induce DNA damage in the gill cells of M. casta at all inconcentrations studied. This is in agreement with the studies (Slobodskova et al. (41) where in they observed significant Mamage induced by Cd in the gill cells of the clam, Corbicula uonica. Our observations were also on par with that of Sarkar al [31] in which they reported a significant increase of DNA image with a concurrent decrease of DNA integrity in the gill alsofamarine gastropod, Nerita chamaeleon exposed to various mentrations of CdCl,. In another study, Cd was found to be istogenic in the Pacific oyster (Crassostrea gigas), affecting the mber of chromosomes in somatic cells significantly compared pcontrol groups (42).

Significant increases in CAT activity were observed at $15 \mu g/L$ and $3 \mu g/L$ concentrations. Similar observations are also reported by Macías-Mayorga et al. (43) in which insostrea angulata exposed to Cd showed an increase of CAT stivity up to 7 days of exposure after which it was found to barease significantly. Further, they attributed this oxidative stress in bivalves to the exposure to Cd. Liu et al. (44) proposed that Cd may generate free radicals by interfering with cellular mixiant systems such as CAT.

Similarly, another consequence of oxidative stress was bund to occur in M. casta as observed by the increase of a lipid peroxidation product, malondialdehyde (MDA). Dovzhenko et \pm (45) also reported a similar increase of MDA in the bivalve Midiolus modiolus exposed to Cd. The increase in MDA and other peroxidation products lead to a decrease in the total oxygen adical scavenging activity. As a result, there is an accumulation fReactive Oxygen Species (ROS) leading to oxidative stress in the organism. These ROS in turn affect DNA causing modification ^{II} DNA bases and DNA strand breaks (46,47). Alternatively, Mondialdehyde (MDA) which is also highly mutagenic may adducts with DNA and induce DNA damage (48). Our results are also supported by the observations of Xia et al. (30) ^{a which} an increase in the activities of both CAT and MDA in M meretrix exposed to different concentrations of Cd, which in un induced the apoptosis of hepatopancreatic cells. Dailianis et al. (49) suggested that Cd may induce the formation of ROS and DNA damage by stimulating the production of Protein Mnase C (PKC) via adrenergic receptors. Therefore, based on the strong correlation between DNA damage and oxidative stress parameters, the DNA damage observed in M. casta in the present ^{study} may be attributed to oxidative stress as a result of Cd exposure.

We also observed a significant positive correlation between the frequencies of $\frac{1}{10}$ MNi and $\frac{1}{10}$ tail DNA (R = 0.95) which are represented in the form of scatter plots (Figure 2). The comet assay is able to detect repairable DNA damage such as DNA strand breakages, whereas the MN test detects more persistent DNA damage that are more difficult to repair (50,51). These micronuclei are formed when a whole chromosome or a fragment of a chromosome does not get incorporated into either of the two daughter cells during cell division due to aneugenic agents that affect the spindle apparatus or clastogenic agents that damage and break the chromosome (52). Thus these two tests reflect different forms of environmental stress. The positive correlation in our study may be due to the conversion of the short term reversible damage to long term irreversible damage as a result of persistent Cd exposure.

Cd was also found to be neurotoxic in the bivalves as seen by the decreased concentration of AChE. The primary function of AChE is to catalyze the rapid hydrolysis of the neurotransmitter Acetylcholine (ACh) in the synaptic cleft thus terminating synaptic transmission. Cd may thus disrupt the function of AChE leading to an accumulation of ACh and overstimulation of cholinergic receptors. Our results are in agreement with that of Machreki-Ajmi and Hamza-Chaffai(53) in which cockles (Cerastoderma glaucum) transplanted from an unpolluted site to a site contaminated with Cd exhibited a significant inhibition of AChE activity. Our studies are also comparable with those of Dellali et al. (54) in which clams (Ruditapes decussatus) and mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) collected from sites polluted with heavy metals exhibited decreased acetylcholinesterase activity compared to those collected from unpolluted sites. Although the exact mechanism by which Cd causes inhibition of AChE in bivalves is not known, one possible mechanism may be due to ROS-mediated oxidative stress which is also seen to be negatively correlated in the present study (44).

A significant negative correlation was observed between the MN test and CI (R = -0.86) as well as between the comet assay and CI (R = 0.9). A similar negative correlation between condition index and tissue levels of environmental contaminants of *Littorina littorea, Mytilus edulis* and *Cerastoderma edule* in a river system (Milford Haven Waterway) of Wales, UK was reported by Langston et al. (55). This decrease of condition of the organism may be attributed to altered DNA function and thereby resulting in an altered protein function which is ultimately required for normal physiological processes. The physiological state of the bivalve can also lead to changes in its feeding activity thereby altering its life cycle as a consequence (56). Another reason for the decrease in the CI ratio could possibly be the survival adaptive response of *M. casta* wherein they reduce the filtration rate or closure of the shell on exposure to contaminants (57).

Conclusions

The present study revealed that Cd ($0.75 \mu g/L$, $1.5 \mu g/L$ and $3 \mu g/L$) induced DNA damage in *M. casta* which was caused as a result of oxidative stress. Increasing concentrations of Cd also inhibited the activity of AChE and lowered the condition index ratio. The comet assay and the micronucleus test along with the biomarkers of oxidative stress such as CAT and MDA, AChE assay and condition index can be reliably used to assess the genotoxicity of Cd in *M. casta* in the environment. Hence, the regular monitoring of estuaries for contaminants such as Cd is

wironmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium

dumost importance as the persistence of these contaminants and lead to significant decline in the natural populations of indives and may also pose a threat to the humans consuming

References

- Godt J, Scheidig F, Grosse-Siestrup C, Esche V, Brandenburg P, Reich A, etal. The toxicity of cadmium and resulting hazards for human health. Journal of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology. 2006;1(1):22. doi: 10:1186/1745-6673-1-22
- JASDR. Draft Toxicological Profile for Cadmium. Atlanta, Georgia: US Department of Health and Human Services, 2008.
- 3 LRC 2012. Arsenic, Metals, Fibres and Dusts. IARC monographs on theevaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. 100:121-145
- Wisberg M, Joseph P, Hale B, Beyersmann D. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of cadmium carcinogenesis. Toxicology. 2003;192(2-3):95-117.
- i Health effects Notebook for Hazardous Air Pollutants. Cadmium compounds. EPA. 2000.
- a Benavides MP, Gallego SM, Tomaro ML, Cadmium toxicity in plants. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology, 2005,17:21-34, doi: 10.1590/ \$1677-04202005000100003
- Thophon S, Kruatrachue M, Upatham ES, Pokethitiyook P, Sahaphong S, Jaritkhuan S. Histopathological alterations of white seabass, latescalcarifer, in acute and subchronic cadmium exposure. Environmental Pollution. Environ Pollut. 2003;121(3):307-320.
- I lebali J, Banni M. Guerbej H, Almeida EA, Bannaoui A, Boussetta H. Effects of malathion and cadmium on acetylcholinesterase activity and metallothionein levels in the fish Serioladumerilli. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 2006;32:93. doi: 10.1007/s10695-006-0041-2
- ^b banina AV, Sokolov EP, Sokolova IM. Effects of cadmium on anaerobic energy metabolism and mRNA expression during air exposure and recovery of an intertidal mollusk Crassostreavirginica. Aquat Toxicol. 2010;99(3):330-342. doi: 10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.05.013
- Mixosia A, Salamone M, Mazzola S, Cuttitta A. Transcriptional and Biochemical Effects of Cadmium and Manganese on the Defense System of Octopus vulgarisParalarvae. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:437328. doi:10.1155/2015/437328
- ^{11.2}harkov DO, Rosenquist TA. Inactivation of mammalian 8-oxoguanine-DNA glycosylase by cadmium(II): implications for cadmium genotoxicity. DNA Repair. 2002;1(8):661-670.
- ^{12,Cavas} T, Garankob NN, Arkhipchuk VV. Induction of micronuclei and ^{binuclei} in blood, gill and liver cells of fishes subchronically exposed to ^{cadmium} chloride and copper sulphate. Food and Chemical Toxicology. ^{2005;43}(4):569–574. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2004.12.014
- ^{13,Fourie F,} Reinecke SA, Reinecke AJ. The determination of earthworm ^{species} sensitivity differences to cadmium genotoxicity using the ^{comet} assay. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2007;67(3):361-368.
- ^{14,}Celik A, Buyukakıllı B, Çimen B, Taşdelen B, Öztürk MI, Eke D. Assessment of Cadmium Genotoxicity in Peripheral Blood and Bone Marrow Tissues of Male Wistar Rats. Toxicology Mechanisms and Methods. 2009;19(2):135-140. doi: 10.1080/15376510802354979
- ^{13,Pavlaki} MD, Araújo MJ, Cardoso DN, Silva AR, Cruz A, Mendo S, et al. Ecotoxicity and genotoxicity of cadmium in different marine trophic levels. Environ Pollut. 2016;215:203-212. doi: 10.1016/j. envpol.2016.05.010

- 16. Liu J, Qu W, Kadiiska MB. Role of oxidative stress in cadmium toxicity and carcinogenesis. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2009;238(3):209-214. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2009.01.029
- Hartwig A, Schwerdtle T. Interactions by carcinogenic metal compounds with DNA repair processes: toxicological implications. Toxicol Lett. 2002;127(1-3):47-54.
- 18.Zuykov M, Pelletier E, Harper DA. Bivalve mollusks in metal pollution studies: From bioaccumulation to biomonitoring: Review. Chemosphere. 2013;93(2):201-208. doi: 10.1016/j. chemosphere.2013.05.001
- 19. The health hazards associated with the consumption of shellfish from polluted waters. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 1971.
- 20. Sokolova IM, Ringwood AH, Johnson C. Tissue-specific accumulation of cadmium in subcellular compartments of eastern oysters CrassostreavirginicaGmelin (Bivalvia: Ostreidae). Aquat Toxicol. 2005;74(3):218-228. doi: 10.1016/j.aquatox.2005.05.012
- 21. Marie V, Baudrimont M, Boudou A. Cadmium and zinc bioaccumulation and metallothionein response in two freshwater bivalves (Corbiculafluminea and Dreissenapolymorpha) transplanted along a polymetallic gradient. Chemosphere. 2006;65(4):609-617. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.01.074
- 22. Wang Q, Liu B, Yang H, Wang X, Lin Z. Toxicity of lead, cadmium and mercury on embryogenesis, survival, growth and metamorphosis of Meretrix meretrix larvae. Ecotoxicology. 2009;18(7):829-837. doi: 10.1007/s10646-009-0326-1
- 23. Seshappa G. Some observations on the backwater clam Meretrix casta (Chemnitz) in the Beypore and Korapuha estuaries. Indian J Fish. 1971;14:298-305.
- 24.Sarkar A, Bhagat J, Sarker S. Evaluation of impairment of DNA in marine gastropod, Morulagranulata as a biomarker of marine pollution. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2014;106:253-261. doi: 10.1016/j. ecoenv.2014.04.023.
- 25. Chakraborty P, Ramteke D, Chakraborty S, Chennuri K, Bardhan P. Relationship between the lability of sediment-bound Cd and its bioaccumulation in edible oyster. Mar Pollut Bull. 2015;100(1):344-351. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.08.027
- 26. Chakraborty P, Ramteke D, Gadi SD, Bardhan P. Linkage between speciation of Cd in mangrove sediment and its bioaccumulation in total soft tissue of oyster from the west coast of India. Mar Pollut Bull. 2016;106(1-2):274-282. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.12.025
- 27.Shenai Tirodkar PS, Gauns MU, Ansari ZA. Concentrations of Heavy Metals in Commercially Important Oysters from Goa, Central-West Coast of India. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol. 2016;97(6):813-819. doi: 10.1007/s00128-016-1956-7
- 28. Sarkar A, Bhagat J, Sarker S. Evaluation of impairment of DNA in marine gastropod, Morulagranulata as a biomarker of marine pollution. *Ecotoxicology* and Environmental Safety. 2015;106:253–261.
- 29.Sarker S, Sarkar A. Role of marine pollutants in impairment of DNA integrity. J Clin Toxicol. 2015;5:244. doi:10.4172/2161-0495.1000244
- 30. Xia L, Chen S, Dahms HU, Ying X, Peng X. Cadmium induced oxidative damage and apoptosis in the hepatopancreas of Meretrix meretrix. Ecotoxicology. 2016;25(5):959-969. doi: 10.1007/s10646-016-1653-7
- 31.Sarkar A, Bhagat J, Ingole BS, Rao DP, Markad VL. Genotoxicity of cadmium chloride in the marine gastropod Neritachamaeleon using comet assay and alkaline unwinding assay. Environ Toxicol.

(litation: Avelyno D'costa, Shyama Soorambail K, Praveen Kumar M. K. and Swizzle Furtado (2017) Genotoxic and Biochemical Bio-^{mar}ker Responses in *Meretrix Casta* Exposed to Environmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium. J of Biosens Biomark Diagn ²[1]:1-7.

www.cand Biochemical Biomarker Responses in Meretrix Casta Exposed to

winnmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium

015;30(2):177-187. doi: 10.1002/tox.21883

- Baršiene J, Andreikenaite L, Garnaga G, Rybakovas A. Genotoxic and optotoxic effects in the bivalve mollusks Macomabalthica and Wrdlusedulis from the Baltic Sea. Ekologija. 2008;54:44–50.
- Rice RF, Steinert S. Use of the single cell gel electrophoresis / comet assay for detecting DNA damage in aquatic (marine and freshwater) minals.Review. Mutat Res. 2003;544(1):43-64.
- Bilkonta K, Lankoff A, Banasik A, Lisowska H, Kuszewski T, Gózdz S, et al.Across-platform public domain PC image-analysis program for the comet assay. Mutat Res. 2003;534(1-2):15-20.
- Schumaravel TS, Jha AN. Reliable Comet Assay measurements for detecting DNA damage induced by ionising radiation and chemicals. Mutat Res. 2006;605(1-2):7-16.
- jádebi H. Catalase in vitro.Methods Enzymol. 1984;105:121-126. doi: 10.12691/jfnr-2-7-5
- CBradford MM. Rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding Anal Biochem. 1976;72:248–254.
- Bellman GL, Courtney KD, Andres V, Featherstone RM. A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. Biochem Pharmacol. 1961;7:88-95.
- 3.Galloway TS, Millward N, Browne MA, Depledge MH. Rapid assessment of organophosphorous/carbamate exposure in the bivalve mollusk Mytilusedulisusing combined esterase activities as biomarkers. Aquat Toxicol. 2002;61(3-4):169–180.
- M.Filgueira R, Comeau LA, Landry T, Grant J, Guyondet T, Mallet A, Bivalve condition index as an indicator of aquaculture intensity: A metaanalysis, Ecological Indicators. 2013;25:215–229.
- 4.Slobodskova VV, Solodova EE, Slinko EN, Chelomin VP. Evaluation of the genotoxicity of cadmium in gill cells of the clam Corbicula (aponica using the comet assay, Russian Journal of Marine Biology, 2010;36(4):311-315.
- ^{42.Bouilly} K, Gagnaire B, Bonnarda M, Thomas-Guyonb H, Renaulta T, Miramand P, et al. Effects of cadmium on aneuploidy and hemocyte parameters in the Pacific oyster, Crassostreagigas. Aquatic Toxicology. 2006;78(2):149–156.
- ^{13.}Macias-Mayorga D, Laiz I, Moreno-Garrido I, Blasco J. Is oxidative stress related to cadmium accumulation in the Mollusc Crassostre ^{aangulata?} Aquat Toxicol. 2015;161:231-241. doi: 10.1016/j. ^{aquatox.2015.02.007}
- H.Liu J. Qu W. Kadniska MB. Role of oxidative stress in cadmium toxicity and carcinogenesis. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2009;238(3):209-214. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2009.01.029
- ⁴⁵Dovzhenko NV, Kurilenko AV, Bel'cheva NN, Chelomin VP. Cadmium-Induced Oxidative Stress in the Bivalve Mollusk Modiolusmodiolus. ^{Russian} Journal of Marine Biology. 2005;31(5):309–313.
- ^{16, Va}lavanidis A, Vlahogianni T, Dassenakis M, Scoullos M. Molecular biomarkers of oxidative stress in aquatic organisms in relation to toxic environmental pollutants. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2006;64(2):178-189. doi: 10.1016/j. ecoenv.2005.03.013
- ^{47,}de Almeida EA, Bainy AC, de MeloLoureiro AP, Martinez GR, Miyamoto ⁵, Onuki J, et al. Oxidative stress in Pernaperna and other bivalves ^{as} indicators of environmental stress in the Brazilian marine ^{environment:} Antioxidants, lipid peroxidation and DNA damage. ^{Comp} Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol. 2007;146(4):588-600.

- Łuczaj W, Skrzydlewska E. DNA damage caused by lipid peroxidation products. Cell Mol Biol Lett. 2003;8(2):391-413.
- 49. Dailianis S, Piperakis SM, Kaloyianni M. Cadmium effects on ROS production and DNA damage via adrenergic receptors stimulation: Role of Na+/H+ exchanger and PKC. Free Radic Res. 2005;39(10):1059-1070.
- 50. Hartmann A, Elhajouji A, Kiskinis E, Poetter F, Martus HJ, Fjällman A, et al. Use of the alkaline assay for industrial genotoxicity screening: comparative investigation with the micronucleus test. Food Chem Toxicol. 2001;39(8):843–858.
- 51. Klobucar GI, Pavlica M, Erben R, Papes D. Application of the micronucleus test and comet assay to mussel Dreissenapolymorphahaemocytes for genotoxicity monitoring of freshwater environments. Aquat Toxicol. 2003 ;64(1):15-23.
- 52.Udroiu I. The micronucleus test in piscine erythrocytes. Aquat Toxicol. 2006;79(2):201–204. doi: 10.1016/j.aquatox.2006.06.013
- 53. Machreki-Ajmi M, Hamza-Chaffai A. Assessment of sediment/ water contamination by in vivo transplantation of the cockles Cerastodermaglaucum from a non-contaminated to a contaminated area by cadmium. Ecotoxicology. 2008;17(8):802-810. doi: 10.1007/ s10646-008-0238-5
- 54. Dellali M, Barelli MG, Romeo M, Aissa P. The use of acetylcholinesterase activity in Ruditapesdecussatus and Mytilusgalloprovincialis in the biomonitoring of Bizerta lagoon. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology. 2001;130(2):227–235.
- 55. Langston WJ, O'Hara S, PopeND, Davey M, Shortridge E, Imamura M, et al. Bioaccumulation surveillance in Milford Haven Waterway. Environ Monit Assess. 2012;184(1):289-311. doi: 10.1007/s10661-011-1968-z
- 56. Babarro JMF, Fernández-Reiriz MJ, Labarta U. Feeding behavior of seed mussel Mytilusgalloprovincialis: environmental parameters and seed origin. J Shellfish Res. 2000;19(1):195–201.
- 57.Akcha F, Burgeot T, Budzinski H, Pfohl-Leszkowicz A, Narbonne JF. Induction and elimination of bulky benzo[a]pyrene-related DNA adducts and 8-oxodGuo in mussels Mytilusgalloprovincialis exposed in vivo to B[a]P-contaminated feed. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 2000;205:195– 206.

Page 7 of 7

Gitation: Avelyno D'costa, Shyama Soorambail K, Praveen Kumar M. K. and Swizzle Furtado (2017) Genotoxic and Biochemical Bio-Marker Responses in *Meretrix Casta* Exposed to Environmentally Relevant Concentrations of Cadmium. J of Biosens Biomark Diagn 2(1):1-7.

Milind Mohan Naik Santosh Kumar Dubey Editors

Marine Pollution and Microbial Remediation



Editors Milind Mohan, Nauk Department of Microbiology Gor University Filegao Plateau, Ossa, Jusha

Nautosh Kumar Dubey Department of Microbiology Good University Talergao Plateau, Goa, India

NBN 978 981 104042 2 [N4N 978 981 104044 6] (eBook) DOI 104007 978 981 104044 6

Educy of Constant Control Number (2010) 48 (88)

" Spinsta Second - Busines Medici Survipore 201-

The work is subject to copyright. All regiments as a set of the Publisher, whether the whole or pail of the man right of one in deep cancelle the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations is contained for advances a production on nice ordine or many other physical way, and transmission or intermation is a contained of the contained advances and a translation adaptation, computer software, other inflation of structure in the dole of new known or history is dependent.

and nanomission or information store changes in an electronic adaptation, computer softwate, or be similar or destinidar in thodology new known or horselt is developed. The use of a neural decoupling manages is a first of names, trademarks service marks, etc. in this publication does not implicity is in in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exemptified in the real of our process. The standard endations and there for the tore trademarks of general use. The publisher the mathematication of the constructions and there for the tore general use.

If publich is the authors and the difference of to cassime that the advice and information in the book are believed to be use and accurate at the date of publication. Neutron the publisher nor the authors of the ducate interaction expression implied, with respect to the material souriant difference to rank gives or omissions that may have been mode.

Print domained to compare

Bus Spenies imprinese published by Sprinese Nature. Biogeneric decompanyes, Sprinese Nature - Medro Singapore Pic Fid.

Genotoxic Biomarkers as Indicators of Marine Pollution

17

M.K. Praveen Kumar, Avelyno D'costa, and S.K. Shyama

Abstract

The marine environment is the recipient of a wide range of pollutants including sewage, heavy metals, nanoparticles, petroleum hydrocarbons, and radiation which will ultimately affect the natural populations of aquatic organisms. These pollutants affect the integrity of the genome and lead to DNA damage. Genotoxicity tests such as the micronucleus test and comet assay are sensitive, reliable, and powerful techniques which are employed to assess the DNA damage. These tests can be designed on a wide variety of cells from any marine organism and can be performed either in the field or in the laboratory. The micronucleus test and comet assay can also be used as biomarkers along with other biochemical tests to evaluate the toxicity status of a particular marine water body. This review explores the use of these tests in different organisms under varying degrees of marine pollution. Further, it is recommended to use these two parameters together in order to confirm the holistic mutagenic/genotoxic effect of the test agents.

17.1 Introduction

Marine fauna, such as fish and bivalves, play a very crucial role in an aquatic ecosystem as consumers. Pollutants often get accumulated in sediment as well as the organisms of different trophic

S.K. Shyama (

Department of Zoology, Goa University. Taleigao Plateau, Panaji 403206, Goa, India e-mail: skshyama@gmail.com levels in aquatic ecosystems, including the benthic and pelagic animals. Fishes are the most predominant pelagic fauna in an aquatic environment representing the primary/secondary/tertiary consumers: whereas, bivalves are mostly sedentary in nature and are filter feeders. Larger fishes being positioned at the higher trophic level in our food chain can readily accumulate a variety of contaminants by ingestion of smaller species. Man, being at the apex of this food chain consumes varieties of fishes and bivalves as sea food and becomes the final recipient of these pollutants.

M.K. Praveen Kumar • A. D'costa

¹⁹ Springer Science+Business Media Singapore 2017 M.M. Naik, S.K. Dubey (eds.), Marine Pollution and Microbial Remediation, DOI 10.1007/978-981-10/1044-6/17

Biomonitoring of water bodies employing its natural populations of flora/fauna is of utmost importance to understand its pollution status. Ample reports are available on environmental monitoring/biomonitoring which are routinely carried out to assess the genotoxicity status of mbable polluted water bodies and are compared with reference/pristine sites (Osman 2014). Exposure of fishes to toxic substances may damage their genome or in other words, exhibit genotoxic effects. Genotoxicity induces DNA changes leading to various diseases including cancer. reduced reproductive competence, teratogenicity, and may be even fatal, resulting in low fish catch. Further this may affect the normal food chain and result in a deleterious shift in the biotic community of this coastal ecosystem. These will also result in a drastic reduction in the quality/palatability of sea food (Chen and White 2004). Sea food is a major route of exposure of human populations to toxic chemicals. Fish and shellfish have been recognized as major mediators for contaminant transfer to humans and cause of innumerable sufferings in man (Al-Sabati and Metcalfe 1995). Due to pollution of the coastal environment with genotoxic substances, relevant genotoxicity tests are quickly gaining significance and several techniques are being developed to detect DNA damage and to identify these pollutants (Osman 2014).

17.2 Environmental Pollution

Marine pollution includes a range of threats such as runoffs, oil spills, untreated sewage discharge. heavy siltation, persistent organic pollutants (POPs), heavy metals from mining by-products, radioactive substances, and dumping of garbage. Many of these pollutants get collected at various depths, where they are consumed by marine organisms and are introduced into the global food chain. These pollutants may then ultimately get accumulated in the sediment and can pose a reverse threat to the benthic fauna of the aquatic ecosystem (Chen and White 2004). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, polychlorinated biphenyls, and polybrominated diphenyl ethers, when taken up by the body, form active metabolites which then cause DNA adducts and subsequent DNA damage (Wang et al. 2008). Barsiene et al. (2006a) observed a high incidence of micronuclei in the hemocytes of flounder (*Platichthys flesus*) which were contaminated with high concentrations of organic pollutants, evident by the presence of PAH metabolites in the bile.

Heavy metals often get accumulated in the marine environment at concentrations below the normal permissible levels by inputs from various sources such as industrial and domestic wastes. Most of the metals get readily concentrated and accumulated by aquatic organisms are relatively toxic even at fairly low concentrations. Discharge of heavy metals into river or any marine environment can change both marine species diversity and ecosystems, due to their toxicity and accumulative behavior (Bakan and Böke Özkoç 2007; Bat et al. 2009). Marine organisms such as fish tend to accumulate heavy metals many times higher than the concentration of that in water or sediment (Bat et al. 2009).

The uptake of xenobiotic contaminants, such as PCBs and PAHs, is highly detrimental to the biological integrity as well as the physiological functions of marine organisms. Many of these pollutants are chemical carcinogens and mutagens with the capacity to cause various types of DNA damage. Benzo $[\alpha]$ pyrene, a representative PAH, is reported to be converted at cellular level to the ROS, diolepoxide (BaPDE), which can form stable adduct with DNA resulting into DNA strand breaks (Pisoni et al. 2004; Bihari and Fafandel 2004).

Nanogenotoxicology, which deals with the studies on the genotoxic effects of nanomaterials and nanodevices, is emerging as an important discipline along with the rapid expansion of the nanotechnology industry. Nanoparticles (NPs) are being used as a part of everyday products: thus, it is necessary to know and assess the possible toxic effects that are associated with them. The extremely small size of nanomaterials also means that they much more readily gain entry into the human body than larger-sized particles. Particles may gain access to the body by inhalation, ingestion, or through dermal contact, either deliberately or accidentally. Many metal NPs induce DNA strand breaks, oxidative DNA damage, mutations, and chromosomal aberrations. Particulate heavy metals (nano-sized) may interact with fish or other organisms as follows: (1) adsorption to the surface, i.e., cell, organ, or whole body. (2) cellular internalization, (3) dissolution of ions from the NP, and (4) mechanistic nano-effects such as formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Baker et al. 2014). Gomes et al. (2013) exposed mussels to 10 μ g/L of copper oxide (CuO) and silver (Ag) NPs for 15 days and reported DNA damage in hemocytes in the form of DNA strand breaks by the cornet assay.

Radiations of various kinds widely used across he globe for diverse purposes are one of the major collutants of our water bodies. Organisms get exposed to a wide range of radiation from these sources including radioactive effluents. Water bodies may get contaminated from industrial effuents intentionally or from nuclear facilities by accident. With most of the nuclear reactors being located in and around coastal areas, seas are often the ultimate recipient of radioactive contaminants (Praveen Kumar et al. 2014). Besides this, the nuclear accidents such as Chernobyl nuclear accident or the recent Fukushima disaster are the wake-up calls for employing radiation protection/ safety of humans and the environment (Dallas et al. 2012). Since the risks of ionizing radiation to nonhuman biota being of considerable current interest to both the International Commission on Radiological Protection (ICRP) and the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), they strongly recommend the impact assessment of radiation on those organisms (IAEA 1992: ICRP 2007). The major objective of the two international agencies, viz., FASSET (Framework for Assessment of Environmental Impact) and EPIC (Environmental Ionizing Protection from Contaminants in the Arctic), is to develop a methodology for protecting nonhuman organisms from ionizing contaminants (EPIC Project 2001: FASSET Project 2001).

17.3 Uses of Genotoxicity Parameters in Evaluation of Marine Pollution

The genotoxic effects of physical and chemical agents/pollutants can be monitored using a broad range of both in vivo and in vitro biomarker

assays. The use of "biomarkers" in marine species has become a major tool for biomonitoring and assessing the environmental quality. This is based on the responses at the molecular and cellular level which represent the earliest signals of environmental disturbance (Depledge 1994: Serafim et al. 2011). Cytogenetic endpoints are proven as sensitive early biomarkers (Dallas and Jha 2015). Micronucleus (MN) test and comet assays are well-known genotoxicity tests often employed to predict mutagenicity/carcinogenicity of chemicals, including pharmaceuticals under in vivo and in vitro conditions (Shyama et al. 1991; Tice et al. 2000; Kirkland et al. 2005; Anbumani and Mohankumar 2012; Kadam et al. 2013: Dallas et al. 2013; Dasgupta et al. 2014; Guilherme et al. 2014; Pandey et al. 2014; Osman 2014: Praveen Kumar et al. 2015). These parameters are routinely used as biomarkers for monitoring marine pollution by genotoxic contaminants and can be combined with other physiological and biochemical biomarkers to fully assess the pollution status of various water bodies (Bolognesi and Cirillo 2014).

17.4 Micronucleus Test

Micronucleus test is an easy and useful test for the in vitro and in vivo genotoxicity assessment in marine organisms. Micronuclei result from acentric chromosome fragments or whole chromosomes lagging behind during metaphase to anaphase transition induced by clastogens or by spindle dysfunctions, respectively. Micronucleus test is routinely used for assessing the genotoxicity of compounds released from industries into aquatic environments (Barsiene et al. 2004; Cavaş and Ergene-Gozukara 2005a, b; Da Silva Souza and Fontanetti 2006). Fishes and bivalves are generally used to screen the potential genotoxicity of polluted water bodies (Bolognesi and Hayashi 2011). Natural populations of fishes collected from two different radiation-polluted sites showed high levels of MN (Ilyinskikh et al. 1998). Increased frequency of micronuclei was also reported in three fish species (Platichthys flesus, Clupea harengus, and Zoarces viviparus) collected from different regions of the Baltic Sea

over a period of 3 years suggesting the periodical increase of pollution in the study site (Barsiene et al. 2012). X rays induced significant number of micronuclei in the erythrocytes of Cyprinus carpio (Gustavino et al. 2001) and also in the gill cells of Oryzias latipes (Takai et al. 2004a, b). Low-dose gamma radiation induced significant increase of micronuclei in fish cell lines, in vitro (Cassidy et al. 2007). A significant number of micronuclei were observed in the erythrocytes of the gamma-irradiated (5 Gy) fish, Catla catla (Hamilton) (Anbumani and Mohankumar 2011, 2012). An increase in the frequency of micronudei in caged mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) transplanted at an offshore oil platform in the Adriatic Sea (Gorbi et al. 2008) supports the potential of these organisms to be used as biomonitoring species. Tritiated water (HTO) and titiated glycine (T-Gly) induced a significant number of micronuclei in the hemocytes of Mytilus edulis (Jaeschke et al. 2010). Petroleum hydrocarbons of oil spills too induce genotoxicity as evident by the formation of micronuclei in the erythrocytes of flounder (Platichthys flesus) and gills of blue mussel (Mytilus edulis) (Barsiene et al. 2006b). Sacchi et al. (2013) reported the induction of micronuclei in the bivalve Ruditapes philippinarum at an estuarine coastal site polluted with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and trace metals. MN levels in mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) collected from 17 sites along the Spanish Mediterranean coast were found to be the highest from metal-polluted sites (Fernandez et al. 2011). They also reported that environmental factors such as water temperature were able to influence the levels of metal-induced MN. Fishes collected from the Paraguay river within the Pantanal, Brazil, which is the world's largest wetland area and a region rich in biodiversity, revealed significantly high frequencies of MN in the erythrocytes probably due to the discharge of tannery effluents (Pimenta et al. 2013).

17.5 Comet Assay

The comet assay or single-cell gel electrophoresis (SCGE) is a rapid and sensitive technique that detects DNA single- or double-strand breaks and measures the level of migration of DNA from individual cell nuclei. The amount of the DNA in the tail region (tail DNA) of comet assay is commonly used for quantifying DNA strand breakage and represents the most reliable parameter (Mitchelmore and Chipman 1998). This test is also widely used for in vivo assessment in marine organisms (Fernández-Tajes et al. 2011; Frenzilli and Lyons 2013). Mussels are globally used as bioindicators for pollution of coastal and estuarine environments by metals and radionuclides (Lonsdale et al. 2009). Hagger et al. (2005) have reported the β - radiation induced genotoxic effects of tritiated water in the early life stages of the marine mollusk, Mytilus edulis. Further, the genotoxic effects of tritium (3H) in the adult life stage of Mytilus edulis have been evaluated employing comet assay (indicating DNA singlestrand breaks/alkali labile sites) in the hemocytes of radiation-exposed individuals (Jha et al. 2005. 2006). External and internal dose rates of ionizing radiation altered the DNA strand breakage in marine mussel Mytilus edulis (Alamri et al. 2012).

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons were found to induce DNA strand breaks in the hemocytes and gill cells of three bivalve species (Venerupis pullastra, Cerastoderma edule, and Mytilus galloprovincialis) collected from an estuary contaminated with petroleum products (Fernandez-Tejes et al. 2011). Bottom feeders such as soles (Solea senegalensis) exhibited increased DNA strand breaks when they were exposed to sediment contaminated with heavy metals and PAHs and PCBs (Costa et al. 2008). Snails (Littorina littorea) and mussels (Mytilus edulis) collected from a contaminated harbor showed high levels of DNA damage due to presence of heavy metals and butyltin compounds (Rank 2009). Binelli et al. (2007) correlated the increase in DNA strand breaks in soft tissues of zebra mussels (Dreissena polymorpha) with chemicals such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, polybrominated diphenyl ethers, Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethanes (DDTs), and hexachlorobenzene in the Lake Maggiore, Italy.

The most severe DNA lesions induced by ionizing toxicants are single- and double-strand breaks (Collins 2004). The alkaline single-cell gel electrophoresis assay allows the early detec-

tion of single-strand DNA breaks which may be induced by a range of genotoxic agents including radiation (Mayalpa et al. 1998; Kadam et al. 2013). Gamma irradiation is reported to induce DNA damage and cell cycle perturbations in the fish, Catla catla (Anbumani et al. 2012: Anbumani and Mohankumar 2015). A dosedependent DNA damage was observed in zebrafsh exposed to ionizing radiation (Knowles 2002: Jarvis and Knowles 2003; Lemos et al. 2014). An increase in % tail DNA was observed in caged as well as feral European chubs (Leuciscus cephalus) from rivers polluted with a combination of PAHs, PCBs, organochlorine pesticides (OCPs), and heavy metals around Birmingham, UK (Winter et al. 2004). De Andrade et al. (2004) also reported increased DNA damage in mullet and sea catfish from two rivers in Brazil that were possibly contaminated with heavy metals and hydrocarbons. Dabs (Limanda limanda) collected from the mouth of the Seine estuary in France exhibited high DNA damage (% tail DNA) and were found to be positively correlated with the concentration of biliary PAH metabolites (Devier et al. 2013). Cockles (Cerastoderma edule) and blue mussels (Mytilus edulis) collected from an estuary in South West England exhibited high DNA damage due to the presence of heavy metals discharged

by industries (Dallas et al. 2012). Almeida et al. (2013) reported low levels of DNA damage from a coastal lagoon in Portugal and has also demonstrated the use of the comet assay to evaluate genotoxicity from places of low contamination.

17.6 Conclusions

The presence of large quantities of pollutants such as heavy metals, petroleum hydrocarbons, radiation, and nanoparticles causes several adverse effects in marine fauna and may affect the fish catch and palatability. Further, these pollutants may enter the food chain and ultimately affect humans. The micronucleus test detects chromosomal and genomic mutations (chromosomal damage and/or alteration of mitotic spindles), whereas the alkaline comet assay detects primary DNA damage, expressed as single-strand breaks, including the ones which are associated with incompletely repaired excision. A combined use of MN test and alkaline single-cell gel electrophoresis confirms the possible single as well as double-strand breaks induced by genotoxic agents. Accordingly, it is recommended to use these two parameters together in order to confirm the holistic mutagenic/genotoxic effect of the test agents (Figs. 17.1 and 17.2).



Normal fish erythrocytes (1000X)

Erythrocyte with micronucleus (1000X)

267





Normal Cell (200X)

Fig. 17.2 Comet assay in crythrocytes of zebra fish

References

- Alami OD, Cundy AB, Di Y, Jha AN, Rotchell JM (2012) lonizing radiation-induced DNA damage response identified in marine mussels. *Mytilus sp.* Environ Pollut 168:107-112
- Almeida C, Pereira CG, Gomes T, Cardoso C, Bebianno MJ, Cravo A (2013) Genotoxicity in two bivalve species from a coastal lagoon in the south of Portugal. Mar Environ Res 89:29–38
- Al-Sabti K. Metcalfe CD (1995) Fish micronuclei for assessing genotoxicity in water. Mutat Res 343:2–3
- Anbunani S, Mohankumar MN (2011) Nuclear and cytoplasmic abnormalities in the fish *Catla catla* (Hamilton) exposed to chemicals and ionizing radiation. Res J Environ Sci 5:867–877
- Anbumani S. Mohankumar MN (2012) Gamma radiation induced micronuclei and erythrocyte cellular abnormalities in the fish *Catla catla*. Aquat Toxicol 122-123:125-132
- Anbumani S. Mohankumar MN (2015) Gamma radiation induced cell cycle perturbations and DNA damage in *Catla Catla* as measured by flow cytometry. Ecotox Environ Safe 113:18–22
- Anbumani S. Mohankumar MN, Selvanayagam M (2012) Flow cytometric assessment of DNA damage in the fish *Catla catla* (Ham.) exposed to gamma radiation. J Adv Biotechnol 11(8):36–40
- Bakan G, Böke Özkoç H (2007) An ecological risk assessment of the impact of heavy metals in surface sediments on biota from the mid-Black Sea coast of Turkey. Int J Environ Stud 64(1):45-57
- Baker TJ. Tyler CR. Galloway TS (2014) Impacts of metal and metal oxide nanoparticles on marine organisms. Environ Pollut 186:257–271
- Barkene J. Lazutka J. Śyvokiene J. Dedonyte V. Rybakovas A. Bjornstad A. Andersen OK (2004) Analysis of micronuclei in blue mussels and fish from the Baltic and the North Seas. Environ Toxicol 19:365-371

Barsiene J, Lehtonen KK, Koehler A, Broeg K, Vuorinen PJ, Lang T, Pempkowiak J, Syvokien J, Dedonyte V, Rybakovas A, Repecka R, Vuontisjarvi H, Kopecka J (2006a) Biomarker responses in flounder (*Platichthys flesus*) and mussel (*Mytilus edulis*) in the Klaipeda-Butinge area (Baltic Sea). Mar Pollut Bull 53:422–436

- Barsiene J, Dedonyte V, Rybakovas A, Andreikenait L. Andersen OK (2006b) Investigation of micronuclei and other nuclear abnormalities in peripheral blood and kidney of marine fish treated with crude oil. Aquat Toxicol 78S:S99–S104
- Barsiene J. Rybakovas A. Lang T. Grygiel W. Andreikenaite L. Michailovas A (2012) Risk of environmental genotoxicity in the Baltic Sea over the period of 2009–2011 assessed by micronuclei frequencies in blood erythrocytes of flounder (*Platichthys flesus*), herring (*Clupea harengus*) and eelpout (*Zoarces viviparus*). Mar Environ Res 77:35–42
- Bat L. Gökkurt O. Sezgin M. Üstün F. Sahin F (2009) Evaluation of the Black Sea Land based sources of pollution the coastal region of Turkey. Open Mar Biol J 3:112–124
- Bihari N, Fafandel M (2004) Interspecies differences in DNA single strand breaks caused by benzo(α)pyrene and marine environment. Mutat Res/Fundam Mol Mech Mutagen 552(1/2):209–217
- Binelli A. Riva C. Provini A (2007) Biomarkers in Zebra mussel for monitoring and quality assessment of Lake Maggiore (Italy). Biomarkers 12(4):349–368
- Bolognesi C, Cirillo S (2014) Genotoxicity biomarkers in aquatic bioindicators. Curr Zool 60(2):273-284
- Bolognesi C, Hayashi M (2011) Review: micronucleus assay in aquatic animals. Mutagenesis 26(1):205–213
- Cassidy CL. Lemon JA. Boreham DR (2007) Impacts of low-dose gamma-radiation on genotoxic risk in aquatic ecosystems. Dose-Response 5:323-332
- Cavaş T. Ergene-Gozukara S (2005a) Induction of micronuclei and nuclear abnormalities in *Oreochromis niloticus* following exposure to petroleum refinery and chromium processing plant effluents. Aquat Toxicol 74:264–271

Damaged cell (200X)

- Cavaş T. Ergene-Gozukara S (2005b) Micronucleus test in fish cells: a bioassay for *in situ* monitoring of genotoxic pollution in the marine environment. Environ Mol Mutagen 46:64–70
- Chen G. White PA (2004) The mutagenic hazards of aquatic sediments: a review. Mutat Res 567(2-3):151-225
- Collins AR (2004) The comet assay for DNA damage and repair: principles, applications and limitations. Mol Biotechnol 26:249–261
- Costa PM, Lobo J, Caeiro S, Martins M, Ferreira AM, Caetano M, Vale C, Delvalls TA, Costa MH (2008) Genotoxic damage in Solea senegalensis exposed to sediments from the Sado Estuary (Portugal): effects of metallic and organic contaminants. Mutat Res 654(1):29–37
- Da Silva Souza T. Fontanetti CS (2006): Micronucleus test and observation of nuclear alterations in crythrocytes of Nile tilapia exposed to waters affected by retinery effluent. Ecotox Environ Safe 605:87–93
- Dallas LJ, Jha AN (2015) Applications of biological tools or biomarkers in aquatic biota: a case study of the Tamar Estuary, South West England. Mar Pollut Bull 95(2):618–633
- Dallas LJ, Keith-Roach M. Lyons BP, Jha AN (2012) Assessing the impact of ionizing radiation on aquatic invertebrates: a critical review. Radiat Res 177:693-716
- Dallas LJ, Cheung VV, Fisher AS, Jha AN (2013) Relative sensitivity of two marine bivalves for detection of genotoxic and cytotoxic effects: a field assessment in the Tamar Estuary. South West England. Environ Monit Assess 185(4):3397–3412
- Dasgupta S, Cao A, Mauer B, Yan B, Uno S, McElroy A (2014) Genotoxicity of oxy-PAHs to Japanese medaka (Orycias latipes) embryos assessed using the contetassay. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 21:13867–13876
- de Andrade VM, da Silva J, Silva FR, Heuser VD, Dias JF, Yoneama ML, Freitas TR (2004) Fish as bioindicators to assess the effects of pollution in two southern Brazilian rivers using the Comet assay and micronucleus test. Environ Mol Mutagen 44(5):459–468
- Depledge MH (1994) The rational basis for the use of biomarkers as ecological tools. In: Fossi MC, Leonzio C (eds) Nondestructive biomarkers in vertebrates. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, pp 271–295
- Dévier MH, Dû-Lacoste L, Akcha F, Morin B, Peluhet L, Le Menach K, Burgeot T, Budzinski H (2013) Biliary PAH metabolites, EROD activity and DNA damage in dab (*Limanda lunanda*) from Seine Estuary (France), Environ Sci Pollut Res 20:708–722
- EPIC Project (2001) Environmental contamination from ionising contaminants in the Arctic. First Annual Report (01.11.2000 31.10.2001). Project ICA2-CT-2000-10032
- FASSET Project (2001) Framework for assessment of environmental impact. Progress report N 1 (1.11.200) 31.10.2001). A project within the E.C. 5th framework programme. http://www.tasset.org

- Fernandez B, Campillo JA, Martinez-Gómez C, Benedicto J (2011) Micronuclei and other nuclear abnormalities in mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) as biomarkers of cyto-genotoxic pollution in mediterranean waters. Environ Mol Mutagen 52(6):479–491
- Fernandez-Tajes J, Florez F, Pereira S, Rabade T, Laffon B. Méndez J (2011) Use of three bivalve species for biomonitoring a polluted estuarine environment. Environ Monit Assess 177(1-4):289-300
- Frenzilli G, Lyons BP (2013) The comet assay in marine animals. Methods Mol Biol 1044:363–372
- Gomes T. Araujo O. Pereira R. Almeida AC, Cravo A. Bebianno MJ (2013) Genotoxicity of copper oxide and silver nanoparticles in the mussel *Mytilus gallo*provincialis. Mar Environ Res 84:51–59
- Gorbi S, Vimo Lamberti C, Notti A, Benedetti M, Fattorini D, Moltedo G, Regoli F (2008) An ecotoxicological protocol with caged mussels. *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, for monitoring the impact of an offshore platform in the Adriatic Sea. Mar Environ Res 65(1):34–49
- Guilherme S, Santos MA, Gaivao I, Pacheco M (2014) Genotoxicity evaluation of the herbicide Garlon®and its active ingredient (triclopyr) in fish (*Anguilla anguilla L.*) using the comet assay. Environ Toxicol. Epub http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/tox.21980
- Gustavino B. Scornajenghi KA. Minissi S. Ciccotti E (2001) Micronuclei induced in erythrocytes of *Cyprinus carpio* (teleostei, Pisces) by X-rays and colchicines. Mutat Res 494:151–159
- Hagger JA, Atienzar FA, Jha AN (2005) Genotoxic, cytotoxic, developmental and survival effects of tritiated water in the early life stages of the marine molluse, *Mytilus edulis*. Aquat Toxicol 74:205–217
- IAEA (1992) Effects of ionizing radiation on plants and animals at levels implied by current radiation protection standards, vol 332, Technical reports series. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna
- ICRP (2007) The 2007 recommendations of the international commission on radiological protection. ICRP publication 103. Ann ICRP 37:2–4
- Ilyinskikh NN, Ilyinskikh EN, Ilyinskikh IN (1998) Micronucleated erythrocytes frequency and radiocesium bioconcentration in pikes (*Esox lucius*) caught in the Tom River near the nuclear facilities of the Siberian Chemical Complex (Tomsk-7). Fundam Mol Mech Mutagen 421:197–203
- Jaeschke BC, Millward GE, Moody AJ, Jha AN (2010) Tissue-specific incorporation and genotoxicity of different forms of tritium in the marine mussel. Mytilus edulis. Environ Pollut 159(1):274–280
- Jarvis RB, Knowles JF (2003) DNA damage in zebrafish larvae induced by exposure to low-dose rate gammaradiation: detection by the alkaline comet assay. Mutat Res-Genet Toxicol Environ Mutagen 541:63-69
- Jha AN. Dogra Y. Turner A, Millward GE (2005) Impact of low doses of tritium on the marine mussel. Mytilus edulis: genotoxic effects and tissue-specific bioconcentration. Mutat Res 586:47-57

- Jha AN, Dogra Y, Turner A, Millsward GL (2006) Are loss doses of tritium genotoxic to Mythus charas? Mat-Environ Res 62:297–300
- Kadam SB, Shyama SK, Minenda X Go (2013) 1 voluation of the in vivo genetoxic effects of gamma radiation on the peripheral blood leukocytes of head and neek conerpatients undergoing radiother (ps. Mutar Res Genetfoxicol Environ Mutagen 752–42–46.
- Kirkland D, Aardema M, Hendetson L. Mueller 1 (2005) Evaluation of the ability of a battery of 3 in vitro genoloxicity tests to discriminate rodent care mogenes and non-careinogens. J. Sensitivity: specificate carefully relative predictivity. Mutar Res 584-1 (25).
- Knowles IF (2002) An investigation into the officers of elimic radiation on tish. In: KXO: Locharcal Reports Invitonment Agency, Bristol, 123 (53) TR.
- Jemos J, Costa P, Cunha L., Carvallas AP, Neuparth J, Genesio P, Pome L, Costa P. Crespo, P. Metello J. (2014) Assessing radiobiological effects of diagnostic level doses of fonizing radiation on zebrarsh using constassive J Nucl Med 55, 1322.
- Fondale DJ, Cerrato RM, Holland R, Massa A, Holland R, Massa A, Holland R, Schaffner RA, Pan J, Caron D X (2002) Influence of suspension-feeding breaty correction the pelagic flood webs of shallow, coastal combinations (Appal) Bash (6263-279).
- Mdyapa SR, Bi C. Alican I.W. R. H. Rott, H. (1998) Detection of DNA damage by the oblightmeneourie content associaties exposure to loss close gravity in a balantic or Richard Res 149,396 (400).
- Mitchelmore CL: Chipman (K 00008) DNA strand breakage in aquatic organism condition potential value of the contensisty in environment dimonstrating. Mutat Res 30(2) 135–147.
- Osman AGM (2014) Genorissicity rests and their contributions in aquatic environmental seconds. J. Environ Proj 5:1304–1300.
- Bunkey AK, Nagpure NN, Hissedi NP (2014) Usi distribution of genoloxicity of profenotos to treshol actifish Chammanumeritus (Blockorganic die nacional-enclossay), NH JBiotechnol 13 (2013) 888 (2018)
- Pinenta VM, da Silva TM, Nepomacenos IC, Pavanin L V (2013) Instruassessment of the Paragnus River scatterin Brazilian Pantanal, by means of micromodeus assos with fish and chemical and yas. Bull Lawnon Contain Joycol 90 427, 433.
- Poom M. Cogotzi F. Frigeri, A. Corsi, F. Bonacer, S. Jacocca A. Lanemi F. Masteri, has del focardi S. Svelti, M. (2004) DNA address fix azo or pyteric moments, what address fix azo or pyteric moments, what yaih groups of a point different of as in datano, constal concernencies for history (New 90463-475).

- Praveen Kumar MK, Shyama SK, Sonaye BS, Naik RU, Kadam SB, Bipin PD, D'costa A, Chaubey RC (2014) Evaluation of 7- radiation induced DNA damage in two species of bivalves and their relative sensitivity using cornet assay. Aquat Toxicol 150:1–8.
- Praveen Kumar MK, Shyama SK, Sonaye BS, D'costa A, Chambey RC (2015) The effect of gamma radiation on the Common carp (Cyprinus carpio): in vivo genotoxicity assessment with the micronucleus and comet assay. Mutat Res 792:10–25.
- Rank 1 (2009) Intersex in Littorina fittorea and DNA damuse in Mytilus edulis as indicators of harbour pollution. Leotoxicol Environ Saf 72(4):1271–1277
- Sacchi A, Mouneyrac C, Bolognesi C, Sciutto A, Roggieri P, Eusi M, Beone GM, Capri E (2013) Biomonitoring study of an estuarine coastal ecosystem: the Sacca di Goro Jagoon, using *Ruditapes philippinarum* (Mollusca: Bivalvico, Environ Pollut 177:82–89)
- Serahun A, Lopes B, Company R, Cravo A, Gomes T, Sousa A, Bebianno MJ (2011) A multi-biomarker approach in cross-transplanted mussels *Mytilus gallo*previdentifs Leotoxicology 20(8):1959–1974
- Shyama, SK., Rahiman, MA, Vijayalaxini, KK. (1991) Genotoxic effect of Anoviar 21, an oral contraceptive, on mouse bone marrow. Mutat Res 260:47–53.
- Takar X, Kagawa N, Fujikawa K (2004a) Dose- and timedependent responses for micronucleus induction by X rays and fast neutrons in gill cells of medaka (Orymax langes). Environ Mol Mutagen 44:108–112
- Lakar A, Kagayyi N, Eujikawa K (2004b) Susceptibility of male and temale medaka (Oryzias latipes) (ish to spontaneous and X-ray induced micronucleus formation in gill cells, Mutat Res 558:131–136
- Lice RR: Agurell F. Anderson D. Burlinson B. Hartman A. Kobayashi H. Miyamae Y. Royas E. Ryu JC. Sasaki YJ (2000) Single cell gel/comet assay: guidelines for in vitro and in vivo genetic toxicology testing. Environ Mol. Mutagen 35:206–224
- Wing XH, Hong HS, Mu JL, Lin JQ, Wang SH (2008) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) metabolites in marine fishes as a specific biomarker to indicate PAH pollution in the marine coastal environment. IT nyiron Sei Health X fox Hazard Subst Environ fing 13(3):219–226
- Winter MJ, Day N, Hayes RA, Taylor EW, Butler PJ, Chipman JK (2004) DNA strand breaks and adducts determined in teral and caged chub (Leuciscus cephalus) exposed to rivers exhibiting variable water quality around Birmingham, UK, Mutat Res 552(1-2):163–175